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1 . 	 R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  F O R  D I S C L O S U R E

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) was prepared 
based on information available to Viterra Inc. (referred to herein as 
“Viterra” or the “Company”) as of January 19, 2011. 

This MD&A includes key financial information of the Company for 
the 12 months ended October 31, 2010, compared to the 12 months 
ended October 31, 2009. Included in this information are results from 
ABB Grain Ltd. (referred to herein as “ABB”, “Viterra Australia” or 
“Viterra”) for the entire fiscal year from November 1, 2009 to October 
31, 2010. Viterra’s 2009 results contain contributions from September 
24, 2009 to October 31, 2009 for ABB.

2 . 	 C O M PA N Y  O V E R V I E W

Viterra is a vertically integrated global agri-business headquartered 
in Canada. The Company was founded in 1924 and has extensive 
operations across Western Canada and Australia, with facilities in 
the United States (“U.S.”) and New Zealand. Viterra has offices in 
Canada, the U.S., Australia, New Zealand, Japan, Singapore, China, 
Switzerland, Italy, Ukraine, Germany, and India.

As a major participant in the value-added agri-food supply chain, 
the Company operates in three interrelated segments, including 
Grain Handling and Marketing, Agri-products, and Processing. The 
consolidation of these segments, beginning in the first quarter of 2010, 
better aligns Viterra’s external reporting with its internal operating 
structure. Geographically, Viterra’s operations are diversified across 
Canada (primarily in Western Canada), Australia, New Zealand 
and throughout the U.S. Viterra wholly owns pasta production, 
malt production, oat milling, canola processing and livestock feed 
manufacturing operations. Viterra’s North American operations also 
participate in malt production through a 42% ownership interest in 
Prairie Malt Limited (“Prairie Malt”) and in fertilizer manufacturing 
through its 34% ownership in Canadian Fertilizers Limited (“CFL”).

Viterra is also involved in other commodity-related businesses 
through strategic alliances and supply agreements with domestic 
and international grain traders and food processing companies. The 
Company markets commodities directly to customers in more than  
50 countries around the world. 

On May 5, 2010, Viterra completed the acquisition of Dakota Growers 
Pasta Company, Inc. (“Dakota Growers”), a U.S.-based durum miller 
and leading producer and marketer of dry pasta products in North 
America. Dakota Growers’ financial contributions are included in 
Viterra’s results as of May 5, 2010. 

On August 17, 2010, Viterra completed the acquisition of 21C Holdings, 
L.P. (“21st Century”) a premier U.S.-based processor of oats, wheat 
and custom-coated grains. The Company operates two plants in 
the Central U.S., an oat mill in South Sioux City, Nebraska and a 
facility that mills wheat near Amarillo, Texas. The acquisition added 

approximately 158,000 tonnes of annual oat milling capacity to 
Viterra’s oat milling operations. 

Viterra’s shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under 
the symbol “VT”. Viterra’s CHESS Depositary Interests (“CDIs”), 
issued in connection with the acquisition of ABB (see Section 10 of 
this MD&A and Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), 
began trading on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) under 
the symbol “VTA” on September 14, 2009. 

3 . 	 B U S I N E S S  M O D E L

Viterra’s business model is designed to optimize the Company’s 
position in the agri-food value chain by connecting producers and 
their commodities with destination customers around the world, 
generating revenue at each stage of grain handling, processing  
and marketing. 

3.1	 North American Business Model

In North America, Viterra’s relationship with producers is extremely 
important given that they are both Viterra’s customers and suppliers 
of products. The Company provides farmers with agronomic and 
planning advice, financial products, and other services at the 
beginning of the crop cycle and delivers customized agricultural 
solutions and products aimed to ensure high-quality, high-
yielding crops are available to meet demands in the international 
marketplace. 

In North America, Viterra sells a wide variety of agri-products such as 
proprietary and public seed varieties, fertilizer, private label and third-
party crop protection products and small agricultural equipment. The 
Company bundles its products with production contracts, trucking 
premiums, financing options and targeted marketing programs to 
attract commodities into its high throughput grain handling network 
in Canada. Viterra cleans, dries and blends grains, oilseeds and 
specialty crops before they are sold to the domestic or export market. 
Viterra markets the grain directly to destination customers through 
its commodity merchandisers, international trading offices or through 
the Canadian Wheat Board (“CWB” or “Board”). The products are 
shipped from the Prairies either by truck or by rail to various markets 
domestically or through port positions to export destinations. 

The Company manages the transportation and logistics requirements 
to the destination and is responsible for maintaining the integrity of 
the product while en route and in storage. For product that originates 
from Canada and is destined for the international marketplace, the 
product primarily moves through one of Viterra’s export terminal 
facilities or through container facilities. Before being loaded onto bulk 
vessels, the product is graded by the Canadian Grain Commission 
(“CGC”) to ensure it meets the quality specifications demanded by the 
international marketplace. 

md&a
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Viterra’s Processing operations provide a variety of quality 
ingredients for human and livestock consumptions. The Company’s 
food ingredients can be found in food products around the world, 
whether they are in breakfast cereals or snack bars, including 
ingredients from Viterra’s oat mills, canola oil that is processed 
through its canola crushing facility, in malt products derived from 
its investment in Prairie Malt or pasta products derived from its 
operations in the northern U.S. Viterra products are also traded 
through strategic alliances and supply agreements with other food 
processing and consumer products companies internationally. 
Viterra develops relationships globally to secure demand for Prairie 
agricultural products, completing the value chain to the consumer. 

Viterra is involved in value-added feed processing through its feed 
manufacturing plants in Western Canada, Texas, Oklahoma and 
New Mexico. Viterra provides a full line of feed and nutritional feed 
formulations, advisory services, financing and other related services 
to beef and dairy cattle, swine, poultry and other livestock producers. 

3.2	 Australian Business Model

Viterra’s Australian and New Zealand operations primarily consist 
of grain handling and marketing services, agri-products, food 
processing, and feed products. Viterra’s business model in South 
Australia is anchored by a comprehensive storage and handling 
system that includes up-country elevator capacity and significant 
investments in export capabilities. The primary focus is on grain 
accumulation, shipping and the marketing of growers’ commodities 
to destination customers both domestically and internationally. 

The Company’s Grain Handling and Marketing segment warehouses 
grain and oilseeds from South Australia in silos, bunkers, and grain 
sheds. Viterra also owns and operates all of South Australia’s bulk 
grain export terminals. The majority of the South Australia crop moves 
through Viterra’s infrastructure to reach destination markets. Growers 
deliver their commodities via truck either to up-country storage 
or directly to port facilities. The commodities are then purchased 
by grain marketers, including Viterra. Marketers utilize Viterra’s 
South Australia infrastructure to store and handle their purchased 
commodities prior to movement to select destinations. 

Viterra is the largest maltster in Australia, operating 63% of Australia’s 
malt production capacity and representing approximately 68% of the 
country’s malt exports. It competes with domestic and international 
malt producers to supply brewers’ growing malt demand, particularly 
from the Asia-Pacific region. Barley is the second largest crop  
grown in Australia, with average production of over 7.0 million  
tonnes annually.

Viterra operates a wool accumulation and sales business as part 
of its Agri-products operation in Australia. Viterra also provides 
growers with a variety of products, including fertilizer, seed, and crop 
protection products through a small agri-products retail network. 

Viterra is well positioned to provide feed products to the growing 
New Zealand market, leveraging Viterra’s global sourcing capabilities. 
Viterra is a key importer and distributor of grains and meals into New 
Zealand through the Company’s storage, maize processing and feed 
milling operations. 

3.3	 Agri-products

Viterra is involved in the sale of seed, crop protection and financial 
products, fertilizer, and equipment to farm customers through a 
network of retail locations. The Agri-products operation also benefits 
from a backward integration into seed research and development, 
nitrogen fertilizer manufacturing, and crop protection product 
formulation and packaging. 

3.3.1	 Agri-products – North America

Viterra operates a network of 262 agri-products retail locations 
throughout Western Canada, which are geographically distributed 
throughout the growing regions of the Prairies. The Company’s 
operations in Western Canada represent approximately a 34% share 
of the market. The Company is involved in the specialized storage 
and sales of bulk fertilizer, seed, crop protection products, financial 
products and small agricultural equipment, such as storage bins 
and grain augers. All facilities offer a variety of agronomic services, 
including seed, soil and moisture testing. Viterra’s retail locations are 
staffed by individuals with agronomic and agri-business expertise 
and are supported by a team of professional agronomists.

The Company manages a portfolio of seed varieties, including 
proprietary and exclusive product varieties, with a primary focus on 
canola. Viterra’s research and development centre at the University 
of Saskatchewan focuses on developing high-yielding seed products 
designed to thrive in Western Canada’s diverse climate. Viterra also 
has a flax breeding program based out of Vegreville, Alberta. Viterra 
contracts with Prairie growers to produce the seed and, through its 
retail network, sells proprietary seed varieties and certified seeds 

retail locations – by province

Source: Viterra Company Reports 
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that offer improved yield potential and other value-added traits.  
Viterra also sells third-party varieties provided through suppliers  
such as Bayer CropScience, Dow AgroSciences, Monsanto and 
Pioneer Hi-Bred. 

Viterra has a 34% investment in CFL, a nitrogen fertilizer 
manufacturing plant in Medicine Hat, Alberta. The Company is 
entitled to receive 34% of approximately 1.4 million tonnes of 
merchantable product, split between granular urea and anhydrous 
ammonia (“NH3”). Viterra also holds a 53% patronage interest in 
Interprovincial Co-operative Limited, a supplier and manufacturer  
of crop protection products in Canada. 

Viterra offers financial products to producers in North America, 
primarily consisting of credit programs to support their on-farm 
cash flow requirements in addition to ancillary financial and risk 
management tools. 

Through Viterra Financial™, the Company acts as an agent of a 
Canadian chartered bank. On behalf of the bank, Viterra extends 
unsecured and secured trade credit at competitive rates to the 
Company’s agri-products and feed products customers. Credit 
advanced to agri-products customers enables them to purchase the 
Company’s crop protection, fertilizer, seed and equipment products. 
The repayment terms are structured to meet the producers’ cash 
flow needs. Viterra Financial™ offers loans from the bank to feed 
products customers to purchase feeder cattle and feeder hogs, as 
well as related feed inputs, with terms that do not require payment 
until the livestock is sold. In both programs, the Company directly 
manages the customer relationship and receives a fee for performing 
front-end customer review and credit adjudication services. Viterra 
provides an indemnity to the bank for a portion of any loan losses  
(see Section 12.2). Total approved credit managed by this group is  
in excess of $1.5 billion. 

In addition to these credit programs, this segment also offers ancillary 
financial and risk management products to producers. 

Agri-products Market Environment – North America
The agri-products market in Western Canada is mature and highly 
fragmented, with over 900 locations throughout the region, operated 
by grain companies, co-operatives, fertilizer companies and 
independent retailers. Viterra’s operations represent approximately 
34% of the market (an internal estimate including wholesale sales). 
Independent retailers, who collectively comprise another 30%, are 
the single biggest competitor. Some offer a full range of products, 
including seed, fertilizer, crop protection and small agricultural 
equipment, while others specialize in specific product lines. 
Unlike the Grain Handling and Marketing segment, deregulation, 
globalization and consolidation have had little effect on the agri-
products distribution network. 

The western Canadian market is defined based on total seeded 
acreage, which has remained at approximately 60 million acres over 
the last decade. However, Agri-products usage has grown from about 
$2.9 billion in the year 2000 to about $4.6 billion in 2009 (excluding 
equipment sales). In 2010, industry gross sales are estimated to have 
declined, to about $4 billion, as a result of excessive moisture in 
Western Canada, which resulted in a significant amount of unseeded 
acres. In fiscal year 2010, industry sales were also impacted by the 
entrance of new, lower priced generic crop protection products.

The Agri-products business starts with seed. New seed and seeding 
technologies, together with less summer-fallowed acres, the 
development of new crop protection products that address long-
term plant disease issues, and shifts in crop mix from cereal grains 
to oilseeds and special crop commodities, have all influenced the 
growth in the seed market. 

The following table shows the changes in crop mix for Western 
Canada and the long-term trend of increasing canola acreage over 
the last 15 years. For the purposes of this chart, “Coarse Grains” are 
defined as barley and oats and “Other Crops” consists of flax and  
dry peas.
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There are good opportunities for differentiation in seed products. 
Access to proprietary seeds can drive higher sales and margins 
and can be the basis for product bundling strategies. Most retail 
locations that sell seed offer third-party varieties, while a few larger 
companies, like Viterra, have their own proprietary seed products. 
Apart from proprietary seed and certain proprietary rights to specific 
brands of chemical products, competition is based primarily on price, 
information, service and availability. 

Viterra has taken several initiatives to adapt to trends in the crop 
protection products industry. Lower pricing for many herbicide 
products and the emergence of several new off-patent herbicide 
products have created challenges in the agri-products environment. 
To address these challenges, the Company markets and sells its own 
private label crop protection products along with third-party products. 
With the recent devaluation of pricing for many crop protection 
products, private label products have become essential in preserving 
overall margins in the agri-products business. Viterra has 22 private 
label crop protection products, which comprise a growing share of 
its crop protection product sales. Currently, private label products 
comprise about 20% of Viterra’s sales in this category. 

In any given year, fertilizer sales in Western Canada are primarily 
comprised of several different nutrient types. Approximately 60% 
to 70% of the fertilizer nutrient requirements in the region are for 
nitrogen-based fertilizer products, which are either in a solid granular 
form known as “urea”, a liquid form known as “UAN” or a gas form 
known as anhydrous ammonia (“NH3”). About 20% to 25% of the 
region’s requirements are for phosphate based products. Sulphur and 
potash each make up about 5% of the region’s nutrient requirements. 

The industry is seasonal and highly dependent on weather 
conditions, with more than 75% of the Company’s seed, fertilizer and 
crop protection products delivered from mid-April to the end of June 
(although 80% of seed orders are typically placed prior to January 1). 
This means that capacity is fully utilized during this period and under-
utilized for the remainder of the year. 

This short-term, high-volume delivery period requires superior 
logistics management to ensure products are in the hands of 
customers when needed. Timely deliveries by manufacturers and 
central warehousing facilities are essential to meet customer 
demands. Spring season logistical challenges can be eased by a 
strong fall season, which typically runs from August to November, 
depending on weather and harvest conditions. In those years, the 
fall season can represent about 15% of annual agri-products sales 
volumes in North America, the majority of which are typically  
fertilizer sales. 

In the case of the financial products operations, credit demand is 
determined by the purchasing needs of producers, increases in the 
prices of crop inputs, economics in the livestock industry, and the 
availability and pricing of other sources of credit. 

The demand for financial services has increased dramatically in the 
last 10 years. Rising crop input prices, the growing number of larger, 
more complex farming operations, and the reduction of traditional 
lenders willing to support 100% of farm operating expenses have led 
to a shift in how agri-businesses are financed. Many smaller crop 
input retailers are not able to adequately finance the credit needs of 
their customers and, therefore, do not have similar programs in place. 
While traditional trade credit is offered by many larger suppliers, 
Viterra Financial™ is able to offer a broad range of financing options 
to better align with customers’ cash flow requirements. For example, 
Viterra offers extended terms that allow farmers to repay their credit 
lines after harvest, enabling customers to take advantage of future 
grain delivery opportunities.

Key Agri-products Profit Drivers – North America
This segment is largely driven by weather, crop mix and fertilizer 
pricing and demand. Demand for crop inputs is strongly correlated to 
the acres seeded in the crop production year and to grain pricing. As 
noted previously, seeded acreage in Western Canada has averaged 
about 60 million acres per year, but can be impacted by weather. For 
example, in 2010, excessive moisture in Western Canada reduced 
seeded acreage by approximately eight million acres. An additional 
two million acres were subsequently drowned out. Viterra estimates 
that this weather event reduced industry sales in Western Canada by 
10% to 15%. 

Crop mix can influence both the level of sales and margins. For 
example, canola and other special crops require more inputs than 
wheat and barley, resulting in greater seed, fertilizer and crop 
protection product sales in years when the seeded acres are more 
heavily weighted to those crops. Crop mix can vary depending on 
commodity price outlooks, input costs, crop rotation requirements 
and weather conditions. The latter may delay spring seeding and 
influence the farmer to shift to products with earlier germination and 
shorter maturation characteristics. Margins may also be affected by 
crop mix, since some seed varieties have a better margin contribution 
than others. 
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As mentioned earlier, Viterra is involved in fertilizer manufacturing 
through its interest in CFL. The largest cost component in nitrogen-
based fertilizer manufacturing is natural gas, which makes up 
approximately 60% to 75% of the cost of producing urea. To limit 
the exposure to natural gas costs, the Company uses financial 
instruments.

Fertilizer production typically occurs throughout the year, while 
shipments are substantially executed during the compressed spring 
period, followed by a fall post-harvest application if weather permits.

The price of fertilizer and the farmer’s view on future commodity 
prices can influence both the level and timing of fertilizer sales. 
Farmers trying to capitalize on higher grain prices in the short term 
will try to increase grain production by using better seed genetics 
and more fertilizer to maximize plant yield potential. Thus, when grain 
prices move higher, demand for fertilizer usually follows. 

Western Canadian nitrogen fertilizer wholesale prices are generally 
predicated upon the New Orleans, Louisiana (“NOLA”) price plus 
freight to Western Canada, adjusted for foreign exchange. During 
periods of increasing fertilizer prices, Viterra may experience 
margin appreciation between the time of production and the time 
of sale, or margin compression in a period of declining fertilizer 
prices. Producers’ buying behaviour, in terms of both consumption 
and timing, will also change depending on input costs, underlying 
commodity prices and their views on the market outlook. 

The following table illustrates the trend in estimated wholesale 
fertilizer prices for the two main products sold through Viterra’s 
North American retail system over the last decade:

The most significant driver in this business is weather, which 
influences the timing and quantity of sales. Farmers regularly 
purchase crop inputs in the spring and fall periods. Extremely wet 
or dry conditions can alter the timing and type of input purchases, 
depending on the level of plant disease and insect infestations, in the 
case of crop protection products, or the amount of soil moisture for 
seed and fertilizer application. However, favourable weather patterns 
can also enhance seed, fertilizer, and crop protection product sales 
as producers strive to optimize crop yields. 

The following table illustrates management’s estimate of EBITDA (see 
Non-GAAP (Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles) 
Measures in Section 18) sensitivity for a given change in the 
profitability drivers for the North American agri-products business, 
assuming that all other relevant factors remain constant: 

	 Change	 EBITDA* (millions)
Retail Sales Revenue		  1.0%	 $	 2.0 - 	$	 4.0
Gross Margin		  1.0%	 $	14.0 - 	$	18.0
Natural Gas Cost (CAD/Gigajoule)	 $	 1.00 	 $	12.0 - 	$	14.0 

*See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18. 

It is important to note, with regard to natural gas costs, that selling 
prices for urea (granular nitrogen fertilizer) are impacted by the NOLA 
port pricing, foreign exchange between the Canadian dollar (“CAD”) 
and the U.S. dollar (“USD”), imports, and many other variable factors. 
As a result, one needs to look at a number of factors to predict 
margins on this product.

For crop protection products, key profit drivers include weather, 
the prevalence of unwanted plant growth, insect populations, and 
fungi growth. Generally, wet weather leads to more weeds and 
fungi throughout the region and, therefore, higher product sales. 
Conversely, dry conditions will have less fungus and weed problems, 
but can lead to a greater prevalence of locusts in the region. As well, 
a short or delayed harvest season will lead to increased usage of 
herbicides to encourage maturation.

Key performance drivers in the financial products operations relate 
to the level, duration and quality of credit in a given year. These can 
be influenced by crop input and feed prices, credit quality, producer 
cash flows and interest rates.

The size of the lending portfolio is determined by the value of the 
underlying crop inputs or feed purchases that comprise the portfolio. 
This, in turn, influences the level of interest income on the portfolio 
and the resulting fees earned by the Company. 

The timing and duration of the credit programs are impacted by the 
credit quality within the portfolio. Since the portfolio is reviewed and 
renewed on an annual basis, short-term fluctuations in farm income 
or producer cash flow do not typically result in any change in credit 
quality. Viterra maintains an extensive database to track credit history 
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and performance as part of its annual credit adjudication process. 
Since the Company indemnifies the bank for a portion of its credit 
losses (see discussion in Section 12.2), credit quality can have an 
impact on the earnings in the segment.

Prevailing interest rates are also a key component to profitability in 
this segment. Changing interest rates can affect margins as Viterra 
Financial™ typically offers programs with extended payment terms. 
While programs are in place to minimize the effects that increased 
funding costs might have on the portfolio, unexpected rate changes 
can still affect profitability. 

3.3.2	 Agri-products – Australia

In Australia, Viterra operates 12 retail locations across South 
Australia, through which it sells seed, fertilizer and crop protection 
products. The Company also has five fertilizer warehouses in the 
region and has approximately a 5% share of the East Coast Australian 
retail and wholesale fertilizer business.

The Company manages a portfolio of 18 field crop seed varieties, 
with the majority being barley and wheat varieties. The Company 
has expanded its canola breeding effort in Australia, building off a 
long-term relationship with the Australian government’s Department 
of Planning and Infrastructure (“DPI”) and Ag Victoria in Horsham, 
Victoria, and is focused on developing both Brassica Napus and 
Brassica Juncea hybrids for the Australian market. In cereals, 
Viterra participates in research and development through an equity 
ownership in the University of Adelaide Barley Breeding Program, 
which allows Viterra the first right of refusal over new barley 
varieties. The Company also has an agreement with the South 
Australian Research and Development Institute (“SARDI”) for the 
commercialization rights to the National Oat Breeding Program for 
milling oat varieties.

Viterra’s wool operation is currently the primary contributor to segment 
sales and earnings. The Company is the largest wool exporter in the 
country. Viterra’s wool operation is an important link in its relationship 
with growers in South Australia, West Australia and Victoria.

Agri-products Market Environment – Australia
Seeded acreage is the principal driver of crop inputs in Australia. 
The average area sown to field crops in Australia over the past 10 
years is approximately 54 million acres, with the breakdown by region 
illustrated in the accompanying graph. The primary crops grown in 
the region include wheat, barley, sorghum, canola, oats and lupins.

In 2009, the Australian fertilizer market, excluding Western Australia, 
consisted of approximately 2.7 million tonnes of sales annually. The 
total Australian crop protection products market was estimated to be 
worth approximately Australian dollar (“AUD”) $1.7 billion in 2009. 

According to the International Wool Textile Organisation 
(“IWTO”), Australia is the largest global producer and exporter 
of wool, accounting for nearly one-quarter of global production. 
Approximately 98% of Australia’s wool is exported, with China being 
the dominant destination, taking 67% of Australia’s wool exports. 
Viterra’s wool business has two components: domestic and export. 
Domestically, Viterra moves wool from the farm to sell at auction. For 
about 60% of the domestic volume, Viterra acts as a broker for the 
wool grower. For about 40% of the business, the Company acts as 
the principal buyer, either selling into auction or supplying to end-use 
customers or exporters. Internationally, wool is sold to destination 
customers in countries such as China, India and Italy.

Key Profit Drivers for Agri-products – Australia
Weather is a key profit driver for agri-products in Australia, as it is in 
all grain growing regions. Fertilizer pricing and demand are the other 
key factors in profitability. Fertilizer pricing is driven by global fertilizer 
supply and demand fundamentals. Approximately 60% of Viterra’s 
Australian fertilizer sales are phosphate and 40% are nitrogen-based.

Local demand is primarily dependent upon adequate moisture and 
soil nutrient levels, the growers’ views on future commodity prices 
and weather. Viterra must accurately assess grower demand and 
manage required inventory positions to guard against the impact  
of volatile fertilizer prices. 

3.4	 Grain Handling and Marketing

The Grain Handling and Marketing operations accumulate, store, 
transport and market grains, oilseeds and special crops. This 
business includes grain storage facilities, and processing plants 
strategically located in the prime agricultural growing regions of 
North America and Australia. This segment also includes wholly 
owned port export terminals located in Canada and Australia. The 
International Grain Group, through its sales offices, is now handling 
the merchandising of grains and oilseeds between origination and 
offshore destination customers. In addition, the International Grain 
Group will source commodities from locations where Viterra has  
no assets. 
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Most western-based grain companies operate as agents of the CWB, 
buying grain from producers on behalf of the CWB and delivering it 
to position at port or to a designated domestic customer. Many grain 
companies, including Viterra, are also CWB-Accredited Exporters 
and secure wheat and barley sales in the global marketplace on 
behalf of the CWB. Viterra contracts, transports and markets “open 
market” grains (such as canola, oats, flax, peas and other special 
crops) for its own account. 

Viterra has extensive access to domestic and international markets, 
developed through its marketing relationships with destination 
customers. Through its primary sales offices across Western 
Canada and its International Grain Group, with offices in Vancouver, 
Singapore, New Delhi, Naples, Geneva, Tokyo, Kiev, Hamburg, 
Shanghai and Beijing, the Company markets its grains, oilseeds and 
special crops to more than 50 countries.

Grains, Oilseeds and Special Crops Market Environment – 
North America
On average, Western Canada produces about 49.0 million tonnes of 
grains, oilseeds and special crops (based on the 10-year average 
of the six major grains, oilseeds and special crops, excluding the 
unusual 2002 drought). The six major grains, oilseeds and special 
crops include wheat, barley, canola, oats, peas and flax. Typically, 
about 60% to 65% of the total grains and oilseeds (approximately 30 to 
32.0 million tonnes) are shipped over the subsequent 12-month period 
through the primary elevator system by grain handling companies 
such as Viterra. The remaining grain production is consumed by 
domestic end users or held on-farm for future marketing. Viterra has 
about 35% of the industry’s primary storage capacity and the largest 

3.4.1	 Grain Handling and Marketing – North America

In its Grain Handling and Marketing segment in North America, 
Viterra contracts, markets and transports grain from the farm to 
end-use markets through the Company’s 83 licensed primary grain 
elevator locations and through its port terminals in Vancouver, British 
Columbia, Thunder Bay, Ontario and a 54.2% interest in a terminal in 
Prince Rupert, British Columbia. Viterra has about 43% to 45% of the 
grain handling market share based on receipts (producers’ deliveries 
into the system). Grain handling begins with the movement of the 
commodity from the farm to Viterra’s geographically dispersed and 
strategically located country elevator network, where the product 
is quality tested, dried, weighed, graded, cleaned and prepared for 
shipment. Viterra earns a margin for these services. Grain is then 
shipped from the country elevator to North American domestic 
end users (such as a flour mill, oilseed crusher, maltster, feed grain 
consumer, or biofuel plant) or to a port terminal, usually for shipment 
to an offshore destination customer. Margins are earned from tariffs 
and services charged at the primary elevator, rail incentives, port 
terminal charges and merchandising.

Volumes, quality and export demand are key drivers in this business. 
Viterra markets open market grains and oilseeds directly to 
destination customers and buys and sells wheat and barley as an 
Agent and Accredited Exporter of the CWB. The grains regulated by 
the CWB are known as “Board grains” or “CWB grains”.

The CWB has a monopoly over the domestic sale of western 
Canadian wheat and durum used for human consumption and 
barley used for malting purposes. The CWB is also the sole export 
marketing agency for all western Canadian wheat, durum and barley. 
Under this monopoly, the CWB controls the sales price as well as 
the flow and timing of wheat and barley deliveries into the elevator 
system by issuing contract calls to the producers. The flow of CWB 
shipments to port terminals is also determined by the CWB through its 
management of rail logistics. 
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proportion of the market relative to the production in each of the 
Prairie provinces and assists in reducing revenue risk from localized 
production variances. The ability to source grains and oilseeds in 
the western Canadian market, as a result of this highly efficient 
infrastructure, is a competitive advantage. 

In 2010, Viterra continued to invest in its country assets as it looked 
to improve operational efficiencies, upgrading multi-car loading 
capabilities at two locations as well as improving processing 
efficiencies through enhanced cleaning capacity at four locations. 

The Company also completed the construction of a 30,000 tonne 
high throughput grain terminal with 104 railcar loading capacity at 
Sexsmith, Alberta. This focus on country infrastructure positions 
Viterra well, given some of its competitors are also expanding their 
country operations. Management believes that Viterra’s market share 
for the six major grains will remain strong, in the 43% to 45% range.

All major grain handling companies have the ability to elevate, store, 
clean, blend, market and transport grain. Companies compete on 
the basis of price and service, which, in turn, can be influenced by 
the Company’s level of efficiency. With an efficient elevator network, 
multi-car rail loading capacity and logistics expertise, Viterra has the 
ability to maximize throughput in the system and keep costs per tonne 
low (see discussion of Core Capabilities in Section 5). 

The ability to attract market share is a significant factor in profitability. 
Market share must be appropriately balanced with the level of 
margins achieved. Viterra’s competitive strength, therefore, comes 
from deploying its core capabilities so that it can enhance market 
share by offering competitive value to farmers, while preserving 
and enhancing its own margin capabilities (see discussion of Core 
Capabilities in Section 5). 

Export volumes are also important to profitability, as increased 
activity at Viterra’s port terminals and export-accredited inland 
terminals generate additional revenue from services such as 
elevation, cleaning, drying and blending. As a fee-for-service or tolling 
business, maximum margins are earned on those commodities that 

market share, representing about 43% to 45% of the market, based on 
receipts (producers’ deliveries into the system). 

Traditionally, wheat was the dominant crop in Western Canada but, in 
more recent years, the crop mix has seen a significant shift in favour 
of oilseeds and special crops. This has been driven by a number of 
contributing factors. Producers are diversifying to higher value crops 
to reduce price risk and enhance overall returns. Heightened demand 
for oilseeds and pulses, together with better seed varieties, have 
provided farmers with new cropping options and access to more 
markets and to better pricing associated with those commodities. 
Approximately 50% of the Company’s total shipments are Board 
grains (based on a five-year average). 

Key Profit Drivers for Grain Handling and Marketing – North America
The key drivers in Viterra’s North American grain handling business 
are volumes and margins. Volume is important because of the high 
fixed-cost nature of the business. The more grain that flows through 
Viterra’s grain handling and marketing infrastructure, the lower the 
cost per tonne is. The volume of grain shipments each year correlates 
with crop production volumes in the previous growing season, 
adjusted for changes in on-farm inventories. Accordingly, volume is 
a key driver of profitability, given the fee-for-service business model. 
These fees (or tariffs) are typically adjusted annually and are fairly 
predictable once export targets and destination customer demands 
have been determined. 

Factors that may influence the timing and amount of shipments in a 
given year include producers’ expectations of commodity prices in 
the near and longer term, the timing and quality of the crop harvested, 
export demand, foreign exchange rates, rail transport capabilities, the 
financial needs of farmers, and direct sales by farmers to domestic 
end users. 

Viterra measures market share based on its share of overall 
producer deliveries of the six major grains into its Canadian primary 
elevator system. The Company’s extensive and geographically 
dispersed network of assets positions Viterra to capture a significant 
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country elevator receival network, where the product is weighed, 
graded, and prepared for shipment. Grain is then shipped, via truck or 
rail, from the country elevator to domestic customers (such as a flour 
mill, maltster, or feed facility) or to a port terminal. Viterra has a long-
term agreement for bulk grain railcar supply to support the movement 
of grain through its South Australian infrastructure and has the 
ability to source additional capacity should it be required. Unlike 
the Canadian system, there is very little on-farm storage in South 
Australia. Growers in this region use Viterra’s storage and handling 
system and pay warehousing fees, until such time as they choose 
to sell their grain into the market. Various marketers bid on growers’ 
grain through the year. As noted earlier, Viterra has 10.2 million 
tonnes of storage in South Australia, while production in the region 
has averaged 5.2 million tonnes over the past five years. Therefore, 
inventory turns are low, typically less than one turn per year. The past 
two crops in South Australia have benefited from excellent growing 
conditions. In fact, it is expected that this year’s crop (which should 
be harvested by the end of January 2011) will be in the 9.0 to 10.0 
million tonne range. 

Grains and Oilseeds Market Environment – Australia
Total average principal crop production for Australia over the last five 
years has been 32.0 million tonnes. However for the 2010-2011 crop 
year, ABARES’ December 2010 Australian Crop Report is forecasting 
total Australian crop production of 44.2 million tonnes. Historically, 
over 80% of Australia’s crop production has been made up of wheat 
and barley. 

The Australian wheat market was liberalized as of July 1, 2008 with 
the abolition of the single desk monopoly on bulk wheat exports 
previously held by AWB International Ltd. Under the Wheat Export 
Marketing Act, 2008 (Commonwealth), exporters who want to export 
bulk wheat from Australia must be accredited by Wheat Exports 
Australia (“WEA”) under the Wheat Export Accreditation Scheme.

If an exporter, or an associated entity of an exporter, is the provider 
of one or more port terminal services, WEA must be satisfied that 
they pass the access test in order for the exporter to be eligible for 
accreditation.

As part of the access test, Viterra, along with other port terminal 
service providers, are required to have in place an access 
undertaking approved by the Australia Competition and Consumer 
Commission (“ACCC”) that provides fair and transparent access 
to other accredited exporters for the export of bulk wheat. Viterra 
maintains accreditation from WEA and has lodged a new undertaking 
with the ACCC for approval in 2011.

As a result of the changes to the regulatory system, grain companies 
are now able to trade Australian grain commodities both domestically 
and for export. The new deregulated environment has increased 

Viterra receives into its primary system, ships through a port terminal 
and manages directly to the destination. As such, the level of CWB 
sales, worldwide supply and demand, and the quality and price of 
grains, oilseeds and other commodities influence export levels and 
are factors that can impact profitability. 

The following table illustrates the EBITDA sensitivities for the North 
American grain handling and marketing operations:

	 Change	 EBITDA* (millions)
Production/Receipts Volumes		  1.0%	 $	 3.0 - 	$	 4.0
Market Share		  1.0%	 $	 7.0 -	$	 8.0
Gross Margin (CAD/tonne)	 $	 1.00 	 $	15.0 - 	$	16.0 

*See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.

3.4.2	 Grain Handling and Marketing – Australia

In Australia, Viterra stores, contracts, markets and transports grain 
from its storage and handling system through export port terminals to 
end-use markets through the Company’s 108 primary grain elevators, 
the majority of which are located in South Australia. Viterra is also 
the sole owner and operator of eight bulk export terminals in South 
Australia, which have a combined storage capacity of 3.0 million 
tonnes, or just under a third of Viterra’s storage and handling capacity 
in the region. Three of the facilities are situated at deep-sea ports and 
are capable of loading Panamax vessels (which can hold between 
52,000 to 75,000 metric tonnes (“MT”)). Viterra has aggregate storage 
capacity of 10.2 million metric tonnes (“MMT”), primarily spread 
throughout South Australia. This represents the vast majority of 
storage capacity in South Australia.

Viterra has a national accumulation team that sources grain 
from growing regions across Australia. The team utilizes a suite 
of grain marketing products in its sourcing activities. Viterra also 
sources grain to supply its malt processing and feed manufacturing 
operations in Australia and New Zealand, respectively.

Grain handling in Australia begins with the movement of the 
commodity from the farm to either a port terminal or to Viterra’s 
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need in order to capture this value. Viterra employs hedging, forward 
contracting and position limits to assist in protecting itself from the 
impact of adverse market moves.

As the International Grain Group continues to expand through 
the addition of new offices, new origination sources, and the 
development of new destination assets and relationships, the 
amount of information and market intelligence available to the Group 
increases, which enhances the International Grain Group’s ability 
to further optimize Viterra’s global grain pipeline and enable Viterra 
to build strategies and positions to take advantage of arbitrage 
opportunities when they arise. Managing this information flow 
will also allow Viterra to increase its direct working relationships 
with end-use customers who, in the past, may have relied on 
intermediaries for their supply. More points of demand will offer 
additional outlets in which to market quality Canadian and  
Australian grains, while additional sources of origination will provide 
Viterra’s customers a greater security and timeliness in supply over 
the long term.

Throughout the optimization process, Viterra’s grain merchandisers 
adhere to a strict set of standardized risk controls to manage and 
monitor the Company’s exposure to various risks, including, but 
not limited to, market risk, credit risk, liquidity, currency and other 
operational risks. Through the use of daily monitoring, appropriate 
position limits, counterparty credit limits and strict segregation 
of duties in trade execution, the International Grain Group is able 
to mitigate or off-lay some of the risk to which the international 
commodity traders are exposed. The close ties that the International 
Grain Group maintains with end-use customers and the Company’s 
domestic grain groups further act to mitigate or off-lay risk, by 
providing the International Grain Group insight into future market 
changes or challenges to which the Company could be exposed. 

3.5	 Processing 

Viterra’s Processing segment is an important aspect of the Company’s 
value chain. Overall, this segment extends the Company’s pipeline 
by producing food ingredients for consumer products companies 
and food processors around the world. This segment also consists 
of feed manufacturing operations that provide feed and nutritional 
supplements to the feed industries, primarily in Canada, the U.S. and 
New Zealand.

competition, with more than 26 registered companies able to 
compete as marketers for domestic and international sales.

Key Profit Drivers for Grain Handling and Marketing – Australia
In Viterra’s storage and handling business, the key profitability 
driver is volume, which is directly linked to crop production levels in 
South Australia. Given that Viterra owns the majority of the region’s 
storage, growers depend upon the Company for their warehousing 
needs. Viterra competes with other regions in Australia, including 
Western Australia, Queensland and New South Wales, in setting its 
fee structure. It must be competitive with other regions in order to 
encourage marketers to purchase grain from South Australia.

The following table illustrates the EBITDA sensitivities for the 
Australian grain handling and marketing operations:

	 Change	 EBITDA* (millions)
Production Volumes**		  1.0%	 $	 0.6 - 	$	 1.0
Market Share***		  1.0%	 $	 2.0 - 	$	 3.0
Gross Margin (CAD/tonne)	 $	 1.00 	 $	 5.0 - 	$	 6.0 

	 *	See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.

	**	Assumes corresponding change in grain receipts and shipping.

	***	Represents merchandising operations for Viterra Australia. 

3.4.3	 Grain Handling and Marketing – International Grain Group

The role of the International Grain Group is to optimize Viterra’s grain 
pipeline by managing trade flows and relationships between points 
of origination and key destination markets. The International Grain 
Group accomplishes this by developing and maintaining strong 
customer relationships in destination markets, as well as by seeking 
out international value-added processing opportunities. 

The International Grain Group also coordinates with Viterra’s North 
American and Australian grain handling and marketing operations 
to maximize market share for origination assets by relaying global 
demand information from destination markets back to origination 
markets. By marrying both supply and demand information, the 
International Grain Group develops market insights that enable the 
Company to effectively coordinate the global logistics and grain 
flows for Viterra, thereby linking customer with supplier and, in turn, 
maximizing value in the grain pipeline.

Additional value is derived by the International Grain Group by 
capitalizing on pricing relationships that exist between commodities 
and across different locations and times. By developing a shared 
global mindset, having access to both supply and demand 
information and access to Viterra’s Canadian and Australian grain 
accumulation networks, the International Grain Group can profit from 
inconsistencies that arise in these pricing relationships by directing 
Viterra’s grain flow accordingly. The International Grain Group is 
taking increasing responsibility for shipping and logistics activities, 
which are crucial in moving grain from areas of surplus to areas of 
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volumes. However, these customers are large companies which 
Viterra has been supplying for more than 10 years.

Western Canada is the largest oat production area for milling quality 
oats in the world. Viterra estimates that at least 50% of the oat 
production can be used for milling in an average year, of which its oat 
operations purchase approximately 25% annually.

Oats are encased by a low-value hull. Due to the extra cost 
associated with shipping these low-value byproducts, mill locations 
closer to raw material supplies have a competitive advantage.

In 2010, more than 90% of Viterra’s milled oats were exported to the 
U.S. Viterra’s facility in Barrhead, Alberta also has the capacity to 
process organic oats and has barley processing capacity of 3,500 to 
7,000 tonnes per year, depending on product mix.

Oat Market Environment – North America
Viterra’s oat business can be characterized as stable in an industry 
that is mature. Canada is the second largest oat producer and the 
largest oat exporter in the world, representing 65% of the world’s oat 
export trade. In 2010, total world oat production decreased to 20.1 
million tonnes, including oats for both feed and human consumption. 
Canada’s oat production has remained relatively consistent over the 
past 15 years and represents about 15% of the world’s total. Close 
to 90% of Canada’s oats are produced in Western Canada, with the 
majority, about 78%, grown in Saskatchewan and Manitoba. In 2010, 
total oat production decreased in all three Prairie provinces due to 
reduced seeded area, lower yields and poor growing conditions. 
Despite these conditions, the 2010 crop, along with 2009 carry-over 
stocks, will provide sufficient supply to meet Viterra’s oat processing 
needs in 2011.

The oat milling industry has seen steady growth in North American 
demand over the last five years. As a result, the percentage of total 
oat production that is utilized for food and industrial purposes has 
increased from 30% in 2004 to 35% in 2009.

The U.S., the fourth largest oat producer in the world, is also the 
world’s largest importer of oats, representing about 70% of the 
world’s oat trade. Most of the oats are imported from Canada, with 
the balance imported from Scandinavia. Canada exports 40% to 
45% of its oat production, primarily to the U.S. Canada exported 
approximately 1.5 million tonnes to the U.S. in the 12 months ended 
July 31, 2010, (“2010 Crop Year”), representing approximately 92% of 
that country’s total oat imports. Despite the strong demand in the U.S. 
for milling oats, production has declined over the last 15 years as U.S. 
farmers increase plantings of alternative crops like corn, soybeans 
and wheat.

3.5.1	 Processing – North America

Viterra’s food ingredients can be found in food products around the 
world, whether they are in breakfast cereals or snack bars including 
ingredients from Viterra’s oat mills, in pasta dinners, in side dishes, 
in meal solutions containing pasta from its manufacturing plants in 
the U.S., or in salad dressings, cooking sprays or bottled oils sourced 
from Viterra’s canola processor. Viterra develops relationships 
globally to secure demand for Prairie agricultural products, 
completing the value chain to the consumer.

Viterra’s North American food processing operations are comprised 
of oat and specialty grain milling facilities located in Portage la 
Prairie, Manitoba; Martensville, Saskatchewan; Barrhead, Alberta; 
South Sioux City, Nebraska and Dawn, Texas; pasta processing 
facilities in Carrington, North Dakota and New Hope, Minnesota; 
a canola processing facility in Ste. Agathe, Manitoba; and a 42% 
ownership interest in Prairie Malt, one of North America’s largest 
single-site malting plants, located at Biggar, Saskatchewan.

Viterra’s feed products business has operations throughout North 
America and New Zealand. This business extends Viterra’s pipeline 
by processing raw materials into livestock feed, ingredients and 
nutritional supplements. 

Processing – North America – Oats
Viterra is one of the world’s largest industrial oat millers and operates 
approximately 39% of the total North American oat milling capacity 
and approximately 46% of the industrial ingredient supply market. 
It processes raw oats into food ingredients and has a total milling 
capacity of 540,000 tonnes of oats per year. Viterra is the supplier of 
choice for many U.S. food manufacturers. Customers are primarily 
North American food manufacturers who are consistent brand 
leaders in breakfast cereals, whole grain and healthy food choices. 
The market for oat and specialty grain milling products is dominated 
by a small number of larger manufacturers and, as a result, Viterra is 
dependent on its top five customers for approximately 60% of its sales 

canada 2009 oat production

Source: Statistics Canada via Ag Resource Publishing
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The pasta products manufactured by Viterra’s pasta processing 
operations are sold to customers in all markets, including retail 
and institutional. In addition to the dry pasta that is produced, the 
processing operation purchases additional dry pasta shapes from 
other manufacturers and resells them. This practice is widely 
followed by many pasta manufacturers for efficiency and production 
capacity reasons, and allows for the distribution of broader product 
lines to customers. 

The pasta processing facilities in Carrington, North Dakota are 
certified by the Organic Crop Improvement Association, which allows 
it to offer 100% organic pasta and semolina to those discerning 
customers. 

Pasta products are manufactured under a comprehensive Hazard 
Analysis Critical Control Point (“HACCP”) program, which requires 
strict monitoring of all aspects of the manufacturing process, to 
ensure food quality and safety. Management believes that meeting 
HACCP standards strengthens customer confidence in the quality of 
our products. Viterra’s Processing segment undergoes food safety 
and product quality audits at various times throughout the year and 
has consistently received high scores.

In addition to its pasta products, the pasta operations market 
semolina, durum wheat flour and other flour blends to other food 
product manufacturers as market conditions allow. Lower grade 
flours and byproducts of the durum milling process are sold primarily 
for animal feed. 

The pasta market is highly competitive and includes several well-
established enterprises. Those competitors are primarily independent 
companies and, to a lesser extent, divisions or subsidiaries of other 
larger food products companies. In addition, Viterra competes 
against foreign suppliers, including Italian and Turkish enterprises, 
which sell pasta into the U.S.

Given the commodity nature of the market for semolina and durum 
flour, sales volumes are largely dependent on delivered price 
when adequate supply conditions exist. Viterra’s milling operation 
represents about 11% of the domestic durum milling capacity and 
the Company holds about 17% of the pasta processing market in the 
U.S. Most of the durum milling capacity in the U.S. is either part of 
an integrated pasta production facility or in an alliance with pasta 
manufacturers. Viterra’s management believes that the integration of 
its milling and pasta production facilities enables it to compete more 
effectively with those competitors who also have integrated facilities.

Oat milling is an attractive segment of the food ingredients market. 
Oats are a wholesome and natural whole grain, grown and 
processed with very little chemical application. Oat ingredients are 
functionally suitable for the rapidly growing “convenience food” 
product categories, another important growth driver for the food 
industry. Oat demand is particularly resistant to adverse economic 
conditions since oats are a very economical food source. 

The Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in the U.S. has approved 
a health claim for oat-based products, stating that the soluble fibre 
from oatmeal, as part of a low-saturated fat/low-cholesterol diet, 
may reduce the risk of heart disease. This official view of whole grain 
consumption has heightened consumer interest in oat-based foods. 
Many cereal and snack bar makers are now altering their product 
lines to include whole grains, a positive development for the oat 
industry over the long term.

Wheat Market Environment – North America
Viterra’s wheat flour business can be characterized as stable in an 
industry that is mature, dominated by mills located geographically 
close to large end-use markets. Its single mill, with 75,000 tonnes of 
wheat milling capacity, is located in Dawn, Texas. Viterra’s wheat 
milling operations are regional in nature, servicing bakery and tortilla 
customers in the Texas panhandle and American southwest.

Wheat milling is a strategic segment of the food ingredients market 
for Viterra to extend its value-chain pipeline. Wheat is a staple and 
a natural whole grain, grown and processed with little chemical 
application. Wheat flour is functionally important for a broad range 
of bakery applications, including the growing flatbread and tortilla 
segment. Wheat flour demand is resistant to adverse economic 
conditions because it is a very economic food source. In addition to 
extending Viterra’s value-chain to the wheat food ingredient market, 
the wheat mill generates byproducts that are further processed by 
Viterra’s feed products operations for animal nutrition.

Processing – North America – Pasta
Viterra’s pasta processing business (Dakota Growers) operates a 
vertically integrated, state-of-the-art durum wheat milling and pasta 
production facility in Carrington, North Dakota and a pasta production 
plant in New Hope, Minnesota. The plants purchase durum wheat, 
which is processed through its milling facility into semolina and 
wheat flours that are then used by Viterra to produce dry pasta 
products. The milling facility has a durum grind capacity of 340,000 
tonnes per year. The two production plants have a combined capacity 
of 254,000 tonnes of pasta per year.

Pasta production is basically a mixing, extrusion and drying process. 
The primary ingredients are semolina and water, although egg, 
tomato, spinach or other ingredients may be added to produce 
certain products. The finished dry pasta is packaged to meet different 
markets and customer requirements.
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mid-1990s, the export market for canola oil has driven the increase in 
total crush volumes. Today, Canada is the world’s largest exporter of 
canola oil while the U.S. is the world’s largest importer.

The increase in total domestic crush volumes has translated 
into an increase in the percentage of canola production crushed 
domestically compared to canola seed being exported and crushed 
at destination. Given a 90% capacity utilization rate, 56% of the 2010 
crop year canola production will be crushed domestically compared 
to 42% prior to the recent expansion.

The two dominant export markets for canola oil are the U.S. and 
China, with other Asian countries comprising most of the remaining 
demand. The increase in volumes to the U.S. is largely related to the 
burgeoning demand for oils suitable for producing low or zero trans 
fat food products. In addition to the Canadian crush industry, several 
crush plants in the U.S. access canola from Canada and the demand 
from these facilities has been increasing. 

Health concerns, specifically related to the consumption of saturated 
fats and trans fats, are expected to have a positive impact on the 
consumption of canola relative to other vegetable oil alternatives over 
the medium term. Canola oil has the lowest level of saturated fat and 
is one of the highest in omega-3 levels, resulting in canola having a 
healthier profile compared to other oils on the market today. 

Food and feed safety is a growing concern of governments globally. 
Viterra’s plant is in the process of obtaining FSSC22000 certification 
of its quality assurance programs. The Viterra plant is the only canola 
processor in North America that has obtained Non-Genetically 
Modified Organism (“GMO”) Project verification, which was obtained 
in August 2010 and which will support the development of new sales 
into the natural food market.

Canola meal production, destined for the livestock feed industry in 
Canada, has grown from just over 3.0 million metric tonnes to close 
to 4.5 million metric tonnes due to the additional crush capacity 
that has recently come on stream. Canola meal is used as a feed 
for livestock, primarily hogs, dairy cattle and poultry. About 67% of 
canola meal produced in Canada is exported and, of that, 94% goes 
to the U.S. The primary reason for such a high percentage going into 
the U.S. is the bulkiness of the product that makes shipping it over 
longer distances expensive. In the latter part of fiscal 2009, the U.S. 
FDA began testing Canadian canola meal for salmonella under its 
zero tolerance guidelines. This resulted in the loss of the U.S. market 
for many Canadian industry participants. The FDA has moved to a 
more science- and risk-based approach that targets certain types of 
bacteria and microorganism correlated to the host livestock species, 
which is viewed as- positive to the industry and expected to re-open 
the U.S. market to Canadian meal exports. Viterra is currently working 
with other participants, through industry associations, to address the 
concerns of the FDA.

Pasta Market Environment
Viterra’s pasta products are distributed on a broad basis throughout 
the U.S. The Company does not export significant quantities of pasta.

North American annual dry pasta demand is estimated to be  
roughly 1.8 million tonnes. In addition to the domestic market for dry 
pasta, much smaller domestic markets exist for refrigerated and 
frozen pasta.

Dry pasta is segregated into two basic markets: retail and 
institutional. The institutional market is comprised of ingredient and 
food service sales.

Processing – North America – Canola
Viterra operates a canola processing plant located in Ste. Agathe, 
Manitoba, which has an annual processing capacity of 340,000 
tonnes per year. Canola oil and high-energy canola meal are 
produced using a double expeller-press process as opposed to the 
North American standard wherein hexane is used to maximize oil 
yields. A merchandising opportunity for Viterra exists for canola oil 
in the natural food market since the solvent hexane is not used in the 
process. Customers have been willing to pay a premium for natural 
expeller-pressed canola oil.

Canola seed processing is an attractive segment of the food market. 
Canola oil has a distinct advantage over other vegetable oils due to its 
fat content characteristics, which are low in saturated fat and high in 
mono-unsaturated fat. 

Canola oil represents approximately 50% of the vegetable oil 
consumed in Canada, 50% of that consumed in Japan and 25% of  
that consumed in Mexico. Canola oil is still a relatively small but 
growing segment of the U.S. vegetable oil market, which bodes well 
for future growth.

Globally, large multinationals dominate the oilseed processing 
industry. The Canadian oilseed crushing industry is comprised of 
seven companies operating a total of 13 crushing plants, with current 
crush capacity of 7.4 million tonnes per year. Three new plants were 
commissioned in Canada within the past 12 months, which increased 
capacity by 45%. Several companies are currently expanding their 
operations, and Viterra expects capacity to rise to approximately 
8.6 million tonnes per year by December 2011, which equates to 
7.7 million tonnes of annual processing assuming 90% capacity 
utilization. 

Canola Market Environment
Canola is the primary oilseed crushed in Canada. From the early 1980s 
through to the most recent five-year period, production of canola has 
increased by approximately 175% and surpassed 12.0 million tonnes 
for the first time in 2008. According to Statistics Canada, Western 
Canada produced 11.9 million tonnes of canola in the 2010 crop year, 
which was diminished by wet spring seeding conditions. Since the 
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ranchers and dairy farmers in those states and other south central 
U.S. markets. Hi-Pro also owns and operates a shuttle train unloading 
facility near its mill in Dexter, New Mexico, which steams flaked corn 
for regional dairy producers. 

All of Viterra’s Canadian feed mills are federally certified or compliant 
with HACCP guidelines, the internationally recognized system of 
quality control management for food safety. Viterra’s U.S. feed milling 
assets are compliant with local state and federal operating standards 
for feed milling.

Manufactured feeds provide all, or a significant portion, of the 
nutritional requirements of the livestock being fed. Pre-mixes and 
supplements supply a base mix of vitamins and minerals, which, 
along with commodities, fulfils the needs of livestock producers who 
complete their own on-farm feed manufacturing. 

To enhance its relationships with livestock customers, Viterra also 
provides value-added services to complement its manufacture, sale 
and distribution of feed products. These include financial services, 
nutritional consulting, and ingredient forward contracting services.

As noted above (under Section 3.3 Agri-products), through Viterra 
Financial™, the Company acts as an agent for a Canadian chartered 
bank that extends credit at competitive rates to customers of 
the Company. The Viterra Financial™ – feed products program 
includes both grain and livestock customers of the Company. 
For livestock producers, the Company may provide financing to 
credit-worthy livestock operations for purchases of feeder cattle, 
feed inputs and services. Viterra Financial™ – feed products credit 
is typically secured by a personal property registration that covers 
the financed livestock and related feed products. Viterra’s feed 
products operations also provides some credit directly to livestock 
customers and takes security that may include collateral mortgages, 
personal property registrations that cover all personal property, and 
third-party guarantees. In both cases, the customers are required to 
purchase their feed product requirements from the Company. Viterra 
Financial™ operates as a partnership with a Canadian chartered 
bank where the Company administers the loans on behalf of the bank, 
which provides the financing. See Section 3.3.1 Agri-products for 
further information.

Feed Market Environment 
Canada accounts for approximately 3% of the global feed market. 
Western Canada accounts for about 22% of the country’s commercial 
feed production. The underlying fundamentals of the animal feed 
industry are directly related to the supply and demand trends in the 
livestock species that consume feed. 

Traditionally, Canada has exported about 50% of the beef and swine 
it produces, either as meat or live animals, primarily to the U.S., 
whereas dairy and poultry production is for domestic consumption 
via supply managed sectors. The economic downturn, strength of the 

Processing – North America – Malt
Viterra has a 42% ownership interest in Prairie Malt, located in the 
heart of Canada’s Prairie region where high-quality barley is grown 
within a 100-kilometre radius of the plant. Prairie Malt has an annual 
capacity of 220,000 tonnes and produces top-quality malt that is 
shipped to customers throughout Canada, the U.S., South Africa, 
Pacific Rim and Latin American countries. As part of the Company’s 
interest in Prairie Malt, a barley supply agreement is in place 
requiring Prairie Malt to take a majority of its barley requirements 
from Viterra, subject to quality, cost, and timeliness issues. Viterra’s 
partner in Prairie Malt is Cargill Limited (“Cargill”), who also is the 
majority owner and operator of the plant.

Malt Market Environment
The main raw material used in the production of malt is malting-
quality barley. In Canada, the CWB holds a monopoly on Canadian 
malt barley sales to domestic and international customers. Sales are 
made directly by the CWB or by Accredited Exporters of the CWB 
such as Viterra. Canadian maltsters purchase all of their malting 
barley from the CWB, with prices for malting barley based on North 
American and international market prices. The malting industry is 
the largest value-added exporter of cereal grains in Canada and the 
largest barley customer of the CWB. For the coming crop year, the 
malting industry is expected to purchase more than 50% of available 
CWB malting barley stocks.

Processing – North America – Feed
The core business activity in Viterra’s North American feed products 
operations segment consists of the manufacturing, sale and 
distribution of feed products and related micro, macro and commodity 
ingredients for commercial and acreage-based livestock producers. 
Specialty feed formulations and feed product manufacturing is well 
diversified between dairy cattle, beef cattle, poultry, swine and other 
specialty livestock feed varieties. The Unifeed Financial® credit 
program is now operated under the name Viterra Financial™. 

The majority of Viterra’s livestock feed products are delivered in bulk 
to farmers by truck directly from the feed mills or pre-mix facilities. 
In addition, the Company distributes bagged feed products through 
independent dealers and Company-owned retail outlets at most of 
the Company’s feed mills and pre-mix facilities.

Fiscal 2010 was a transformational year, as all the Company’s 
Canadian operations, formerly operated as Unifeed, were integrated 
under the Viterra brand. In Canada, feed manufacturing is conducted 
at six feed mills and one pre-mix manufacturing facility located in 
British Columbia, Alberta and Manitoba. 

Viterra’s wholly owned U.S. subsidiary, Unifeed Hi-Pro Inc. (“Hi-
Pro”), owns seven feed mills and commodity blending sites in Texas, 
Oklahoma, Montana and New Mexico that manufacture complete 
feeds, supplements, pre-mixes and commodity ingredients for 
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In Canada, the Company’s feed operations compete with public 
and private grain and feed companies and independent retailers, 
including the other five major firms operating in more than one 
province in Western Canada. They are: Cargill Limited (Nutrena 
Feeds), Federated Co-operatives Limited, Nutreco (Landmark Feeds), 
Masterfeeds and Ridley Canada Limited (Feed Rite). Competition is 
strong and there is ongoing consolidation of the industry through 
mergers, acquisitions and mill shutdowns.

The U.S. accounts for approximately 22% of the global feed market 
and the High Plains trading area accounts for about 6% of the 
country’s commercial feed production.

At times during fiscal 2010, beef and dairy producers in the U.S. 
were operating below their cost of production. This caused severe 
economic pressures on customers’ ability to pay and reduced the 
overall demand for manufactured feed. These economic challenges 
have resulted in farm failures and an extremely competitive 
environment given the shrinking customer base. 

Viterra’s U.S. feed milling business sells complete manufactured feed 
and vitamin and mineral pre-mixes to the beef and dairy sector. The 
U.S. feed milling operations do not produce significant quantities of 
poultry or swine feeds as most are commercial integrated operations 
that own their own feed production facilities.

For the U.S. beef sector, Viterra’s feed products business supplies 
feed supplements to ranchers, feedlot operators and cow-calf 
operators. 

The dairy market in the U.S. is demand driven. The U.S. economic 
downturn that started in 2008 and the sharp drop in U.S. milk product 
exports led to wholesale milk prices falling below the cost of 
production for much of this time period. This has led to a feed demand 
decline due to herd reductions and farm failures. The primary impact 
to Viterra resulted from customers switching from higher margin, fully 
manufactured feeds and supplements to survival rations, consisting 
of low margin commodities, byproducts and silage.

In the U.S., the Company’s feed products group competes with public 
and private grain and feed companies and independent retailers, 
which are Cargill Incorporated, ADM Feed Ingredients, J.D. Heiskell 
& Company, Land O’Lakes Incorporated and other local competitors. 
Competition is strong and there is ongoing consolidation of the 
industry through mergers, acquisitions and mill shutdowns. 

Canadian dollar, along with non-tariff trade barriers, such as Country 
of Origin Labelling (“COOL”) in the U.S., has impacted the relative 
production costs compared to the U.S. These factors have created 
margin pressures for feed manufacturers. 

At times during fiscal 2010, beef and swine producers in Canada 
were operating below their cost of production. This caused 
severe economic pressures on Viterra’s customers’ ability to pay 
and reduced the overall demand for manufactured feed. These 
economic challenges have resulted in farm failures and an extremely 
competitive environment given the shrinking customer base and 
livestock population numbers. 

For the Canadian beef sector, Viterra supplies feed supplements to 
ranchers, feedlot operators and cow-calf operators. In addition to 
the aforementioned implications of non-tariff trade barriers, such as 
COOL, industry feed demand was adversely affected by poor cattle 
markets and lower demand for beef associated with the general 
economic conditions. 

Canadian poultry producers purchase complete manufactured 
feed from commercial feed mills since few are large enough to 
economically mill their own feed rations. 

As mentioned earlier, the dairy market and poultry production in 
Canada are both supply managed. In the dairy industry, matching 
supply and demand through quotas stabilizes the dairy market and 
related feed pricing. Poultry production is tightly controlled both 
provincially and nationally under supply managed quotas. These 
markets are expected to remain stable for the foreseeable future and 
any growth will be driven by population growth. 

The Canadian feed manufacturing industry is a mature industry with 
surplus capacity of 55% in some regions of Alberta and Manitoba, 
resulting in competitive pricing and margin pressures, particularly 
associated with the slow recovery from the 2009 demand downturn. 
Many competitor feed manufacturing assets are older with some 
in need of significant maintenance capital, as a result of minimal 
investment by poorly funded players during the past two years. In 
addition, growing consumer concern over food safety has resulted 
in regulatory changes that may prove challenging for on-farm feed 
manufacturing operations and outdated commercial feed mills, 
putting additional economic pressures on marginal players. 

To put manufacturing overcapacity into context, Canada’s beef 
population was 14.9 million as of January 1, 2005 and declined to 13.0 
million as of January 1, 2010. The swine population numbers were 
15.1 million as of January 1, 2006 and declined to 11.6 million as of 
January 1, 2010. This represents population decreases of 13% and 
23%, respectively, with the majority of the beef reduction in Alberta 
and the swine reductions in Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario. 



 Viterra 2010 Annual Report  19

md&a

•	 the degree of industry capacity utilization, 

•	 comparative product distribution costs, 

•	 ability to render distinctive service to customers, 

•	 the price of raw materials, primarily durum wheat, and 

•	 �a distinguishing or unique ability to provide consistent product 
quality in line with customer specifications. 

Viterra believes that, in a broad sense, the most influential factor on 
the intensity of competitive conditions is industry capacity utilization. 
Detailed information regarding pasta production is somewhat difficult 
to obtain, as many pasta producers are closely held enterprises.

Primary market drivers in the malt barley industry include the 
quantity and quality of the malt barley crop, global pricing and 
destination demand. Malt margins are also significantly impacted 
by key manufacturing inputs, including natural gas, labour and 
the processing yield achieved from malt barley. As well, in Prairie 
Malt’s business, reliable quality is a key factor in maintaining sales 
relationships with international customers. Only high-quality malt 
barley is selected for the malting process, so crop quality can affect 
supply and increase production costs. Due to the wet weather 
conditions which delayed harvest, malt barley selections are 
significantly below normal and selectable barley supplies are lower 
than in recent years.

The key performance drivers in feed manufacturing are the 
volume of feed tonnes sold and the product mix of higher valued 
ingredients versus lower margin commodities. In Canada, margins 
have been relatively stable, exhibiting relatively little seasonal 
variability, throughout the year. The U.S. market has traditionally 
undergone more seasonal variability, with lower margins earned 
in the spring and summer when beef cattle are moved from 
pastures to commercial feedlots, where, in many cases, onsite feed 
manufacturing takes place. 

Within a given fiscal year, total feed and ingredient volumes for 
Viterra are expected to average about 2.0 million tonnes, of which 
about 0.9 million tonnes will be manufactured and sold in Western 
Canada. This tonnage is influenced by the demand for feed, which 
is driven by a number of economic factors, including the demand for 
protein in North America and around the world. 

Regionally, demand for livestock feed products can be influenced 
by a number of local factors such as dairy and poultry quotas, the 
availability and cost of feed grains, along with other ingredients, and 
the local farm ranching infrastructure.

Key Profit Drivers for Processing – North America
In Viterra’s oat milling business, margins are impacted by yield, 
foreign exchange, oat pricing and product mix. Since a low-value hull 
encases raw oats, it takes more than 1 tonne of raw oats to produce 
1 tonne of oat ingredients. Depending on the quality of raw oats in 
a particular year, this yield equation can vary. Deterioration in yield 
can add to the cost of production and, as such, has an impact on the 
margins and profitability in this business. Raw oat quality, in turn, is 
influenced by oat varieties, soil conditions, and farm practices. The 
following table demonstrates the estimated EBITDA sensitivity of raw 
oat yields in this business, assuming that all other relevant factors 
remain constant:

	 Change	 EBITDA* (millions)
Raw oat yield		  1.0%		  $	1.0 

*See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18. 

Oats, as an international commodity, are priced in USD. Prices 
are driven mainly by the world feed grain market and can be quite 
volatile. Prices of finished goods move up and down on a contract-to-
contract basis, with the price of oats and the milling margin typically 
negotiated as a separate component. 

In the canola processing business, the relationship between canola 
seed futures (cost side) and the soy oil and soy meal futures (revenue 
side) is termed the crush margin. The loss of seeded canola acres 
in Western Canada in 2010 coupled with a large soybean crop in the 
U.S. and South America resulted in historically low crush margins for 
Viterra’s canola processing plant. The added Canadian processing 
capacity also had a negative effect on selling price basis levels. 

The following table illustrates management’s estimate of the EBITDA 
sensitivity for a given change in the profitability drivers for the North 
American canola crush business, assuming that all other relevant 
factors remain constant:

	 Change	 EBITDA* (millions)
Canola Crush – Oil Yield		  1.0%		  $	2.6
*See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.

Viterra believes that by transitioning into the value-added natural 
food market and away from the commodity canola oil market that 
is dominated by the hexane extraction processors it will be able to 
improve the performance of this business. 

Viterra’s pasta processing operation has generally been successful 
in passing along raw material costs through to the customer. The 
markets for pasta and semolina/durum wheat flour are highly 
competitive in most markets and geographic regions. The intensity 
of competition varies from time to time as a result of a number of 
factors, including: 
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Processing – New Zealand – Feed
Viterra is now a major player in the New Zealand feed market with a 
presence across the supply chain, from marketing and accumulation 
to storage, freight, milling, and the sale of end-use products. It is a 
key importer and distributor of grains and meals to the New Zealand 
market. The Company operates three storage facilities in close 
proximity to the prime dairy regions. It is involved in maize processing 
and also operates a feed manufacturing and distribution business 
with four feed mills representing sales of approximately 330,000 
tonnes annually. During fiscal 2010, Viterra commissioned its state-of-
the-art 180,000 tonne capacity feed mill in South Auckland. 

Feed Market Environment – New Zealand
In New Zealand, the dairy industry is one of the country’s largest 
industries and is the country’s number one exporter. Exports of dairy 
products account for 21.6% of total merchandised exports and are 
valued at $9.3 billion New Zealand Dollars (“NZD”). 

New Zealand’s meal and grain imports have increased by 21% per 
annum since 1999, driven by new meal requirements primarily in the 
dairy and poultry industries. Viterra has positioned itself to become 
a market leader in ruminant feed sales in New Zealand through the 
recent purchases of feed milling and processing companies. Viterra 
launched a new dairy business in June 2010 focused on highly 
nutritious products and an advisory sales team.

Key Profit Drivers for Processing – Australia – Malt
Primary market drivers in the Australian malt barley industry include 
the quantity and quality of the malt barley crop, global pricing and 
destination demand. Through its combined merchandising expertise, 
Viterra malt operations are typically able to source sufficient 
quantities of malt barley to meet its needs. 

The global financial crisis had an impact on the malt business 
in 2009, primarily related to the timing of contract deliveries. The 
Company has developed long-standing relationships with destination 
customers that will continue to serve it well into the future. While 
contract flexibility over the past year was required and resulted in 
a softening of malt margins, management believes that average 
margins will be consistent with previous years, albeit at the lower 
end of the previously attained range. The Company expects margins 
to migrate toward more traditional levels, at the higher end of the 
range, as financial conditions improve and malt demand increases 
globally. Management has commenced construction of a new 110,000 
tonne malt processing plant in New South Wales, which will position 
Viterra’s Australian malt business to meet expected Asian demand 
growth.

The following table demonstrates, for the North American feed 
operations, the sensitivity of EBITDA to certain stated key business 
drivers, assuming other variables remain constant. The impact of a 
given change can vary based on commodity prices.

	 Change	 EBITDA* (millions)
Sales Volumes		  1.0%		  $	0.25
Gross Margin (CAD/tonne)	  $	1.00 		  $	2.0 

*See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.

3.5.2	 Processing – Australia

Through the acquisition of ABB, Viterra is now Australia’s largest malt 
processor, operating an annual malt production capacity of 500,000 
tonnes at eight facilities located throughout Australia.

As well, through the acquisition of ABB, Viterra also became a 
significant player in the New Zealand feed products business, with  
a total of four feed mills and an annual production capacity of  
330,000 tonnes. 

Processing – Australia – Malt
Viterra is Australia’s largest malt processor, operating eight 
processing plants strategically positioned across Australia, with 
the largest capacity volume in those states with the greatest barley 
supply. Viterra’s Australian malt operation has an annual production 
capacity of up to 500,000 tonnes, of which 400,000 tonnes are destined 
for export markets and 100,000 tonnes are consumed domestically. 
Viterra supplies malt to major domestic and international brewers. 
Viterra’s malt operations require approximately 600,000 tonnes of malt 
barley per year, representing 25% of the Australian malt barley crop. 

Viterra is a leading malt supplier for key global markets, 
predominantly the Asia-Pacific region.

Viterra has an investment in the University of Adelaide’s Barley 
Breeding Program. The Company sponsors various grower and 
agronomic-driven projects. The Company’s primary focus is on 
market optimization and malt quality for brewing performance. 
As well, Viterra’s malting operation has been actively involved 
in research and development in the areas of microbial safety, 
biochemistry and protein modification.

Malt Market Environment – Australia
Viterra owns 63% of Australia’s malt production capacity and 
exports 68% of Australia’s malt. It is well positioned to supply Asian 
malt demand, which, together with other emerging economies, is 
expected to support world beer demand growth going forward. 
Annual global beer production growth rates have averaged 3.3% over 
the last 10 years and from 2009 to 2013 are expected to rise to 3.8%. 
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manufacturing operation and purchasing additional value-added 
oat production capacity in the U.S.. The scorecard at the end of this 
section depicts the Company’s achievements with respect to its 
strategic growth plans for 2010.

As Viterra looks forward, the Company’s strategic focus can best 
be defined by three key objectives: geographical diversification, 
expansion of value-added processing to increase the earnings base 
and maximization of operational efficiencies from existing assets. 
The Company will work towards meeting these objectives while 
maintaining a competitive and flexible capital structure. The Company 
expects that, if it can deliver on all three of these objectives, this will 
result in improved Cash Flow Return On Assets (“CFROA”) (see Non-
GAAP Measures in Section 18) and increase value for shareholders.

Viterra’s international diversification strategy specifically 
targets regions that are in prime environments for expansion or 
consolidation, beyond the borders of the western Canadian and 
southern Australian grain and agri-products industries. The Company 
is focused on originating grains and oilseeds by acquiring quality 
assets, developing strategic alliances and securing new relationships 
in destination markets. Viterra’s primary focus will be on those 
regions that grow the same commodities that Viterra already markets, 
thereby allowing the Company to leverage its expertise and maximize 
full value-chain margins. 

With the acquisition of ABB, Viterra now has the scale and scope 
to effectively serve and increase its influence with destination 
customers. For wheat, barley and canola, Canada and Australia 
combined have the largest export origination, comprising about a 40% 
market share of the world’s aggregate exports of these commodities. 

As part of this strategy, Viterra’s International Grain Group has been 
expanded and it now has trading offices in Japan, Singapore, China, 
Switzerland, Italy, Ukraine, Germany and the U.S. The Company 
also has a joint venture marketing agreement in India. This staged 
approach was designed to enhance the Company’s international 
grain expertise and allow Viterra to capitalize on the growing global 
demands in agriculture. 

The following table demonstrates, for the Australian malt business, 
the sensitivity of EBITDA to certain stated key business drivers, 
assuming other variables remain constant:

	 Change	 EBITDA* (millions)
Sales Volumes**		  1.0%		  $	0.33
Gross Margin (CAD/tonne)**	  $	1.00 		  $	0.45 

	 *	See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.

	**	Assuming an AUD/CAD conversion rate of 1.00. 

Key Profit Drivers for Processing – New Zealand Feed
Viterra is well positioned to provide feed products to the growing 
New Zealand market, leveraging its global sourcing capabilities and 
import and distribution position. The Company owns critical storage 
infrastructure positioned at key import locations and has long-term 
supply agreements with key agri-commodity consumers.

Key profit drivers in this business include demand for meal and 
nutritional inputs.

As noted above, meal and grain imports have increased since 1999, 
driven by meal, which has increased from zero to 1.3 million tonnes. 
Dairy herd numbers have increased by 2.2% per annum, while milk 
solids have increased by 4.2% per annum since 1999. There has 
been healthy and sustained growth in the number of dairy cows 
in New Zealand over the last decade, along with improvements in 
productivity. At the same time, poultry production has grown at a rate 
of more than 2% per year over the last 10 years. This has underpinned 
the growth in grain and protein imports as farmers seek to maximize 
the productivity of their land. 

4 . 	 S T R AT E G I C  D I R E C T I O N

Viterra’s acquisition of ABB during fiscal 2009 was a significant 
step in the Company’s growth and diversification strategy, with the 
goal of becoming a global agri-business leader and a key supplier 
of ingredients to the world. In 2010, Viterra expanded its processing 
businesses by acquiring an integrated durum milling and pasta 
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deliver double-digit returns over the near term and those that have 
higher risk profiles should generate correspondingly higher returns. 
At all times, Viterra intends to focus on maintaining certain credit 
quality objectives that are consistent with investment grade credit 
ratings. 

Metric Target

Total Debt-to-Capital
Total Debt-to-EBITDA*
EBITDA Interest Coverage*

30% - 40%
<3X
>5X

*See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18. 

The Company recognizes that, as it seeks to achieve its strategic 
goals, healthy growth and earnings stability must also come from 
maximizing returns on existing assets. As part of ongoing integration 
and continuous improvement efforts, the Company intends to improve 
its cost structure, seek new and sustainable revenue opportunities 
within its current business while prudently managing its risk. To 
maximize shareholder value on existing assets, Viterra has targeted 
a two to three percentage point improvement in CFROA over time. 
Historically, Viterra’s CFROA has been as follows:

		  Actual	 Actual 
		  Twelve Months	 Twelve Months
		  Ended October 31,	 Ended October 31,
		  20101	 20092

CFROA3	 8.7%	 7.7%
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3	 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.

In pursuing its long-term goals, Viterra’s focus is on controlled, 
strategic growth and diversification, capturing value from global 
industry consolidation while maintaining a stable and quality earnings 
profile. Viterra continues to maintain a strong balance sheet and 
remains committed to preserving its financial flexibility across 
business cycles. 

The following scorecard provides a snapshot of some of the more 
significant initiatives undertaken in 2010:

The acquisition of additional value-added processing operations is 
also a primary focus for Viterra as it will further diversify Viterra’s 
earnings base and expand margins, enabling Viterra to balance its 
growth strategy and earnings stability. The Company’s intention is to 
build on its existing capabilities, processing ingredients for the global 
marketplace. It plans to grow the contribution from this segment 
from about 20% today to as much as 35% of total contribution in the 
future. In addition, the Company plans to increase its agri-products 
contribution from 21% to about 30% as it increases its western 
Canadian market share through improved product offerings and 
acquiring small independent retailers. 

The Company’s preference is to pursue growth in a manner that 
offers the greatest prospective financial returns. This includes 
acquisitions which provide for quicker market entry and expansion, 
the ability to acquire management expertise and the prospect of more 
immediate financial returns. 

There are key considerations when pursuing growth in this area of 
the Company’s business. They include:

•	 access to the raw commodities, 

•	 �its ability to leverage our infrastructures, transportation and 
logistical expertise to create synergistic opportunities and 
enhance value within existing operations, and

•	 �solid long-term industry fundamentals that will allow us to 
become a top tier player in the marketplace.

For example, in 2010, Viterra purchased Dakota Growers in the 
northern U.S. As the largest handler of durum wheat in Canada, 
Viterra sought to build upon its strategic position in the marketplace, 
adding 340,000 tonnes of durum milling capacity to its portfolio and 
expanding into pasta production, manufacturing 254,000 tonnes of 
pasta each year. Viterra is now the third largest institutional pasta 
producer in North America and has moved down the value chain to 
generate higher margins and improve returns for shareholders.

The acquisition of 21st Century is another important example. Viterra 
was the leading industrial manufacturer of oats in North America. 
With this acquisition, not only has the Company added 158,000 tonnes 
of U.S. oat processing capacity to its business, it has expanded its 
product lines to include coated and clustered ingredients, a high-
value oat product sought by leading cereal and food manufacturers 
today. By combining the businesses, Viterra can leverage its oats 
origination and procurement and logistical expertise to drive 
additional value from the combined assets.

As the Company assesses the strategic fit of all potential 
opportunities, it intends to pursue only those activities with 
acceptable risk-adjusted return profiles. The Company intends to 
invest in assets that will generate returns that consistently exceed 
its weighted average cost of capital. Acquisitions are expected to 
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2010 Strategic Objectives Scorecard

Expand core capabilities geographically, focusing on regions that originate wheat, canola, barley and pulses.

✓	 Expanded grain origination capabilities into the United States, Europe, the Black Sea and India.

Establish an integrated marketing group to extend origination pipeline and expand international trading and logistics.

✓	� Established sales offices in Minneapolis, Hamburg, Naples and Kiev to complement Viterra’s existing merchandising capabilities in Canada, Australia, 
New Zealand, China, Japan and Switzerland. 

Invest in grain handling and agri-products to establish Viterra as the supplier of choice.

✓	� Acquired two agri-products retail locations and established one new greenfield location, bringing total locations to 262 across Western Canada.
✓	� Completed the construction of a new 30,000 tonne,104 railcar capacity grain handling facility at Sexsmith, Alberta at a cost of about $22.0 million.
✓	� Invested in expansions and upgrades to the western Canadian grain handling infrastructure to increase handling capacity, flexibility and efficiency.
✓	 Increased the number of Viterra’s private label crop protection products to 22.
✓	 Completed the commissioning of a state-of-the-art, Panamax-capable export terminal at Outer Harbor, South Australia.
✓	� Began a $6.5 million capital investment in Vancouver terminals to upgrade equipment, increase flexibility, and improve operating efficiencies.
✓	 Expanded the canola breeding effort in Australia.
✓	� Added red lentil trading and handling into the North American grain portfolio, generating about $40.0 million in revenue throughout fiscal 2010.

Invest in value-added businesses to increase contributions from processing.

✓	� Acquired 21st Century, expanding Viterra’s product offerings to include custom-coated grains and increasing its oat processing capacity to  
540,000 tonnes annually. This results in 335,000 tonnes of produced ingredients.

✓	 Added durum processing and 254,000 tonnes of pasta manufacturing capacity through the acquisition of Dakota Growers. 
✓	 Commenced construction of a joint venture 680,000 tonne canola crushing facility in South China.
✓	 Constructing a 110,000 tonne malt facility in Sydney, Australia to be completed by February 2012 at a total cost of $107.4 million.
✓	 Commissioned a feed mill in New Zealand with an annual capacity of 180,000 tonnes at a total cost of $35.4 million.

Enhance operational excellence, reduce costs and improve efficiency.

✓	 Established $1.6 billion global unsecured credit facility. 
✓	 Issued USD $400 million in 10-year 5.95% U.S. bonds.
✓	� Filed Canadian shelf prospectus for $500 million senior note offering. 
✓	� Integrated procurement for processing within the Grain Handling and Marketing segment to enhance efficiencies. 
✓	� Commenced the integration of financial products into the Agri-products segment. 
✓	� Consolidated grain handling in southern Alberta through the Carseland facility sale. 
✓	� Sold the 50% interest in the Australian Bulk Alliance (“ABA”) joint venture to focus Australian infrastructure on more efficient assets.
✓	� Delivered $22.5 million in ABB synergies – 75% of the estimated annual run rate.
✓	� Established integration plans and synergy targets of $6.0 million in the Processing segment. 
✓	� Delivered 88% of overall North American shipments in 50 and 100 car loads, 11% ahead of target; 67% were 100 car shipments,  

14% ahead of target.
✓	� Integrated the U.S. and Canadian feed operations, providing annual cost savings of $2.5 million.

Establish Sustainability framework/commitment.

✓	� Established a Safety, Health and Environment Committee of the Board of Directors.
✓	� Established an Executive Sustainability and Brand Committee to oversee corporate direction.
✓	� Established a Sustainability Working Group to operationalize a program throughout Viterra.
✓	� Completed Sustainability benchmarking and developed Sustainability framework.
✓	 Adopted a Sustainability Commitment Statement.
✓	� Advanced carbon credit program aggregating over 1.0 million carbon offsets. 
✓	� Completed a greenhouse gas inventory for North America.
✓	� Contributed $1.54 million to charities and organizations focused on health, wellness, agriculture, and safety.
✓	� Lead the industry in Ammonia Code of Practice compliance at 164 sites in Western Canada. Viterra was 100% compliant at all operation sites.
✓	� Achieved a North American Safety Index Number rating* of 6.1 and a leading indicator rating of 95.6% (the Company’s best-ever rating for injury 

prevention), surpassing the Company’s targets of 6.7 and 90.8%, respectively.

* �The Safety Index Number is an injury/illness measurement – the lower the number the better the performance (i.e. weighted average of the medical 
aids, injuries or illnesses and the respective severity in terms of days away from work per 200,000 hours worked).
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The food processing industry is highly concentrated, dominated 
by financially stable publicly traded corporations. Viterra’s food 
ingredient customer base is reflective of the industry as a whole, 
with the majority of sales being made to category leading branded 
and private label manufacturers. Grain-based food processors are 
well positioned for sustained growth, as internationally respected 
research organizations and medical professionals continue to 
promote the consumption of grain-based foods as part of a  
healthy diet.

5.3	 Diversified and Modern Facility Assets

In Canada, a substantial infrastructure renewal program to upgrade 
and replace older, smaller country grain elevators with new, more 
efficient high-throughput elevators (“HTEs”) at strategic locations 
throughout the regions of Manitoba, Saskatchewan, Alberta and 
British Columbia was substantially completed throughout the 1990s. 

The Company believes the geographic dispersion and strategic 
location of each of its facilities makes it possible to attract the 
throughput volumes required to be a preferred supplier for end-
use grain markets. The Company’s significant footprint in Western 
Canada positions it as a reliable originator of commodities for its 
domestic and international customers. Not only does this strategic 
network diversify the risk of localized weather, but it also allows 
Viterra to adopt a “value-chain management” approach to maximize 
grain revenue and position it to optimize further opportunities that 
may result from any change to the regulatory environment. There 
are high barriers to entry in today’s environment given the cost 
associated with replicating the assets and the continued existence of 
excess capacity estimated to be in the 20% to 25% range. As a result, 
Viterra’s market share, which ranges between 43% and 45%, is not 
only unmatched but, in management’s view, very stable. 

In addition to its origination network, the Company’s North American 
operations encompass extensive port terminal operations in 
Vancouver, British Columbia, Thunder Bay, Ontario, and a 54.2% 
interest in a port terminal in Prince Rupert, British Columbia.

The geographic dispersion of Viterra’s extensive agri-products 
retailing network throughout Western Canada permits Viterra to 
reach a broad group of farm customers. This geographic dispersion 
throughout the region serves to further diversify the risk of localized 
economic or other market conditions.

Viterra owns approximately 95% of the central storage and handling 
system in South Australia, where up to 20% of Australia’s crops are 
grown. As such, growers and marketers utilize the infrastructure 
to move agricultural commodities to market, providing Viterra 
with a steady income stream from storage and handling fees. The 
infrastructure is made up of a combination of steel, concrete and 
bunker storage, with approximately 25% of the 10.2 million tonnes 
being built in the last 10 years.

5 . 	 C O R E  C A PA B I L I T I E S

In addition to the capital resources discussed in detail in Section 9 – 
Liquidity and Capital Resources of this report, Viterra has a number 
of core competencies that should enable it to achieve its strategic 
initiatives.

5.1	 Solid Financial Position 

Viterra currently enjoys certain benefits from its operating leverage 
since the Grain Handling and Marketing and Agri-products segments 
are largely fixed-cost structures. As such, incremental improvements 
in revenues and margins translate almost directly into incremental 
improvements in EBITDA. The Company expects it will continue to 
generate significant free cash flow to enable it to pursue its strategic 
growth objectives. 

Viterra’s capital structure is solid with longer term credit facilities in 
place to support its ongoing financial requirements. The Company 
has a $1.6 billion unsecured revolving credit facility (“Global Credit 
Facility”) in place to fund its global operating requirements, which 
primarily consist of inventory purchases, financing of accounts 
receivable and capital expenditures. In addition, as at October 31, 
2010, the Company had approximately $154.8 million of cash and cash 
equivalents on its balance sheet. 

To facilitate future access to the Canadian bond market, the Company 
filed a final shelf prospectus form during the year which allows it to 
offer, from time to time, over a 25-month period, up to $500 million of 
senior unsecured notes in Canada. 

In August, the Company issued an additional USD $400 million of long-
term debt at 5.95%, maturing August 1, 2020. Proceeds were used to 
reduce borrowings under the Global Credit Facility and for general 
corporate purposes. 

During fiscal 2009, the Company issued $450 million of equity which, 
along with existing cash and short-term investments, fully funded 
the cash portion of the ABB transaction. ABB shareholders opted to 
receive the maximum share consideration. Viterra issued 78.3 million 
shares and paid $703.4 million ($751.7 million AUD) in cash to ABB 
shareholders as full consideration for the acquisition.

5.2	 Healthy Customer Base 

The majority of western Canadian farmers are financially strong and 
have access to the necessary credit to fund their ongoing operations. 
Through Viterra Financial™, farmers have access to up to $1.5 billion 
in credit to support their agri-products and feed products purchases. 
Australian growers experienced drought conditions in 2008 and 
2009, which has had a temporary impact on their financial situation. 
However, South Australia’s harvest is now well underway and current 
forecasts suggest above average production this year, which should 
improve cash flow for growers in fiscal 2011. 
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and investment in new facilities. Viterra is a significant supplier of 
animal nutrition products both in North America and New Zealand, 
having recently commissioned its state-of-the-art 180,000 tonne 
capacity feed mill in South Auckland. 

5.4	 Efficient Network/Logistics Expertise 

In its Canadian operations, the Company’s efficient elevator network, 
and the related logistics expertise it uses to arrange for the optimal 
receipt of grains into the facilities, minimizes the length of time the 
grain is held in storage and provides for timely delivery to domestic 
and international customers. Since railway companies offer 
incentives for loading products into multi-car unit trains, maximizing 
railcar usage through its country network is also an important 
contributor to profitability. The incentives for fiscal 2011 are about 
$4 per tonne for 50-car loads to incentives of $8 per tonne on car 
loads of 100 or more. Viterra is well positioned as almost half of 
Viterra’s western Canadian grain elevators are equipped with 100 
car spots. Overall the Company owns about 35% of the industry’s 
100-car loading capacity, allowing it to offer producers competitive 
transportation premiums to attract grain into its system and 
simultaneously capture a profitable increase in market share.

Viterra owns all of the South Australian port grain terminals and loads 
its own grain as well as grain for other exporters. South Australia 
enjoys four advantages that make it an attractive and reliable state for 
export logistics: the grain growing regions are relatively close to port 
so freight to port is cheaper overall than in other states of Australia; 
the port terminals are set up to receive both road and rail; the rail 
system serves the ports well; and, finally, there are five port terminals, 
including two deep water ports within relatively close proximity to 
each other to provide flexibility and surge capacity to shippers.

5.5	 Global Market Intelligence

Viterra has established marketing offices and trading centres 
in destination markets around the world, where demand for 
agricultural commodities is robust and agriculture production is 
expanding. To support its merchandising efforts, Viterra has over the 
past 18 months, attracted a number of seasoned grain marketing 
professionals with significant experience in the global grain trade. 
This international group analyzes fundamentals of global supply 
and demand to maximize pipeline returns, including global ocean 
freight rate changes, currency fluctuations, product variability and 
customer requirements. By having feet on the ground in key supply 
and demand markets Viterra is able to turn key commodity supply and 
customer demand information into a leverageable asset for decision 
making purposes and to reduce execution risk. The goal of this group 
is to capture value that is incremental to its domestic origination by 
using its close customer relationships to maximize value across the 
entire pipeline – a process called optimization. By linking both sides 
of the supply chain, the team uses the valuable information it derives 

As in Canada, Viterra’s country network in South Australia was 
rationalized in the 1990s, with the selection of 33 strategic sites 
across South Australia within 50 kilometres of each other. Capital was 
channelled into these “super sites” to ensure they had fast receival 
and out-loading facilities and were able to deal with large intakes. As 
a result, Viterra’s receival network across the grain growing regions 
of South Australia is efficient. Viterra also has the flexibility to engage 
or temporarily close less efficient storage on a season-by-season 
basis, depending on the size of the harvest.

The food processing industry is highly mechanized, and consumer 
expectations for ever increasing food safety have encouraged food 
processors to continually upgrade assets in recent years. Industry 
consolidation since the 1990s has resulted in the closure of older 
assets, the construction of new facilities, and capital investment 
in existing operations. The result is fewer competitors with larger 
processing facilities, operating near capacity. Viterra operates 39% of 
the total North American oat milling capacity and 46% of the industrial 
oat ingredient supply capacity. The Company’s oat mills are all less 
than 25 years old, with the newest mill starting operations in 2007. 
Viterra’s pasta operations similarly represent a significant portion of 
the overall North American capacity, at about 17% of the industry, 
and some of the newest assets in operation. Capacity has been 
continually upgraded. Most recently, the Company installed a state-
of-the-art 60.0 million pound production line at its Carrington, North 
Dakota facility. The St. Agathe canola crush operation is believed to 
be the largest double expeller press facility for canola in the world. 

In China, we have entered into a joint venture to construct a canola 
crushing facility in South China that will process approximately 
680,000 tonnes annually. Construction is underway and the facility 
is scheduled to be operational in fiscal 2012. In Australia, Viterra is 
already the leading malt producer, processing 25% of the country’s 
malt barley crop. The Company recently reaffirmed its commitment 
to build on that position through construction of an additional 110,000 
tonne facility south of Sydney. 

Feed processing is evolving in a very similar fashion to food 
processing, with industry consolidation, the closure of older assets 
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5.8	 Customer Focused

Viterra is committed to monitoring economic, financial and regulatory 
developments in the agricultural community to anticipate changing 
needs and respond accordingly. The Company has a Customer 
Solutions service group in Canada that is responsible for nourishing 
customer relationships, analyzing product offerings that align with 
customer needs and seeking opportunities to grow market share. 
In Australia, Viterra has embarked on a comprehensive analysis of 
the customer base and intends to put in place a similar customer 
relationship strategy in that region. Viterra believes that executing 
on initiatives to deliver innovative solutions to its farm customers will 
reinforce its position and provide it with a competitive advantage over 
others in the industry.

5.9	 Agronomic Services

To complement the Company’s other product offerings, Viterra has 
an agronomic service team in place throughout Western Canada 
that includes approximately 220 Certified Crop Advisors (“CCAs”) 
and 21 Managers of Agronomic Services (“MASs”). The MASs are 
dedicated business partners in farming communities across the 
Prairies, committed to the production cycle from seeding through 
harvest. Their industry-leading expertise keeps customers current 
on the latest agronomic technologies and helps customize product 
packages tailored to a customer’s specific needs. They also serve 
as educators within Viterra’s network, training staff on the latest in 
agronomic trends and product offerings so that front-line staff can 
tailor solutions-based marketing programs. Together, the services 
provided by Viterra’s CCAs and MASs provide the Company with 
unique guidance and expertise integral to growers’ key business 
decisions, further distinguishing Viterra from its competitors in  
the industry. 

5.10	 Proprietary Seed Varieties

Developing the best seed varieties requires a long-term commitment 
and focus on breeding, trait development and extensive crop 
evaluation. Viterra’s in-house breeding effort in Canada is focused 
primarily on the oilseed sector and includes proprietary canola 
(Brassica napus and Brassica juncea) and flax. 

Operating the largest Canadian-owned canola breeding program, 
Viterra develops world-class proprietary canola varieties and is 
globally recognized for leadership in this area. Throughout the 
development process, research and technology collaborations from 
around the globe (such as the Evogene Abiotic Stress gene project 
initiated in 2008) have been key to ensuring ongoing competitiveness. 
In flax, Viterra leads the industry in breeding and has been successful 
in oil profile modification and meeting the needs of both growers and 
consumptive end-use customers. 

to execute on a number of well-defined merchandising and arbitrage 
strategies in order to optimize the commodity flow and capture value. 
Viterra has established a risk management approach to protect the 
business.

5.6	 Integration Expertise

Viterra has developed and refined a transformation and integration 
methodology that is utilized to support Viterra’s growth strategy and 
drive efficiency and effectiveness programs across the organization. 
The foundation of the Company’s methodology is its proprietary 
Transformation Playbook which outlines the comprehensive phases, 
activities and tasks to be performed to ensure all programs are met or 
exceeded – whether they are integration synergies, transformational 
objectives, operating model refinements or efficiency-related 
process improvements. In addition, over the past three years, Viterra 
has invested in a team of professionals dedicated to leading its 
transformation and integration initiatives throughout the enterprise. 
The investment in in-house expertise allows Viterra to execute its 
integration efforts swiftly and reduce the costs associated with 
engaging external consultants. 

5.7	 Quality Control

The Company has established a number of processes to track and 
identify crops at every stage of production, from seed to customer, 
to meet or exceed international standards. Additionally, to address 
increasing consumer awareness and concerns over food safety 
and traceability in a consistent manner across the organization, the 
Company is undertaking an integration of quality systems. Building 
on existing HACCP principles and conformity to ISO 9001:2000, ISO 
9001:2008, ISO 22000, Feed Assure™, AIB, BRC and SQF standards 
utilized in various business units, Viterra has initiated efforts to 
standardize food safety and quality systems to the ISO 22000 based 
family of standards. 

ISO 22000 was developed as a standard to harmonize the many 
national and private food safety standards in existence and adds the 
management systems approach of ISO 9001. Starting with many of 
the same concepts as the Quality Management Standard, changing 
the focus to food safety management, and incorporating prerequisite 
programs and HACCP principles led to what is now ISO 22000. This 
standard can be applied to any process in the food chain, from field to 
store, making it ideal for the broad scope of Viterra’s operations.

Starting with the Company’s food safety policy and quality objectives, 
Viterra’s ISO 22000 based schemes include documented procedures 
and work instructions managed within a document control system. 
Within each of the Company’s business units, required records are 
maintained by trained food safety teams and team leaders, who 
are responsible to manage internal and external communication to 
ensure that information on issues concerning food safety is available 
throughout the food chain. 
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for a premium in the international marketplace. Viterra’s end-use 
customers receive product that meets their strict specifications 
from a quality and food safety perspective. It is a model that Viterra 
is committed to in meeting the food ingredient requirements of the 
global marketplace. 

5.11	 Private Label Crop Protection Products

Viterra has a line of 22 private label crop protection products. Over 
the last several years, Viterra has worked in conjunction with 
leading manufacturers to develop and expand its line of private 
label products. This line of products allows Viterra to offer growers 
competitively priced product that is supported by its extensive retail 
network in Western Canada.

Through the utilization of private label products as part of its crop 
protection product mix, the Company gains both enhanced margin 
opportunities and efficiencies in inventory management. 

6 . 	 Q U A R T E R LY  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M AT I O N

As noted earlier, the Company acquired all of the issued and 
outstanding shares of ABB on September 23, 2009, which materially 
increased the assets, liabilities, sales, employees, market share and 
operating capacity of the Company. The table below only includes 
ABB’s financial results since September 24, 2009. 

Sales and other operating revenues have been restated from the 
first quarter of fiscal 2009 forward, due to a change in classification 
when accounting for certain financial instruments impacted by 
foreign exchange and a subsequent reclassification of certain items 
between sales and cost of sales. This restatement had no impact on 
gross profit and net revenues from services, EBITDA, or net earnings 
(see Note 26 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

In other crops, including cereals and forage seed, Viterra accesses 
genetics on an exclusive basis from its breeding partners and 
tests them through Viterra’s development group, which represents 
the most extensive trialling system in Western Canada. Whether 
developed in-house, or sourced from suppliers, Viterra’s goal is to 
provide growers with the best genetics and superior seed varieties to 
maximize yield and return on investment. 

Viterra is also actively involved in research and development in 
Australia, with a primary focus on barley. Viterra holds an equity 
interest in the University of Adelaide’s Barley Breeding Program, 
which allows Viterra first right of refusal over new barley varieties 
and also offers Viterra access to the latest developments for malt 
barley research, a significant advantage for its malt operations. 
Viterra also has an agreement with the South Australian Research 
and Development Institute for the commercialization rights to the 
National Oat Breeding Program for milling oat varieties.

The Company has also expanded its canola breeding effort in 
Australia, building off a long-term relationship with the Australian 
government’s Department of Planning and Infrastructure (“DPI”)  
and Ag Victoria in Horsham, Victoria and is focused on developing 
both Brassica Napus and Brassica Juncea hybrids for the  
Australian market.

Proprietary products are a key offering of Viterra’s seed line and offer 
additional margin opportunities throughout the Company’s value 
chain. Viterra’s proprietary seed line consists of 14 canola varieties 
and 17 cereal varieties exclusive to Viterra. In many cases, the seed  
is also identity preserved (“IP”) under contract. Farmers who 
purchase seed under IP contract are required to return the 
production to Viterra at harvest time, allowing the Company to 
capture full margin potential – from seed development through  
to the sale to the end-use market. 

Through IP contracting, Viterra’s farm customers are able to access 
varieties with very good agronomics and, at the same time, gain 
a competitive advantage given that much of the IP product sells 

Select Quarterly Financial Information
For the quarters ended
(in millions – except per share amounts)
	 October 31,	 July 31,	 April 30,	 January 31,	 October 31,	 July 31,	 April 30,	 January 31,
(Unaudited)	 2010 Q41	 2010 Q31	 2010 Q21	 2010 Q11	 2009 Q42 	 2009 Q3 	 2009 Q2 	 2009 Q1
Sales and other  
	 operating revenues 	 $	1,951.7	 $	2,493.2	 $	2,026.9	 $	1,784.5	 $	1,417.1	 $	 2,223.5	 $	1,609.1	 $	 1,382.0 
Net earnings (loss)	 $	 52.7	 $	 63.5 	 $	 18.4 	 $	 10.7	 $	 (0.9)	 $	 120.7 	 $	 26.3	 $	 (33.0)
Basic and diluted earnings  
	 (loss) per share 	 $	 0.14 	 $	 0.17	 $	 0.05 	 $	 0.03	 $	 –	 $	 0.51	 $	 0.11	 $	 (0.14)
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia operations.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009. 
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in anticipation of spring sales, and launch its spring promotional 
programs. Agronomic specialists are also actively working with 
producers during this time to develop their operational plans and 
customize solutions based on the specific needs of the producer.

Third Quarter – May 1 to July 31
The Company’s agri-products sales during this quarter historically 
average about 58% to 61% of total sales. During this period, 
producers take delivery of pre-purchased agri-products and begin 
planting, fertilizing and tending to their crops. Producers carefully 
monitor crops for insects, weeds and disease during June and July 
and will apply various crop protection products depending upon 
these factors. Equipment sales typically begin at the end of this 
quarter as producers anticipate their storage requirements for the 
harvest season.

Fourth Quarter – August 1 to October 31
Agri-products sales during this period historically average about 13% 
to 18% of total sales. Producers purchase crop protection products 
and equipment from the Company in preparation for harvest. After 
harvest, producers have their soil tested for nutrient levels and begin 
to purchase fertilizers. Although not as intense as the spring period, 
fertilizer sales also increase in the fall, once harvest is complete, 
and producers begin preparing the soil for next year’s crop. The fall 
fertilizer application restores nutrients to the soil that are needed for 
spring planting. 

6.2	 Quarterly Seasonality and Trends – 
Australia

There are distinct seasonal trends in the Australian Agri-products and 
Grain Handling and Marketing businesses. These are based around 
grower seeding periods, growing periods and harvest periods. A 
summary of specific trends is provided in each of the quarters below. 

In Viterra’s South Australian Grain Handling and Marketing operation, 
the majority of grain flows into the system during the harvest period, 
which begins in October and continues through until the end of 
January. Viterra and other marketers actively buy grain from grower 
customers throughout the year and those commodities move through 
the system after those purchases are made.

The grain that is delivered into the Company’s grain storage and 
handling facilities is classified and blended in preparation for export. 
Viterra and other marketers then buy these grains and oilseeds and 
market them directly to destination customers. Shipping from the 
Company’s port terminals in South Australia typically commences 
in harvest and continues throughout the year. Income is derived 
from storage and handling fees, including receival, monthly carrying 
and out-turn fees. Additional income is derived through non-grain 
commodities handling and shipping year-round from select port 
terminals. 

6.1	 Quarterly Seasonality and Trends – 
North America

There are distinct seasonal trends in certain aspects of Viterra’s 
North American businesses. These are centred around the growing 
season and the harvest period. The seasonality of the Company’s 
North American business is most notable in the Company’s agri-
products operations because of the relationship of sales to the life 
cycle of the crop. Generally, more than 75% of the segment’s annual 
sales are generated between mid-April to the end of June, when the 
crop is first planted and begins maturing. 

While grain deliveries, shipments and exports occur fairly steadily 
throughout each of the quarters, there can be some variation from 
quarter to quarter depending on demand from destination customers, 
the CWB export program, weather conditions, rail interruptions, 
harvest pressures, commodity pricing and producer cash flow 
requirements. Shipments through the Company’s port terminals in 
Thunder Bay end in late December, when the St. Lawrence Seaway 
is closed for the winter months, and typically resume near the end of 
April. In addition, the month of July can be a strong month for grain 
deliveries as farmers sell their old crop and fill their CWB contracts 
(which expire July 31) or move it off-farm to make room for the new 
crop that is harvested from late August to the end of October. 

In the food processing operations, earnings are relatively fluid with 
continuous demand for products throughout each quarter. Similarly, 
the feed products operation’s sales are also fairly steady during the 
year, but tend to peak during the winter months as feed consumption 
increases. Revenue in the financial products operations follows the 
related pattern of underlying sales in the Agri-products and feed 
products businesses. 

A summary of the specific trends in the Agri-products business for 
each of the quarters follows in this section.

First Quarter – November 1 to January 31
Historically, the Company averages about 10% to 12% of its agri-
products sales during this quarter and receives pre-purchase 
payments from customers for the spring agri-products. At this time, 
producers have also completed harvest and are able to assess the 
performance of their seed, the condition of their soil and may make 
early determinations on what crops they intend to plant in the spring. 
This period is an important sales promotion and marketing period for 
the Company as it works to secure sales commitments for the  
spring season.

Second Quarter – February 1 to April 30
Historically, Viterra generates an average of about 12% to 17% of 
its agri-products sales in this quarter. During this time, the Company 
prepares for the highly compressed spring selling period as it begins 
to source, purchase and distribute product through its retail network 
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Fourth Quarter – August 1 to October 31
Nitrogen fertilizer sales typically continue through this quarter into 
October. As well, growers continue to monitor emerging crops for 
insects, weeds and disease, and will apply various crop protection 
products depending upon these factors. These higher value products 
include post-emergent fungicides, herbicides and insecticides. 

In preparation for the upcoming harvest, the Grain Handling and 
Marketing operations continue to clear and consolidate stocks 
of grains and oilseeds for shipping and begin recruiting casual 
employees to assist with harvest activities at the elevator sites. 

7 . 	 C O N S O L I D AT E D  Q U A R T E R LY  O P E R AT I N G 
R E S U LT S 

It should be noted that the fourth quarter of 2010 includes Viterra’s 
Australian operations for the entire period while 2009 only included 
results for Viterra’s Australian operations for the period September 24, 
2009 to October 31, 2009.

In the final quarter of fiscal 2010, Viterra generated $2.0 billion in sales 
and other operating revenues (“sales” or “revenues”), an increase 
of $534.6 million or 38% from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The 
increase was primarily due to a full quarter of contributions from 
Viterra Australia, which amounted to $470.7 million compared to 
$139.2 million from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009. Quarterly 
sales were also positively supported by new contributions from 
pasta and oat processing businesses and strong western Canadian 
fertilizer sales, driven by favourable weather in the fall. 

Consolidated EBITDA for the three months ended October 31, 2010 
was $138.0 million, compared to $40.2 million last year. Included in 
this quarter’s results were $43.0 million in contributions from Viterra’s 
Australian operations. This compares to a negative contribution 
of $6.2 million from Viterra Australia in the last five weeks of fiscal 
2009. The remaining EBITDA increase relates mainly to fertilizer 
contributions and the additional earnings generated from Viterra’s 
new processing businesses.

With respect to Viterra’s food processing operations in Australia, 
malt manufacturing is constant throughout the year, typically without 
seasonal fluctuations. The operation’s consistency reflects the 
fact that 80% of its malt production is exported. Due to the nature 
of the business, the malt manufacturing operations are not subject 
to the seasonal supply and demand fluctuations present in other 
agricultural businesses. 

First Quarter – November 1 to January 31
The southern Australian harvest begins in this period and is usually 
complete by the end of January. This is the busiest quarter for the 
Grain Handling and Marketing business in Australia. Grain export 
shipping commences in the harvest period and continues throughout 
the year. The Company experiences a high volume of road and rail 
movement from country to port locations for shipments. 

The Company is also involved in gathering seed from farmers around 
the country at this time. The grain is sampled, cleaned, and treated, if 
necessary, before being bagged or left in bulk and stored for sale. The 
regional sales managers conduct their final inspection of their seed 
crops just prior to harvest to determine a yield estimate. Data around 
yield estimates, qualities and varieties are analyzed during this period.

Second Quarter – February 1 to April 30
The Australian Grain Handling and Marketing operations typically 
receive the last of the grower grain deliveries from the previous 
quarter’s harvest during this quarter. In addition, income is derived 
from continued export shipping, storage and carrying charges and 
domestic sales of grain and oilseeds.  

Growers begin seeding in April, and this is typically a busy time for 
several aspects of the Australian business. The main selling period 
for phosphate and potash fertilizers runs between February and April, 
as these are typically applied before the seeding period. As well, 
seed is sold and distributed to both retail and wholesale customers 
across Australia. This is also the peak selling period for general crop 
protection products applied during seeding.

Third Quarter – May 1 to July 31
Growers continue seeding in May and June and phosphate and 
potash fertilizers are applied during this period. As well, growers 
monitor emerging crops for insects, weeds and disease during June 
and July and will apply various crop protection products depending 
upon these factors. These higher value products include post-
emergent fungicides, herbicides and insecticides. Growers also 
begin to purchase and apply nitrogen fertilizers during this period. 

In the Grain Handling and Marketing operations, storage and carrying 
activities, export shipping and domestic grain sales continue in this 
quarter. 
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Fourth QUARTER OPERATING highlightS
(in thousands – except margins)
For the three months ended October 31, 2010
			   Better
(Unaudited)	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
Operating Results
	 Sales and other operating revenues 	 $	1,951,692	 $	1,417,139	 $	 534,553 
	 Gross profit and net revenues from services 		  319,911		  159,108		  160,803 
	 Operating, general and administrative expenses 		  (181,953)		  (118,872)		  (63,081)
	 EBITDA3		  137,958 		  40,236 		  97,722 
	 Amortization 		  (54,767)		  (31,551)		  (23,216)
	 EBIT3		  83,191		  8,685 		  74,506 
	 Integration expenses 		  (1,216)		  (5,143)		  3,927 
	 Gain (loss) on disposal of assets 		  7,162		  (1,192)		  8,354 
	 Net foreign exchange gain (loss) on acquisition		  707		  16,701 		  (15,994)
	 Financing expenses 		  (25,670)		  (24,143)		  (1,527)
	 Net earnings (loss) 		  52,671		  (920)		  53,591 
	 Basic and diluted earnings per share 	 $	 0.14	 $	 (0.00)	 $	 0.14 
	 Cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities3		  88,020		  (15,165)		  103,185 
	 Cash flow per share – basic and diluted3	 $	 0.24	 $	 (0.05)	 $	 0.29 
	 Property, plant and equipment expenditures 		  (33,504)		  (28,110)		  (5,394)
	 Intangible assets expenditures		  (3,962)		  (2,706)		  (1,256)
Grain Handling and Marketing Segment
	 Gross profit and net revenues from services 	 $	 186,916	 $	 97,750	 $	 89,166 
	 EBITDA 		  101,984 		  54,236		  47,748 
	 Sales and other operating revenues 		  1,421,025		  982,823 		  438,202 
	 Operating highlights (tonnes):
		  North American Shipments		  3,841		  3,902		  (61)
		  Australian Receivals		  20 		  – 		  20
		  Total pipeline		  3,861		  3,902		  (41) 
Agri-products Segment							     
	 Gross profit and net revenue from services 	 $	 72,773	 $	 40,744	 $	 32,029
	 EBITDA 		  30,016		  7,695		  22,321 
	 Sales and other operating revenues 		  325,062		  246,673		  78,389 
		  Fertilizer		  163,495		  106,098		  57,397 
		  Crop Protection		  45,399		  47,136		  (1,737)
		  Seed		  1,461		  1,174		  287 
		  Wool		  48,970		  34,825		  14,145 
		  Financial Products		  8,132		  7,828		  304 
		  Equipment sales and other revenue		  57,605		  49,612		  7,993 
	 Fertilizer volume (tonnes)		  370		  261		  109 
	 Fertilizer margin ($ per tonne sold)	 $	 110.02	 $	 72.02	 $	 38.00 
Processing Segment
	 Gross profit and net revenues from services 	 $	 60,222	 $	 20,614	 $	 39,608 
	 EBITDA 		  36,420		  5,506		  30,914 
	 Sales and other operating revenues 		  368,305		  259,943		  108,362 
	 Processing sales volumes (tonnes)
		  Malt4		  159		  N/A		  N/A 
		  Pasta		  57		  N/A		  N/A 
		  Oats		  94		  58		  36 
		  Canola		  49		  62		  (13)
		  Feed – North America		  424		  466		  (42)
		  Feed – New Zealand		  45		  N/A		  N/A 
Corporate Expenses
	 EBITDA 	 $	 (30,462)	 $	 (27,201)	 $	 (3,261)
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3	 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.
4	 Includes contributions from Viterra’s 42% ownership interest in Prairie Malt and its wholly owned Australian malt business.
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Financing expenses associated with the Company’s long-term and 
short-term debt were $27.5 million, on par with the fourth quarter  
of fiscal 2009. Total financing and associated expenses were  
$25.7 million, an increase of $1.5 million from the fourth quarter of 
fiscal 2009 due to lower interest income and a lower CWB carrying 
charge recovery. 

The consolidated net earnings for the final quarter of 2010 was  
$52.7 million ($0.14 per share), which compares to a net loss of  
$0.9 million last year ($0.00 per share). 

Cash flow provided by operations before changes in non-cash 
working capital was $88.0 million ($0.24 per share) for the three 
months ended October 31, 2010, compared to cash flow used in 
operations of $15.2 million ($0.05 per share) in the same three months 
of 2009. 

7.1	 Grain Handling and Marketing

Viterra’s North American Volumes
In the fourth quarter of 2010, total western Canadian industry 
shipments for the six major grains were 8.2 million tonnes, on par with 
industry shipments in the same period of 2009. Viterra’s shipments 
for the fourth quarter were 3.8 million tonnes compared to 3.9 million 
tonnes shipped in the same period of fiscal 2009. Despite the year-
over-year decrease in crop size, Viterra’s performance in the fourth 
quarter was strong due to a positive demand and pricing environment 
for commodities.

The split between CWB and open market grains for the quarter was 
47/53 compared to 53/47 for the same three-month period in 2009. 

During the fourth quarter, port terminal receipts for the industry were 
6.4 million tonnes, on par with the volumes recorded in the same 
period of fiscal 2009. Viterra’s port terminal receipts were 2.6 million 
tonnes, compared to 2.7 million tonnes in the fourth quarter of 2009. 

Viterra’s South Australia Volumes
This quarter’s results include contributions from Viterra’s Australian 
grain handling and marketing operations for the entire period while 
the fourth quarter of 2009 included approximately five weeks. There 
was virtually no grain movement during that period in fiscal 2009. 

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, Viterra’s Australian grain handling 
and marketing operations shipped 1.7 million tonnes of grains, 
oilseeds and special crops. Strong shipments in the quarter were 
attributable to:

•	 �attractive commodity prices and favourable international 
demand for grains and oilseeds in the period,

•	 �anticipation of a large crop in South Australia, which motivated 
growers to sell their old crop, and

Operating, general, and administrative (“OG&A”) expenses for the 
quarter totalled $182.0 million, compared to $118.9 million last year. 
The increase was primarily due to the addition of Viterra Australia for 
the entire period in fiscal 2010.

Amortization expense of $54.8 million for the quarter was up 
compared to last year’s fourth quarter, when amortization was  
$31.6 million. The increase in amortization expense for the quarter 
was primarily due to the addition of Viterra Australia for the  
entire period.

Consolidated EBIT (see Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18) for the 
quarter was $83.2 million compared to $8.7 million in the last quarter 
of fiscal 2009.

Integration expenses incurred during the quarter were $1.2 million, 
which related to ABB. These costs include signage and branding 
costs, information technology and other integration costs incurred by 
the Company during the period. These costs are down significantly 
from integration expenses of $5.1 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 
2009, of which $2.3 million and $2.8 million were related to ABB and 
Agricore United (“AU”) respectively. (See discussion of Restructuring 
and Integration Matters in Section 11.)

Viterra sold one of its North American grain facilities for $18.2 million 
during the quarter. This resulted in a gain of $6.8 million, which 
represented the majority of the $7.2 million of asset disposal gains 
recorded during the quarter. 

Viterra recorded a $0.7 million net foreign exchange gain, which 
was associated with the acquisition of 21st Century. In 2009, Viterra 
recorded a $16.7 million net foreign exchange gain in the fourth 
quarter associated with the ABB acquisition. (See Note 24 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Financing Expenses
(in thousands)	 Actual 
	 Three Months
	 Ended October 31,
	 20101	 20092	 Change
	 Interest on debt facilities	 $	 25,586	 $	25,181	 $	 (405)
	 Interest accretion		  527		  930		  403 
	 Amortization of deferred  
	      financing costs		  1,337		  1,315		  (22)
Financing costs		  27,450		  27,426		  (24)
	 Interest income		  (1,359)		  (2,630)		  (1,271)
	 CWB carrying charge  
	      recovery		  (421)		  (653)		  (232)
Net financing costs for  
	 debt facilities	 $	 25,670	 $	24,143	 $	 (1,527)
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009. 
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7.2	 Agri-products 

Sales and other operating revenues for the fourth quarter were up 
32% to $325.1 million versus $246.7 million in the corresponding period 
in fiscal 2009. Revenues from the western Canadian operations 
increased $52.3 million for the quarter, primarily reflecting increased 
fertilizer sales which were possible due to favourable weather 
conditions. The Australian operations contributed $65.2 million in 
revenues for the quarter, compared to $39.1 million for the period 
from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009. The Australian wool 
brokering business contributed $49.0 million in sales revenues for the 
final quarter compared to $34.8 million in 2009. 

Fertilizer revenues increased by $57.4 million in the quarter, 
representing a 54% improvement over the same period last year. This 
was driven by significantly higher sales volumes and a higher pricing 
environment. Volumes were 370,000 tonnes for the quarter, reflecting 
an additional 80,000 tonnes or a 31% increase for the North American 
operations. Australian operations contributed 29,000 tonnes to the 
total volumes. The significant increase in fertilizer volumes for the 
fourth quarter in Western Canada was primarily driven by:

•	 �strong dry fertilizer product movement to farm, due to the 
upward trend in pricing for most products, and

•	 �robust NH3 applications in the fall season, due to favourable 
weather conditions late in the quarter. 

Crop protection product sales were $45.4 million compared to  
$47.1 million a year earlier. The decrease is mainly due to lower 
pricing for glyphosate products, offset in part by higher specialty 
chemical sales. In the fourth quarter of 2010, the volume of crop 
protection product sales increased as farmers worked to eliminate 
unwanted plant growth on fallow land. Pre-harvest herbicide 
applications were also strong, largely due to the harvest falling later 
in the season. 

Seed sales in the quarter were $1.5 million, comparable with the 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. Equipment sales increased from fiscal 
2009 due primarily to increased sales of grain storage, including large 
capacity bins, and aeration equipment. 

Financial products revenues were $8.1 million for the quarter, 
compared to $7.8 million a year earlier. 

Gross profit increased during the quarter to $72.8 million, compared 
to $40.7 million a year earlier. The increase is primarily attributable to 
fertilizer as higher sales volumes and increased margins per tonne 
resulted in higher gross profit. The Company experienced higher 
margins per tonne on NH3 as selling costs were consistent and 
natural gas costs were slightly lower. The majority of the product that 
was sold was manufactured through CFL, which provides Viterra with 
significantly higher margins than purchase for resale tonnes. The 
Australian agri-products business contributed $5.2 million to gross 

•	 �increasing storage fees in South Australia, which provided an 
incentive for growers to sell their grain. 

Of the total shipments out of South Australia, Viterra traded 
approximately 25% for its own account, similar to the prior quarter. 
Viterra traded an additional 0.7 million tonnes from other regions 
of Australia, bringing its total for the year to 5.6 million tonnes. 
Viterra maintained its discipline throughout the quarter, focusing on 
bolstering margins as opposed to simply increasing market share.

Segment Operating Results
For the fourth quarter, gross profit for the segment totalled  
$186.9 million, compared to $97.8 million in the fourth quarter last year. 
The majority of the increase was related to the Australian grain 
handling and marketing operations that contributed $65.8 million in 
the quarter compared to a negative $1.3 million gross profit 
contribution for the period between September 24, 2009 and  
October 31, 2009.

Gross profit was also positively impacted by North America margins 
that increased from the fourth quarter of 2009 due to increased 
blending opportunities, attributable to a higher commodity price 
environment. For commentary on Viterra’s annual pipeline margins 
per tonne, readers may refer to Annual Financial Results – Section 
8.2.4 Grain Handling and Marketing – Segment Results. 

OG&A expenses for the Grain Handling and Marketing segment were 
$84.9 million, compared to $43.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2009. 
The increase was mainly due to expenses added by the Australian 
grain operations for the entire period as well as a $16.8 million 
reduction in pension income for the North American operations. 
Excluding these two items, OG&A expenses were about $3.0 million 
below the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. 

Segment EBITDA for the quarter was $102.0 million compared to the 
$54.2 million generated in the same period last year. The majority of 
this increase relates to the Australian operations, which contributed 
$33.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2010, compared to an EBITDA loss 
of $5.8 million in the last five weeks of 2009. The remaining difference 
reflects a higher contribution from the International Grain Group of 
$12.3 million compared to a loss of $0.5 million in fiscal 2009 as the 
Company expanded its global marketing operations. North American 
operations had a slightly lower contribution of $56.2 million compared 
to $60.5 million in the same period of fiscal 2009.

As Viterra’s international sales offices opened throughout fiscal 2010, 
the associated export commodity positions became the responsibility 
of the International Grain Group. As such, earnings from those sales 
are now recorded as contributions from that group as opposed to 
being included within North American and Australian results.

EBIT for the quarter was $76.2 million, nearly double the $39.7 million 
earned in the previous year’s fourth quarter. 
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These positive contributions were in part offset by lower sales in 
North American feed and Viterra’s canola crushing operation. 

Gross profit for the Processing segment in the fourth quarter totalled 
$60.2 million, a significant improvement from the $20.6 million 
generated in the fourth quarter of last year due to strong contributions 
from the malt and pasta operations.

Gross margins per tonne for the processing operations are most 
relevant on an annual basis and illustrate the stability of earnings in 
this segment over a 12-month period. Fluctuations for some of the 
segment’s businesses will occur from quarter to quarter for a number 
of reasons, including sales seasonality, changes in input costs, timing 
of contracts and other factors. As a result, management has provided 
gross margin per tonne for the Processing segment on an annual 
basis only. 

Malt operations, which also includes Viterra’s 42% ownership in 
Prairie Malt, contributed $20.6 million in gross profit during the quarter 
despite continuing difficulties in the global malt market and strong 
competition from European maltsters. The Australian malt business 
had strong quarterly sales volumes that were complemented by 
improved margins per tonne. 

Pasta operations for the quarter generated gross profit of  
$19.0 million. Sales volumes were 57,000 tonnes for the quarter and  
a favourable pricing environment and production efficiencies 
resulted in strong margins for this business.

Oat processing operations in North America contributed $10.0 million 
in gross profit for the quarter compared to $2.7 million in 2009. Both 
volumes and margins were bolstered from the acquisition of 21st 
Century. Volumes increased 62% to 94,000 tonnes in the quarter 
compared to 58,000 tonnes in the same period last year. Margins 
were up significantly as 21st Century’s operations generate higher 
margins on coated and clustered oat sales. 

The Company’s canola operations had a challenging quarter and 
recorded a quarterly gross loss of $2.6 million compared to a gross 
profit of $4.3 million in the same period last year. Margins were 
negatively impacted by operational issues that resulted in more 
downtime and the impact of additional crush capacity in Western 
Canada. Over the last year, Western Canada canola crush capacity 
has increased by 2.3 million tonnes year-over-year and resulted in 
increased competition. Given the difficult margin environment, the 
Company curtailed crush volumes, resulting in a volume, reduction  
of about 21% or 13,000 tonnes during the quarter. 

profit in the quarter, compared to $0.3 million between September 24, 
2009 and October 31, 2009. 

Management has expanded its quarterly disclosure in this segment 
to include gross margins per tonne on fertilizer, which illustrates 
the contributions per tonne from Viterra’s manufactured, retail and 
wholesale fertilizer volumes on a combined basis. See the table in 
Section 7 – Consolidated Quarterly Operating Results.

OG&A expenses increased by $9.7 million during the quarter to 
$42.8 million. Expenses associated with the North American agri-
products operations were on par with last year’s fourth quarter, after 
excluding the impact of pension and retirement allowances, the 
asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) recovery in 2009, and expenses 
associated with acquisitions made in the last 12 months. The 
Australian agri-products operations recorded OG&A expenses of  
$4.6 million for the quarter, compared to $2.0 million from 
September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009. 

EBITDA for the Agri-products segment for the quarter was up 
significantly to $30.0 million compared to $7.7 million in the final  
three months of fiscal 2009. The increase is mainly the result of  
higher fertilizer sales volumes and improved margins. Included in  
the EBITDA results for the quarter are contributions of $3.4 million 
from financial products, a slight increase from a year earlier. The 
Australian agri-products operations contributed EBITDA of  
$0.5 million for the quarter, compared to a loss of $1.6 million for  
the last five weeks of fiscal 2009.

EBIT was $18.1 million compared to a loss of $3.0 million for the same 
quarter of 2009. 

7.3	 Processing

Sales in the Processing segment for the fourth quarter were  
$368.3 million, up $108.4 million from $259.9 million during the 
comparable period of 2009. The year-over-year increase for the  
fourth quarter primarily reflects:

•	 �the addition of Dakota Growers, which generated $66.4 million in 
sales for the quarter,

•	 �the acquisition of 21st Century oat processing, which generated 
strong incremental sales of $21.1 million and increased the oat 
operations revenues to $55.2 million, 

•	 �the addition of the Australian malt business for the entire period, 
which generated sales of $67.0 million for the three months 
ended October 31, 2010, compared to $33.6 million for the  
five-week period to October 31, 2009, and

•	 �the contribution from the New Zealand feed business for the  
entire period, which generated sales of $24.1 million for the 
quarter compared to $9.3 million for the last five weeks of  
fiscal 2009. 
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8 . 	 A N N U A L  F I N A N C I A L  I N F O R M AT I O N

8.1	 Summary of Consolidated Results

Consolidated sales and other operating revenues (“sales” or 
“revenues”) for the year were $8.3 billion, an increase of 24% or 
$1.6 billion from fiscal 2009. The increase in sales was due to the 
contribution of $2.3 billion in revenues from Viterra’s Australian 
operations, which more than offset the effects of lower volumes and 
commodity prices on the Company’s grain handling and marketing 
operations in North America. 

OG&A expenses were $741.0 million for the 12 months ended October 
31, 2010, compared to $515.3 million for the comparable period last 
year. The increase primarily reflects a full period of costs associated 
with the Company’s Australian operations. A detailed description of 
OG&A expenses is included in each segment’s discussion of annual 
results.

The Company reported total pension benefit income of $5.8 million 
for the 12 months ended October 31, 2010, compared to $23.6 million 
for fiscal 2009. A reduction in corporate bond rates that are used to 
value future pension obligations resulted in an increase in the value 
of the Company’s pension obligations. Under pension accounting 
rules, the increase in obligation is amortized into expense over future 
periods. However, the increased obligations also cause the reduction 
of valuation reserves held against the Company’s pension assets 
and those reductions are recognized immediately into income. The 
amount of valuation reserve available to reduce was lower than in the 
prior year, which resulted in less of an impact on the income reported 
(see Note 21(a) of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

During the 12-month period ended October 31, 2010, Viterra generated 
EBITDA of $517.6 million, an increase of $193.9 million or 60% from 
fiscal 2009. The results for fiscal 2010 include $175.6 million in EBITDA 
contributions from Viterra Australia, compared to a $6.2 million loss for 
the period from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009. The remaining 
increase is mainly attributable to new pasta and oat processing 
operations plus strong fertilizer sales in the fourth quarter as a result 
of favourable weather conditions. 

A complete description of each segment’s operating performance 
begins with Section 8.2.

Amortization for the year was $192.7 million, an increase of  
$83.5 million from the prior year, primarily due to the addition of 
Viterra’s Australian assets for the full 12-month period. 

Integration expenses incurred during the year were $5.4 million, 
which includes signage and branding costs, consulting, advisory 
costs, information technology, travel and other integration costs 
incurred by the Company in fiscal 2010. This is a decrease from 
the $10.2 million of integration expenses incurred in 2009, of which 

The feed business in North America earned a gross profit of  
$11.3 million in the fourth quarter compared to $6.3 million a year ago. 
The increase relates to improved gross margins due to a lower cost 
structure for the North American operations as a result of integration 
work. Sales volumes were down 42,000 tonnes or about 9% during 
the quarter as mild weather allowed livestock to graze longer and 
delayed cattle moving to feedlots. In addition, as feed commodity 
prices increased during the quarter, sales volumes were negatively 
affected as demand shifted to lower value added products. 

New Zealand feed generated gross profit of $1.9 million during the 
quarter. Margins were relatively strong due to increased demand 
from the dairy market as a result of dry conditions that have eroded 
pastures and subsequently increased volumes of processed feed. 
Margins in this geography are expected to become stronger over 
time when the product mix shifts from lower margin commodity feed 
products to higher margin compound feed volumes. 

Overall, segment OG&A for the quarter was $23.8 million, compared 
to $15.1 million for the prior year’s quarter due to the addition of new 
pasta and oat processing businesses in North America and a full 
period of expenses for the Australian and New Zealand processing 
operations compared to five weeks in the fourth quarter of 2009. 
OG&A expenses for the Australian and New Zealand operations 
were $4.0 million for the three months ended October 31, 2010, 
compared to $1.2 million for the five weeks ended October 31, 2009.

EBITDA for the Processing segment for the quarter was $36.4 million, 
a significant increase of $31.0 million from the fourth quarter of fiscal 
2009 as a result of the previously noted pasta and oats acquisitions. 
While food processing generated EBITDA of $36.9 million for the 
fourth quarter, the feed products operations incurred an EBITDA loss 
of $0.5 million in the quarter due to negative contributions from both 
the North American and New Zealand operations. 

Segment EBIT for the quarter was $20.9 million, compared to a loss of 
$0.2 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009.

7.4	 Corporate 

Corporate expenses were $30.5 million for the fourth quarter of 2010 
compared to $27.2 million in the same period of fiscal 2009. The 
increase was primarily due to the addition of $6.8 million of corporate 
costs for the Company’s Australian operations. This was in part offset 
by a reduction of $2.0 million in expenses related to growth initiatives.
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currency fluctuations between the CAD and AUD dollar. (See Note 24 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements.) 

The Company recorded a $7.8 million gain on disposal of assets 
related primarily to the sale of one of its North American grain 
handling facilities. A number of other capital assets were sold during 
the year. This compares to last year’s loss on disposal of assets of 
$10.3 million, which was related to a number of capital asset sales.

$2.3 million were related to ABB and $7.9 million were related to  
AU. (See discussion of Restructuring and Integration Matters in 
Section 11.)

In fiscal 2010, Viterra recorded a $0.2 million net foreign exchange 
loss relating to the acquisition of Dakota Growers and 21st Century. 
In 2009, Viterra recorded a $24.1 million net foreign exchange gain 
relating to the acquisition of ABB. Prior to the acquisition of ABB, 
Viterra implemented a hedging strategy to protect itself from any 

BREAKDOWN OF EBITDA BY SEGMENT
(in thousands )
	 Actual		  Actual
	 Twelve Months		  Three Months
	 Ended October 31, 	 Better 	 Ended October 31, 	 Better
	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
Grain Handling and Marketing	 $	 386,105 	 $	 247,922 	 $	 138,183 	 $	 101,984 	 $	 54,236 	 $	 47,748 
Agri-products		   153,822 		  132,255 		  21,567 		   30,016 		  7,695 		   22,321 
Processing		   104,256 		   36,549 		   67,707 		   36,420 		  5,506 		   30,914 
Corporate		   (126,600)		   (93,028)		   (33,572)		   (30,462)		  (27,201)		   (3,261)
		   	 $	 517,583 	 $	 323,698 	 $	 193,885 	 $	 137,958 	 $	 40,236 	 $	 97,722
1 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3	 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.		

Select Consolidated financial information
(in thousands – except per share amounts)
	 Actual		  Actual
	 Twelve Months		  Three Months
	 Ended October 31, 	 Better 	 Ended October 31, 	 Better
	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
Sales and other operating revenues 	 $	8,256,280	 $	 6,631,666	 $	1,624,614 	 $	1,951,692	 $	1,417,139	 $	 534,553 

Gross profit and net revenues from services 	 $	1,258,567	 $	 839,031	 $	 419,536	 $	 319,911	 $	 159,108	 $	 160,803 
Operating, general and administrative expenses		  (740,984)		   (515,333)		   (225,651)		  (181,953)		  (118,872)		   (63,081)
EBITDA3		  517,583		   323,698		   193,885		  137,958		  40,236		   97,722 
Amortization		  (192,676)		   (109,141)		   (83,535)		  (54,767)		   (31,551)		   (23,216)
EBIT3			   324,907		  214,557		  110,350 		  83,191		  8,685		   74,506 
Integration expenses 		  (5,449)		   (10,191)		   4,742 		  (1,216)		  (5,143)		  3,927 
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) on acquisition		  (159)		   24,105		  (24,264)		  707 		  16,701		  (15,994)
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets		  7,778 		  (10,314)		   18,092 		  7,162 		  (1,192)		   8,354 
Financing expenses 		  (138,107)		  (61,163)		   (76,944)		  (25,670)		  (24,143)		  (1,527)
				    188,970		  156,994		  31,976 		  64,174 		  (5,092)		   69,266 
Provision for corporate taxes
	 Current		   (27,722)		   (14,144)		   (13,578)		  (15,748)		  (2,579)		   (13,169)
	 Future 		  (15,976)		  (29,723)		   13,747 		  4,245 		  6,751		  (2,506)
Net earnings (loss) 	 $	 145,272 	 $	 113,127 	 $	 32,145 	 $	 52,671 	 $	 (920)	 $	 53,591 
Earnings per share	 $	 0.39 	 $	 0.45 	 $	 (0.06)	 $	 0.14 	 $	 (0.00)	 $	 0.14
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.			 
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.			 
3	 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.		
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At October 31, 2010, the Company had consolidated loss carry 
forwards of $131.7 million, compared to $62.6 million at October 31, 
2009. No future tax benefit has been recognized for $8.9 million of the 
losses associated with certain international operations. 

Viterra’s net earnings for the year were up 28.4% to $145.3 million 
compared to $113.1 million last year. However, earnings per share 
were $0.39 in the current year compared to $0.45 per share in fiscal 
2009. This reflects a 120.2 million increase in the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding. For the fiscal year ended October 31, 
2010, the weighted average number of shares outstanding was  
371.6 million, compared to 251.4 million at the end of fiscal 2009. 

8.2	 Grain Handling and Marketing

This year’s segment results include a full 12 months from the 
Company’s Grain Handling and Marketing operations in Australia. The 
prior year’s results include approximately five weeks of results from 
the Company’s Grain Handling and Marketing operations in Australia, 
from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009 (see Section 7.1). 

8.2.1	 Industry Volumes

Volumes of shipments and receivals from the Company’s respective 
North American and Australian operations, in any given fiscal year, 
are reliant upon production levels and carry-out stocks from the prior 
year. Grain flows can fluctuate depending on global demand, crop 
size, prices of competing commodities, as well as the factors noted in 
Section 3.4.

For the 12 months ended October 31, 2010, total industry shipments 
for the six major grains in Western Canada were down slightly to 
33.9 million tonnes, compared to the 35.4 million tonnes shipped 
in the comparable period in 2009. The variance from the previous 
period reflects two factors. The most prominent factor was crop size. 
Crop production in Western Canada from the harvest of 2008 was 
approximately 10% larger than production in the fall of 2009 (which 
is handled in fiscal 2010). The second factor relates to the timing of 
producer deliveries. Industry receipts into the western Canadian 
elevator system were down, as lower commodity prices in the first 
half of this year influenced the timing of grain sales and poor weather 
in the third and fourth quarters made it difficult for farmers to deliver 
into the system.

Total wheat export shipments out of Australia through fiscal 2010 
were up 11% to 15.6 million tonnes from 14.0 million tonnes for the 
same period in 2009. The primary reason for the year-over-year 
increase in overall Australian wheat exports was the 3.0% increase 
in overall crop production between the 2008-2009 season and the 
2009-2010 season. Wheat exports from the state of South Australia 
increased to 3.3 million tonnes, from 1.8 million tonnes in fiscal 
2009, due mainly to a 46% year-over-year increase in overall crop 
production in the state. 

Financing Expenses
(in thousands)	 Actual 
	 Twelve Months
	 Ended October 31,
	 20101	 20092	 Change
	 Interest on debt facilities	  $	 112,923	 $	 66,010 	 $	 (46,913)
	 Interest accretion		   2,744 		   2,413 		   (331) 
	 Amortization of deferred  
	      financing costs		   6,882 		   3,620 		   (3,262)
Financing costs		  122,549 		   72,043 		   (50,506)
	 Interest income		  (7,629)		   (7,948)		   (319)
	 CWB carrying charge  
	      recovery		  (1,693)		   (2,932)		   (1,239)
Net financing costs for  
	 debt facilities		  113,227		  61,163		  (52,064)
	 One-time refinancing costs		  24,880		  –		  (24,880)
Total financing and  
	 associated expenses	  $	 138,107 	 $	 61,163 	 $	 (76,944)
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.

Financing expenses associated with the Company’s long-term and 
short-term debt increased by $50.5 million in fiscal 2010. The increase 
in financing expenses in the period reflects increased debt levels due 
to the inclusion of Viterra Australia and additional interest expense 
associated with the $300.0 million note issuance in July 2009. These 
increases were partially offset by the reduction of interest expense 
due to the redemption of the $100.0 million in senior notes during 
fiscal 2010, and the repayment of approximately $300.0 million in 
long-term debt associated with legacy Australian debt, together 
with the impact of lower commodity prices on global working capital 
requirements for much of the period.

One-time refinancing costs were $24.9 million ($17.7 million after 
tax), of which $16.5 million was related to costs associated with the 
settlement of interest rate swaps related to the Term Credit Facility 
and the early redemption premium paid on the $100.0 million in Senior 
Unsecured Notes. Also included in the costs were $8.4 million of non-
cash items associated with deferred financing costs expensed as a 
result of retiring the previous debt facilities.

Viterra recorded a net corporate tax provision of $43.7 million in the 
12-month period ended October 31, 2010 compared to a provision of 
$43.9 million in the same period of 2009. The effective tax rate for the 
12 months ended October 31, 2010 was 23.1%, compared to 27.9% for 
the same period last year. The Company’s effective tax rate ordinarily 
differs from the estimated Canadian statutory rate of 29% due to a 
variety of factors, including the change in future tax rates applied 
to different tax assets and tax liabilities, items deductible for tax in 
excess of accounting, as well as the effect of foreign income tax 
rates differing from Canadian income tax rates.
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At export position, port terminal receipts for the industry were  
24.7 million tonnes, a slight decrease from 2009. Overall, Viterra’s port 
terminal receipts were 10.3 million tonnes, on par with the 10.4 million 
tonnes received in 2009. Despite lower primary elevator receipts, 
export volumes were strong, benefiting from a record CWB export 
program in the first three quarters of the fiscal year, an improved 
pricing environment in the latter half of the fiscal year, and the 
Company’s strong non-Board export program. 

During the year, as Viterra’s international sales offices opened, the 
associated export commodity positions became the responsibility of 
the International Grain Group. As such, earnings from those sales are 
now recorded as contributions from International Grain. 

8.2.2	 Viterra Volumes – North America

Viterra shipped a total of 15.8 million tonnes of western Canadian 
grains, oilseeds and special crops in fiscal year 2010, down 
approximately 7% compared to the 17.0 million tonnes the previous 
year. For the six major grains, Viterra’s annual shipments were in line 
with management expectations given the smaller crop size this year 
and the decline in industry receivals noted above. 

For the 12-month period ended October 31, 2010, the split between 
CWB and open market grain shipments was 49/51 compared to 50/50 
for the same period last year. 

Grain Handling and Marketing
(in thousands – except margins)
	 Actual		  Actual
	 Twelve Months		  Three Months
	 Ended October 31, 	 Better 	 Ended October 31, 	 Better
	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
Gross profit and net revenues from services	 $	 724,127	 $	 437,741	 $	 286,386	 $	 186,916	 $	 97,750	 $	 89,166 
Operating, general and administrative expenses		  (338,022)		  (189,819)		  (148,203)		  (84,932)		  (43,514)		  (41,418)

EBITDA3		  386,105		  247,922		  138,183		  101,984		  54,236		  47,748 
Amortization		  (98,680)		  (46,084)		  (52,596)		  (25,796)		  (14,522)		  (11,274)

EBIT3		  $	 287,425	 $	 201,838	 $	 85,587	 $	 76,188	 $	 39,714	 $	 36,474 

	 Total sales and other operating revenues	 $	 5,651,399	 $	 4,176,840	 $	1,474,559	 $	1,421,025	 $	 982,823	 $	438,202 
North American Industry Statistics (tonnes)
	 Canadian Industry Receipts – six major grains		  33,832		  35,760		  (1,928)		  7,945		  8,244		  (299)
	 Canadian Industry Shipments – six major grains		  33,856		  35,379		  (1,523)		  8,241		  8,249		  (8)
	 Canadian Industry Terminal Handle		  24,694		  25,812		  (1,118)		  6,427		  6,427		  –
Viterra – North American Operations (tonnes)
	 Elevator receipts		  15,278		  16,325		  (1,047)		  3,622		  3,896		  (274)
	 Elevator shipments		   15,834		  16,967		  (1,133)		  3,841		  3,902		  (61)
	 Port terminal receipts		   10,271		  10,434		  (163)		  2,623		  2,714		  (91)
Viterra – Australian Operations (tonnes)												          
	 Shipments		   5,214		  –		  N/A		  1,665		  –		  N/A 
	 Receivals		   6,226		  – 		  N/A		  20		  –		  N/A 
Consolidated Global Pipeline (tonnes)
	 North American shipments		   15,834		  16,967		  (1,133)		  3,841		  3,902		  (61)
	 Australian receivals		   6,226		  –		  N/A		  20		  –		  N/A 
	 Total pipeline		   22,060		  16,967		  5,093		  3,861		  3,902		  (41) 

Consolidated pipeline margin (per tonne)	 $	 32.83	 $	 25.80	 $	 7.03		  N/A		  N/A		  N/A 
1 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3 See Non–GAAP Measures in Section 18.
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The following table illustrates the competitiveness of Australian 
wheat prices at fiscal year end and mid-way through the fiscal year 
relative to other export points:

Weekly Wheat Export Prices
	 October 31,	 April 30,	 October 31,
USD/tonne	 2010	 2010	 2009
Australia
APW, Western Australia	 $	 329	 $	 219 	 $	 220
APW, South Australia	 $	 264	 $	 214 	 $	 190 
ASW, Eastern States	 $	 295	 $	 188 	 $	 205 
European Union
France Grade 1, Rouen	 $	 316	 $	 176 	 $	 192 
Germany B Quality, Hamburg	 $	 321	 $	 183 	 $	 197 
Black Sea
Wheat, Milling Grade 4	 $	N/A	 $	 173 	 $	 180 

Source: International Grains Council and Company Reports; prices are basis FOB.

As well, during the course of the fiscal year, the Company’s 
merchandising operations in Australia originated grain from 
throughout the country. In total, about 5.6 million tonnes of grains and 
oilseeds were traded from throughout Australia with about 1.5 million 
tonnes or about 26% originated from Viterra’s South Australia grain 
handling infrastructure. A substantial portion of the earnings from 
these efforts, for the fourth quarter, are recorded as contributions 
from International Grain as opposed to Viterra’s Australia operations. 

In the fourth quarter of the fiscal year, merchandising volumes 
and market share were lower than the previous quarter as Viterra 
maintained its discipline and bolstered its margins in the Australian 
merchandising market. The following table shows a quarterly 
summary of the Company’s Australian merchandising operations:

8.2.3	 Viterra Volumes – South Australia

In fiscal 2010, Viterra received about 6.2 million tonnes of grains, 
oilseeds and special crops primarily in the first quarter. These 
receivals, combined with 0.7 million tonnes of carry-in stock at the 
beginning of the fiscal year, created ample supplies for shipments out 
of Viterra’s South Australia system. 

From a shipments perspective, a total of 5.2 million tonnes moved 
through Viterra’s South Australia assets in fiscal 2010, of which almost 
30% was for Viterra’s own account. Shipments were predominantly 
weighted to the second half of the fiscal year, with about 64% of 
shipments occurring during that period. There were three factors, 
which led to the significant increase in shipments out of South 
Australia in the latter half of the fiscal year:

•	 �the value of the AUD temporarily moderated early in the third 
quarter, increasing the competitiveness of Australian wheat on 
the world market and leading to a better pricing environment for 
Australian growers,

•	 �about half-way through the third quarter, commodity prices 
in general firmed on the back of concerns about the Russian 
drought and the less than ideal growing conditions in the Black 
Sea region, which encouraged farmers to market their grain, and

•	 �toward the end of the third quarter and through the fourth 
quarter, storage fees in the South Australia system began to 
increase, providing incentive to growers to sell their grain. 

Viterra Australia Volume Breakdown for Fiscal 2010
(in thousands)
	 First Quarter 	 Second Quarter	 Third Quarter	 Fourth Quarter	 Fiscal Year
	 Ended January 31,	 Ended April 30,	 Ended July 31,	 Ended October 31,	 2010
Total Shipments		  635 		 1,225 		  1,689 		  1,665 		   5,214 
Merchandised Volumes:
	 South Australia		  290 		   370 		   390 		   410 		  1,460 
	 Rest of Australia		  1,110 		  1,130 		   1,210 		   660 		  4,110 
Total			   1,400 		 1,500 		   1,600 		   1,070 		   5,570
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EBIT for the Grain Handling and Marketing segment was  
$287.4 million in fiscal 2010, compared to $201.8 million in fiscal 2009. 

Working capital requirements for the North American grain handling 
and marketing operations were down slightly year-over-year to 
October 31, 2010. This is due to the impact of lower inventory levels 
due to the delayed harvest, lower Board grain prices, and reduced 
receivables as a result of lower producer deferrals, offset by 
increased market values for open market grains during the course of 
the year. For the Australian business, working capital requirements 
throughout the fiscal year were lower than expected due to sluggish 
producer pricing and greater than expected utilization of on-farm 
storage by Australian growers. 

Outlook
The western Canadian harvest was essentially complete by the end 
of November 2010. Production for the six major grains is estimated  
to be 45.0 million metric tonnes, below the 10-year average of  
49.0 million metric tonnes. Crop quality suffered somewhat on later 
harvested crops due to excessive moisture and some frost damage 
during the harvest period.

Management anticipates CGC receipts for the six major grains in 
Western Canada to be in the 30.0 million tonne range for fiscal 2011, 
slightly lower than the approximately 32.0 million tonnes that is 
typically available. Management’s estimate for 2011 includes some 
draw down of on-farm carry-over stocks as strong demand and 
corresponding prices entice producers to market their grains.

Management estimates the quality of the spring wheat crop this year 
below average with 29% falling into the top two grades, compared 
with the CWB’s estimate of 78% last year. Canola quality is lower 
than the past year, with 79% grading in the top grade according to 
the CGC, while the average oil content has decreased slightly to 
44.6% from 44.8% last year, but is still above the 10-year average of 
43.5%. Due to the wet weather conditions which delayed harvest, 
malt barley selections are significantly below normal and selectable 
barley supplies are lower than in recent years. 

Strong demand from key markets in addition to higher prices on 
a majority of commodities is expected to partially offset quality 
concerns and result in a stronger export program in 2011 than what 
would have been expected with this quality of crop. 

The CWB has set its export target for wheat and barley out of 
Canada at 17.4 million tonnes for the upcoming crop year, which 
is approximately 1.0 million tonnes lower than the past year. 
Management concurs with this estimate given recent western 
Canadian production estimates, strong commodity prices and 
the likelihood of on-farm carry-out reductions stemming from 
crop production challenges in other parts of the world, notably 
Russia and Ukraine. 

8.2.4	 Segment Results 

Gross profit for the segment totalled $724.1 million in fiscal 2010, an 
increase of 65%, compared to $437.7 million in fiscal 2009, due to the 
Australian Grain Handling and Marketing contribution of $290.0 million. 
The Australian results for the year are indicative of strong shipping 
volumes and merchandising margins in the latter half of the fiscal year. 

Gross profits from the North American operations were down slightly 
from 2009, as a result of lower volumes caused by a smaller crop size. 
This variance was partially offset by higher North American margins 
per tonne, which increased compared to fiscal 2009, mainly due to 
the pricing volatility experienced in the last part of the fiscal year. 
The consolidated global pipeline margin for the Grain Handling and 
Marketing segment was $32.83 per tonne for the year, in line with 
management’s 2010 guidance of $30 to $33 per tonne for the year. 

Management provides guidance on Viterra’s global pipeline per tonne 
on an annual basis (see the following Outlook Section), which reflects 
expected total segment gross profit, divided by the tonnes shipped 
from the Company’s infrastructure in North America and the receivals 
accepted into its South Australia system. Given that total margins from 
South Australia receivals are earned over a period of months as grain 
is received, warehoused and then shipped, the quarterly gross margin 
per tonne calculation is not relevant. The Company will provide this 
measurement on a year-to-date and annual basis in fiscal 2011.

OG&A expenses for the Grain Handling and Marketing segment were 
$338.0 million compared to $189.8 million in fiscal 2009. The increase 
primarily reflects the addition of the Australian operations this year.  
In addition, the North American operations had a $16.8 million 
reduction in pension income. Excluding these two items, OG&A 
expenses remained on par with the prior year, even with salary 
increases, reflecting the Company’s efforts to effectively manage its 
North American cost structure. 

The Grain Handling and Marketing segment generated EBITDA of 
$386.1 million in the fiscal year, an increase of $138.2 million from the 
$247.9 million generated in fiscal 2009. The increase is primarily due 
to the $162.4 million contribution from the Australian grain handling 
and marketing operations during the 12 month period, compared to 
an EBITDA loss of $5.8 million for the period between September 24, 
2009 and October 31, 2009. North American EBITDA contributions for 
the period were $203.9 million, down from $255.6 million in fiscal 2009, 
as lower sales volumes and less pension income reduced EBITDA 
contributions from these operations by about $30.0 million and  
$16.8 million respectively. The International Grain Group contributed 
$19.8 million for the period, compared to a loss of $1.8 million in fiscal 
2009. As Viterra’s international sales offices opened throughout 
fiscal 2010, the associated export commodity positions became the 
responsibility of the International Grain Group. As such, earnings  
from those sales are now recorded as contributions from that  
group as opposed to being included within North American and  
Australia results.
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8.3	 Agri-products 

Agri-products sales for fiscal 2010 were $1.8 billion, an increase of 
$146.6 million or about 9% from the prior fiscal year. The increase 
relates to Viterra’s Australian agri-products operations that 
contributed $337.9 million in revenue, which is primarily derived from 
the Company’s domestic and export wool business. Sales through 
Viterra’s North American agri-products operations of $1.5 billion 
compared to $1.6 billion partially offset this increase due to lower 
fertilizer prices.

Fertilizer sales were $791.1 million for the year, down $108.5 million 
compared to the same period of 2009. The year-over-year decrease 
in fertilizer sales was due to lower average fertilizer sales prices 
throughout the first three quarters of fiscal 2010. 

Consolidated Fertilizer Volumes by Quarter
(in thousands of tonnes)
For the quarter ended

	Fiscal Year	 Jan 31	 Apr 30	 Jul 31	 Oct 31	 Total
	 20101	 310	 371	 699	 370	 1,750
	 20092	 269	 247	 757	 261	 1,534
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.

Fertilizer sales volumes were 1.8 million tonnes for the 12 months 
ended October 31, 2010, an increase of 216,000 tonnes from fiscal 
2009, of which 118,000 tonnes related to Australian agri-products 
operations. North American sales volumes were slightly higher than 
last year as strong October sales offset lower third quarter volumes, 
which were hampered by excessive rain that resulted in large 
amounts of unseeded acres across Western Canada. Above normal 
temperatures through October allowed harvest to be completed and 
allowed for significant applications of NH3. 

Seed sales for the year were $207.4 million, up about 13% from  
$184.4 million in fiscal 2009. The increase reflects higher canola seed 
sales and the impact of a revaluation by third-party suppliers for 
bundled crop protection products that now favour seed, which more 
than offset the loss of seed sales in the spring due to the decrease in 
seeded acres across Western Canada. 

Sales of Viterra’s North American crop protection products 
decreased by 5.6%, or $22.7 million, to $384.2 million this year. The 
decrease was primarily due to the wet weather, which reduced 
demand for herbicides during much of the growing season. In 
addition to lower demand, the aforementioned third-party product 
revaluation and product devaluation caused selling prices to drop. 
Despite the aforementioned issues, crop protection product sales in 
the fiscal year benefited from several factors, including:

•	 �increased fungicide usage due to the wet conditions present 
throughout Western Canada,

Demand for open market grains is expected to remain strong, 
particularly out of the Asia-Pacific region. As well, Viterra intends 
to expand its handling of both bulk and containerized pulse crops 
throughout fiscal 2011. 

For Viterra’s South Australia grain handling operations, the Company 
expects shipments to continue with momentum in fiscal 2011, given 
production issues in other grain growing regions of the world and 
improved commodity pricing. As well, Viterra’s management currently 
estimates receivals for this business, which primarily occur in the first 
quarter of the fiscal year, to be about 8.5 to 9.0 million tonnes. This is 
a significant increase over the prior year, assuming that farmers are 
able to continue to successfully harvest the predicted record crop. 

The Company’s estimate for carry-out stocks in its South Australian 
system at October 31, 2010 is about 1.2 million tonnes. These tonnes 
will complement production in South Australia, which is currently 
estimated at 9.7 million tonnes according to ABARES for the next 
fiscal year, well above the five-year average of 5.2 million tonnes. As 
of December 2010, ABARES is forecasting total country production at 
44.2 million metric tonnes, well above last year’s level, driven mainly 
by the strong crop in South Australia. 

The timing of shipments out of Viterra’s Australian system is 
dependent on world commodity markets and farmers’ willingness to 
sell. Based on anticipated supply and demand fundamentals for fiscal 
2011, the large crop that is expected, and the favourable commodity 
pricing environment, it is management’s current view that shipments 
out of Australia will be very strong throughout the first eight months of 
the fiscal year. 

Management currently estimates that its global pipeline margin per 
tonne for fiscal 2011 will be in the range of $33 to $36 per tonne, up 
from its fiscal 2010 guidance of $30 to $33 per tonne. The increase 
reflects a full year of gross profit contributions expected from its 
International Grain Group, which is now fully established.

Globally, production setbacks in the European Union (“EU”), 
somewhat in Canada and most importantly in the Black Sea region, 
have significantly altered the global wheat production outlook. 
According to the U.S. Department of Agriculture (“USDA”),  
2011 global wheat production is estimated to be approximately  
646.0 million tonnes, down about 37.0 million tonnes or about 5% 
from last year. Russian wheat production estimates have been 
downgraded substantially as drought decimated their wheat crop. 
The USDA estimates a decline of at least 30% from last year’s 
production. According to the USDA, global wheat stocks-to-use 
ratios are expected to decline from about 30% at the end of the 2010 
crop year to about 27% by the end of 2011. Viterra will continue to 
watch these trends and look for opportunities to capitalize on its 
position in the global marketplace.
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the remaining agri-products categories, as this is a more relevant 
measure for those product lines when considered over an entire 
fiscal year period.

Consolidated Fertilizer Margin Per Tonne by Quarter
For the quarter ended

	Fiscal Year	 Jan 31	 Apr 30	 Jul 31	 Oct 31	 Total
	 20101	 $	 57.05	 $	 78.47	 $	 118.56	 $	110.02	 $	 97.36
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.

Fertilizer margins (representing combined retail, wholesale and 
manufacturing margins) were $97.36 per tonne in fiscal 2010 
compared to $83.76 per tonne last year. The fiscal year 2009 gross 
profit included an inventory write-down of $28.1 million. In addition, 
lower average natural gas prices in 2010 ($4.16 per GJ compared to 
$4.88 per GJ in 2009) contributed to higher margins for fiscal 2010. 
In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the margin per tonne was 
impacted by competitive pressures in the western Canadian retail 
system and a lower pricing environment. 

Excluding fertilizer contributions, gross margins for the North 
American agri-products operations were similar to those in fiscal 
2009. Agri-products segment margins, excluding fertilizer, 
decreased on a year-over-year basis due to the contribution of 

•	 �increased glyphosate sales volumes as producers controlled 
unwanted growth on fallow land and encouraged fall maturation 
given the late harvest, and

•	 �increased sales volumes as Viterra has expanded its retail 
network across Western Canada, acquiring seven agri-products 
retail locations since the third quarter of 2009.

Equipment sales and other revenue were up by $19.5 million from 
2009. The increase in sales primarily reflected strong demand for 
on-farm storage and related products, such as grain storage and 
aeration equipment. 

Gross profit for the segment was $350.1 million for the year, which 
was $55.9 million higher than the $294.2 million recorded in fiscal  
2009. The increase in gross profit for the year was primarily driven  
by additional fertilizer contributions in the North American business 
due to a 6% year-over-year increase in sales volumes and a  
21% year-over-year increase in margins per tonne. 

Management now includes gross margins per tonne on fertilizer 
by quarter to illustrate the contributions per tonne from Viterra’s 
manufactured, retail and wholesale fertilizer volumes on a combined 
basis. Management will also provide, on an annual basis, the margin 
percentage (as a percentage of sales) on a combined basis for 

Agri-Products
(in thousands – except percentages and margins)
	 Actual		  Actual
	 Twelve Months		  Three Months
	 Ended October 31, 	 Better 	 Ended October 31, 	 Better
	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
Gross profit and net revenues from services	 $	 350,102	 $	 294,200	 $	 55,902	 $	 72,773	 $	 40,744	 $	 32,029 
Operating, general and administrative expenses	 	  (196,280)		  (161,945)		  (34,335)		   (42,757)		  (33,049)		  (9,708)
EBITDA3		   153,822 	  	 132,255 	  	 21,567 		   30,016 		  7,695 		  22,321 
Amortization		   (46,314)		   (42,434)		   (3,880)		   (11,926)		   (10,647)		   (1,279)
EBIT3		  $	 107,508 	 $	 89,821 	 $	 17,687 	 $	 18,090 	 $	 (2,952)	 $	 21,042 

Operating Highlights
	 Sales and other operating revenues	 $	1,796,537 	 $	 1,649,917 	 $	 146,620 	 $	 325,062 	 $	 246,673 	 $	 78,389 
		  Fertilizer 	  	 791,124 	  	 899,636 		   (108,512)		   163,495 		   106,098 		   57,397 
		  Crop Protection		   384,186 		   406,876 		   (22,690)		   45,399 		   47,136 		   (1,737)
		  Seed		   207,395 		   184,432 		   22,963 		   1,461 		   1,174 		   287 
		  Wool		   264,899 		   34,825 		   230,074 		   48,970 		   34,825 		   14,145 
		  Financial Products		   25,732 		   20,455 		   5,277 		   8,132 		   7,828 		   304 
		  Equipment sales and other revenue		   123,201 		   103,693 		   19,508 		   57,605 		   49,612 		   7,993 

	 Margin (% of sales excluding fertilizer)		  17.9%		  22.1%		   (4.2 pt)		  N/A		  N/A		  N/A
	 Fertilizer volume (tonnes)		   1,750 		   1,534 		   216 		   370 		   261 		   109 
	 Fertilizer margin ($ per tonne sold)	 $	 97.36 	 $	 83.76 	 $	 13.60 	 $	 110.02 	 $	 72.02 	 $	 38.00 
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3	 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.
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Seed bookings and customer prepayments for crop inputs for the 
spring season have been progressing well, with $313.0 million of 
prepayments as of December 31, 2010. The sales of equipment, in 
particular corrugated storage bins, are expected to remain strong 
into 2011 due to increased producer cash flow in recent years. 

These strong fundamentals will however, be somewhat tempered by 
an expected 5% reduction in western Canadian seeded acreage to 
approximately 56 to 57 million acres, due to excess moisture.

8.4	 Processing 

Sales in the Processing segment for the fiscal year were $1.3 billion, 
up $353.6 million or 38% from $942.6 million during the comparable 
period of 2009. The increase from fiscal 2009 primarily reflects:

•	 �the addition of the Dakota Growers business on May 5, 2010 that 
generated $125.3 million in sales for the period,

•	 �the acquisition of the 21st Century oat processing business in 
August 2010 which added $21.1 million in sales,

•	 �the addition of the Australian malt business which generated 
sales of $269.7 million in the fiscal year, and 

•	 �the addition of the New Zealand feed business for the entire 
period that added sales of $72.4 million for the fiscal year. 

Gross profit for the Processing segment totalled $184.3 million, a 
significant increase from the $107.1 million earned in fiscal 2009. 

Malt contributed $55.1 million in gross profit for the year. Sales 
volumes were strong despite weakness in the global malt market. 
Total sales volumes, including contributions from the Company’s 
42% share in Prairie Malt, were 562,000 tonnes for the year. Margins 
showed some temporary stabilization in the fourth quarter and 
averaged $97.99 per tonne for the year. 

The Dakota Growers business generated impressive results and 
earned $35.9 million in gross profit since it was aquired on May 
5, 2010. Sales volumes for this business were 112,000 tonnes and 
margins were $320.76 per tonne.

Oat processing earned $24.7 million in gross profit for the year 
compared to $19.2 million a year ago, an increase that is mainly 
attributable to the acquisition of 21st Century in the fourth quarter of 
2010. This acquisition increased sales volumes from 213,000 tonnes 
in fiscal 2009 to 257,000 tonnes in the current year. Margins also 
improved and averaged $96.19 per tonne compared to $90.01 in fiscal 
2009 as 21st Century contributions are from higher margin coated and 
clustered oat products. 

The canola business had a challenging year and recorded a gross 
profit of $2.4 million compared to gross profit of $4.3 million last 
year. Operational difficulties and the onset of new crush capacity 
in Western Canada eroded margins. As a result, margins for this 

lower margin Australian wool revenues. Gross profit contributions 
for crop protection products were comparable with fiscal 2009, as 
increased volumes from glyphosate and fungicide products offset 
the impact of the lower pricing environment for grass herbicide 
products. 

OG&A expenses for the fiscal year were $196.3 million, compared 
to $161.9 million a year earlier. The primary driver for the increase in 
OG&A expenses was the addition of the Australian agri-products 
operations for the entire period. For the North American operations, a 
significant portion of the increase in OG&A expenses related to costs 
associated with newly acquired agri-retail locations and higher salary 
and benefit costs. In addition, inventory distribution costs increased 
as the wet weather required the movement of product to locations 
where it was needed. Excluding the impact of the aforementioned 
items, North American agri-products OG&A expenses were up 
approximately 4% from fiscal 2009. 

EBITDA for the year was up 16% to $153.8 million compared to  
$132.3 million in the prior year, primarily due to increased fertilizer 
margins, offset in part by higher OG&A expenses. EBIT was  
$107.5 million versus $89.8 million in fiscal 2009. 

Average working capital for fiscal 2010 was approximately 10% lower 
than the previous year, primarily due to lower inventory and accounts 
receivable balances.

Outlook
Looking to fiscal 2011, there are several trends which are expected 
to continue to bolster the strong fundamentals of the Agri-products 
segment. 

For fertilizer, 2011 demand and pricing are expected to be strong 
due to relatively high commodity prices and increased nutrient 
requirements due to losses from excess moisture in 2010. As well,  
to complement the positive pricing fundamentals, western Canadian 
natural gas costs are expected to remain relatively low throughout 
fiscal 2011, which positively impacts the Company’s fertilizer 
manufacturing margins. 

Early indicators support these expectations as fertilizer movement 
to farm has been very strong. As farmers in North America have 
increased their demand for nitrogen and phosphate over the last 
few months, prices for these products have firmed. Management 
expects to see continued strengthening on both products until spring 
as farmers continue to secure product for the spring planting season. 
For fiscal 2011, management currently estimates that its fertilizer 
margin per tonne will be in the range of $100 to $120 per tonne. This 
management estimate assumes strong spring fertilizer sales, typical 
fall sales volumes, natural gas prices of approximately $4 per GJ, 
modest price erosion from mid-June to fall and continued strong 
commodity prices.
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Overall, segment OG&A expenses for fiscal 2010 were $80.1 million, 
compared to $70.5 million the prior year. Despite the addition  
of the newly acquired pasta and oat processing operations, North 
American OG&A expenses were $66.1 million, compared to  
$69.3 million a year earlier. The lower costs reflect management’s 
efforts to integrate the feed products’ business processes between 
Canada and the U.S. and leverage shared expertise. OG&A expense 
for the New Zealand feed products and Australia food processing 
were $6.5 million and $7.5 million respectively. 

EBITDA for the Processing segment for the year was $104.3 million, 
an increase of $67.7 million from fiscal 2009. EBITDA from food 
processing was $86.9 million, which is a significant improvement 
from the $23.8 million generated in 2009. This increase was mainly 
attributable to the addition of the Dakota Growers operation that 
contributed $28.9 million since it was aquired on May 5, 2010. The 
Australia malt operation contributed $38.9 million in the fiscal year 

business averaged $10.62 per tonne in the current year compared to 
$56.76 per tonne in fiscal 2009. Crush volumes were 229,000 tonnes, 
reflecting an entire year of operations for this business.

The feed business in North America contributed $57.4 million to gross 
profit during the year. Margins were $29.91 per tonne compared to 
$34.40 per tonne in fiscal 2009, reflecting slower demand in the U.S. 
dairy market, which has yet to see dairy producers increase their 
purchase of complex feeds. In Canada, favourable fall weather 
caused a slower buildup of inventory in cattle feedlots and resulted  
in a reduction in sales volumes late in the period. 

New Zealand feed recorded $8.8 million in gross profit for fiscal  
2010. Margins were strong at $60.88 per tonne, reflecting the  
positive impact in demand from the dairy market as dry conditions 
eroded pastures and subsequently increased volumes required of  
processed feed. 

Processing
(in thousands – except margins)
	 Actual		  Actual
	 Twelve Months		  Three Months
	 Ended October 31, 	 Better 	 Ended October 31, 	 Better
	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
Gross profit and net revenues from services	 $	 184,338	 $	 107,090	 $	 77,248	 $	 60,222	 $	 20,614	 $	 39,608
Operating, general and administrative expenses		  (80,082)		  (70,541)		  (9,541)		  (23,802)		  (15,108)		  (8,694)
EBITDA3		  104,256		  36,549		  67,707		  36,420		  5,506		  30,914
Amortization		  (41,592)		  (19,339)		  (22,253)		  (15,522)		  (5,721)		  (9,801)
EBIT3		  $	 62,664	 $	 17,210	 $	 45,454	 $	 20,898	 $	 (215)	 $	 21,113

Sales and other operating revenues	 $	1,296,171	 $	 942,561	 $	 353,610	 $	 368,305	 $	 259,943	 $	108,362

Operating Highlights – Food
	 Food sales volumes (tonnes)
	 Malt4		  562		  N/A		  N/A		  159		  N/A		  N/A
	 Pasta		  112		  N/A		  N/A		  57		  N/A		  N/A
	 Oats		  257		  213		  44		  94		  58		  36
	 Canola		  229		  75		  154		  49		  62		  (13)
	 Feed – North America		  1,918		  2,006		  (88)		  424		  466		  (42)
	 Feed – New Zealand		  145		  N/A		  N/A		  45		  N/A		  N/A

Operating margin ($ per tonne sold)
	 Malt4	 $	 97.99		  N/A		  N/A	 	
	 Pasta		  320.76		  N/A		  N/A		
	 Oats		  96.19		  90.01		  6.18		
	 Canola		  10.62		  56.76		  (46.14)		
	 Feed – North America		  29.91		  34.40		  (4.49)		
	 Feed – New Zealand		  60.88		  N/A		  N/A		
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3	 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.
4	 Includes contributions from Viterra’s 42% ownership interest in Prairie Malt and its wholly owned Australian malt business.
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for healthy oils. Viterra is pursuing the opportunity of leveraging its 
double expeller-press process by producing specialty oils, Non-GMO 
and High Oleic, for the natural food market. 

Global malt markets are expected to remain challenged in the  
near term given sluggish beer sales in North America and Europe. 
This has created excess capacity and is expected to increase 
competition across the globe and impact industry margins. For 
Viterra’s malt operations in Australia for the first half of fiscal 2011,  
we do not believe we will see immediate returns to the demand levels 
experienced prior to the financial crisis, but remain confident in the 
long-term outlook for this industry. 

For fiscal 2011, management currently estimates that its food 
operations within the Processing segment will generate a gross 
margin per tonne in the range of $90 to $110 per tonne on a blended 
margin per tonne basis, which is dependent on crop quality, yield 
efficiency and industry supply and demand dynamics. 

For the North American feed business, a recovery in U.S. operations’ 
margins is dependent on a recovery in milk prices and the ensuing 
increase in sales volumes for complex feed products. The Company 
expects that as milk prices improve so, too, will feed demand from 
this region. 

Margins in the New Zealand feed business will continue to improve 
with the global economy. With higher dairy export prices, producers 
are expected to shift from commodity feeds to higher margin complex 
feed products. 

8.5	 Corporate 

Corporate expenses were $126.6 million for fiscal 2010, up  
$33.6 million from the previous year’s expenses of $93.0 million. This 
increase was primarily due to the addition of Viterra Australia for 
the entire fiscal year 2010. In addition, higher costs were incurred 
in establishing the enhancement of information technology service 
delivery as well as higher accruals for the short-term incentive 
program. Amortization in the Corporate segment increased by 
$4.8 million, mainly due to Viterra Australia, but also due to the 
amortization of intangible information technology assets capitalized  
in North America.

while the oat and canola businesses in North America generated 
$17.2 million and a loss of $5.8 million, respectively. 

Feed products generated EBITDA of $17.3 million in the fiscal year, 
which compares positively to the $12.8 million generated in 2009. The 
New Zealand feed operations contributed EBITDA of $2.3 million in 
the period.

Segment EBIT for the quarter was $62.7 million, compared to  
$17.2 million in fiscal 2009. 

North American working capital requirements increased due to the 
acquisition of Dakota Growers and 21st Century during the fiscal 
year. This increase was offset by a shift in procurement activities 
to the North American grain operations and accounts receivable 
efficiencies.

Outlook 
Management expects solid contributions from this segment, which 
has begun to reflect the benefits of the Company’s diversification 
efforts to grow its portfolio of food and feed ingredients businesses. 

Demand for whole grain, nutritional food ingredients continues to 
remain strong and demand for oat ingredients is expected to continue 
to grow. With the economic challenges facing North America, 
management anticipates an increase in private label/store brand 
ready-to-eat cereals and, possibly, more consumption of oatmeal. 
Consumer demand for economical whole grain convenience in 
the form of granola bars and meal replacement bars is expected to 
continue its strength. 

Viterra’s pasta processing business competes exclusively in the 
dry pasta industry. Management expects that Viterra will benefit 
from continuing positive demand fundamentals for pasta in the U.S. 
market, as that country undergoes a tepid economic recovery and 
consumption of pasta as a healthy and economical food source 
remains strong.

In the Canadian canola operations, the recent 45% increase in 
Canadian canola processing capacity has put pressure on margins 
and will continue to do so in the near term; however, prospects 
for this industry remain strong longer term given ongoing demand 
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Sales, EBITDA and EBIT for fiscal 2010 are significantly higher 
relative to previous years, primarily due to the acquisition of ABB. 
On September 24, 2009, the operations of ABB began to contribute 
their financial results to the Company’s financials. A full year of 
contributions from Viterra Australia is included in fiscal 2010. Fiscal 
2009 includes contributions from Viterra Australia for the period 
between September 24, 2009 and October 31, 2009. 

Sales for 2009 were not materially different than in 2008, despite the 
significant change in commodity prices between the two periods. The 
largest decline between the two periods was felt in the Agri-products 
segment where sales prices for fertilizer declined significantly. This 
was partly offset by an increase in core grain handling shipments 
year-over-year in Viterra’s North American operation.

For a more complete discussion on the results of the 2009 fiscal year 
relative to 2008, please see the Company’s MD&A in its 2009 Annual 
Financial Review. 

8.6	 Select Three-Year Annual Financial 
Information

Select Annual Financial Information
(in millions – except per share amounts)
	 Twelve	 Twelve	 Twelve
	 Months	 Months	 Months
	 Ended 	 Ended	 Ended
	 October 31, 	 October 31,	 October 31,
	 20101	 20092	 2008
Sales and other  
	 operating revenues	 $	 8,256.3	 $	 6,631.7	 $	 6,777.6
EBITDA 		   517.6 		   323.7 		   532.6
EBIT 		  324.9 		   214.6 		   425.8

Net earnings 		  145.3 		   113.1 		   288.3

Earnings per share	 $	 0.39 	 $	 0.45 	 $	 1.31

Total assets		  6,116.9 		   6,422.7 		   3,979.4
Total long-term liabilities		  1,149.8 		   1,508.0 		   826.0
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.

Corporate Expenses
(in thousands)
	 Actual		  Actual
	 Twelve Months		  Three Months
	 Ended October 31, 	 Better 	 Ended October 31, 	 Better
	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
Operating, general and administrative expenses	 $	 (126,600)	 $	 (93,028)	 $	 (33,572)	 $	 (30,462)	 $	 (27,201)	 $	 (3,261)
Amortization		  (6,090)		   (1,284)		   (4,806)		  (1,523)		   (661)		   (862)
EBIT3		  $	 (132,690)	 $	 (94,312)	 $	 (38,378)	 $	 (31,985)	 $	 (27,862)	 $	 (4,123)
1 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.
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offset by higher financing expenses and a higher provision for current 
income taxes. Actual current income taxes are less than what would 
be imputed by applying the Company’s prevailing tax rate to pre-tax 
cash flows. The lower current income taxes primarily result from the 
tax shield provided by the Company’s capital cost allowance claim as 
well as other deductions available for tax purposes in the  
current year. 

Free cash flow is measured by cash flow provided by operations 
less capital expenditures and does not reflect changes in non-cash 
working capital (see Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18). For the  
12 months ended October 31, 2010, free cash flow increased by  
$100.8 million from the previous year to $239.4 million. 

9 . 	 L I Q U I D I T Y  A N D  C A P I TA L  R E S O U R C E S

9.1	 Cash Flow Information

9.1.1	 Operating Activities

For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2010, Viterra generated  
cash flow provided by operations of $361.2 million, an increase of 
$137.8 million over the comparable period last year. On a per share 
basis, the Company generated cash flow provided by operations  
(see Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18) of $0.97 per share compared 
with $0.89 per share in the comparable period last year. The improved 
cash flow from operations primarily reflects higher EBITDA, lower 
employee future benefit income and lower integration expenses 

CASH FLOW PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATIONS3

(in thousands – except per share amounts)
	 Actual		  Actual
	 Twelve Months		  Three Months
	 Ended October 31, 	 Better 	 Ended October 31, 	 Better
	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
EBITDA3	 $	 517,583 	 $	 323,698 	 $	 193,885 	 $	137,958 	 $	 40,236 	 $	 97,722 
Add (Deduct)
	 Employee future benefits 		   (4,939)	  	 (22,875)		   17,936 		   (9,175)		   (25,924)		   16,749 
	 Other items 		   1,814 	  	 2,065 		   (251)		   7		   143 		   (136)
Adjusted EBITDA		   514,458 		   302,888 		   211,570 		   128,790 		   14,455 		   114,335 
Integration expenses 		   (5,449)		   (10,191)		   4,742 		   (1,216)		   (5,143)		   3,927 
Cash interest expense		   (120,038)	  	  (55,130)		   (64,908)		   (23,806)		   (21,898)		   (1,908)
Pre-tax cash flow 		  388,971 		   237,567 		   151,404 		   103,768 		   (12,586)		   116,354 
Current income tax recovery (expense)		   (27,722)	  	  (14,144)		   (13,578)		   (15,748)	  	  (2,579)	  	  (13,169)
Cash flow provided by (used in) operations3	 $	 361,249 	 $	 223,423 	 $	 137,826 	 $	 88,020 	 $	 (15,165)	 $	103,185 
Per share	 $	 0.97 	 $	 0.89 	 $	 0.08 	 $	 0.24 	 $	 (0.05)	 $	 0.29 
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3	 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.

Free Cash Flow3

(in thousands)	 Actual		  Actual
		  Twelve Months		  Three Months
		  Ended October 31, 	 Better 	 Ended October 31, 	 Better
	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
Cash flow provided by (used in) operations	 $	 361,249 	 $	 223,423 	 $	 137,826 	 $	 88,020 	 $	 (15,165)	 $	103,185 
Property, plant and equipment expenditures 		  (105,313)		  (75,283)		   (30,030)		  (33,504)		  (28,110)		   (5,394)
Intangible assets expenditures	 	 (16,515)		  (9,479)		  (7,036)		  (3,962)		  (2,706)		  (1,256)
Free cash flow	 $	 239,421 	 $	 138,661 	 $	 100,760 	 $	 50,554 	 $	 (45,981)	 $	 96,535 
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3	 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.
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9.3	 Financing Activities

key financial information3

(in thousands – except ratios)
	 As at October 31,
	 20101	 20092	 Change
Cash and cash equivalents	 $	154,793 	 $	1,033,075 	 $	 (878,282)
Total debt		  960,806 		   1,574,714 		   (613,908)
Total debt, net of cash and  
	 cash equivalents		  806,013 		  541,639 		   264,374 
EBITDA (Twelve months  
	 ended Oct 31,)		  517,583 		   323,698 		   193,885 

Ratios
	 Current ratio 		   2.02 x 		   2.23 x 		   (0.21 x) 
	 Debt-to-total capital		  20.6%		  31.0%		   (10.4 pt) 
	 Long-term debt-to-capital		  19.3%		  25.3%		  (6.0 pt) 
1	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2	 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
3	 See Non-GAAP Measures in Section 18.

Viterra’s balance sheet remained strong at October 31, 2010 with total 
debt-to-capital of 20.6% (31% at October 31, 2009). At year end, Viterra 
had $154.8 million in cash and cash equivalents and cash drawings of 
$51.8 million on its $1.6 billion Global Credit Facility. 

As explained below, a significant amount of cash was used to 
reduce debt during 2010. Available cash was also used for business 
acquisitions totalling $288.4 million (2009 – $814.0 million).

On May 17, 2010, the Company closed a $1.6 billion unsecured 
revolving credit facility through a syndicate of financial institutions. 
The Global Credit Facility includes sub-tranches of Canadian  
$800.0 million and Australian $850.0 million. The three-year unsecured 
operating line replaces the Company’s $800.0 million line of credit in 
Canada and the AUD $1.2 billion operating line in Australia and will be 
used to support the Company’s global working capital requirements. 

On June 4, 2010, the Company redeemed the outstanding  
$100.0 million of 8% Senior Unsecured Series 2006-1 Notes due  
April 8, 2013, at a redemption price equal to 102% of the principal 
amount of such notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date  
of redemption.

9.1.2	 Investing Activities

Viterra’s capital expenditures (excluding business acquisitions)  
for the 12 months ended October 31, 2010 were $121.9 million.  
This includes $52.6 million related to Viterra Australia compared to 
$3.5 million for 2009. Proceeds from the sale of certain capital assets 
totalled $23.2 million for the current year, compared with $4.2 million 
for 2009. 

In 2010, Viterra invested cash of $288.4 million in business 
acquisitions, of which $212.6 million was for Dakota Growers,  
$70.2 million for 21st Century and $5.6 million for other acquisitions. 
This was a significant decrease from $814.0 million invested in fiscal 
2009 which included $697.8 million for Viterra Australia. See Note 6 of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further details on all major 
business acquisitions.

On an annualized basis, Viterra expects consolidated sustaining 
capital expenditures will be approximately $130.0 to $140.0 million. 
These are expected to be funded by cash flow provided by 
operations.

9.2	 Non-Cash Working Capital 

Non-cash working capital
(in thousands)	 As at October 31,
	 2010	 2009	 Change
Inventories 	 $	 1,211,887	 $	 960,896 	 $	 250,991 
Accounts receivable 		  995,656		  1,004,674 		   (9,018)
Prepaid expenses  
	 and deposits 		  107,638		   89,768 		   17,870 
Accounts payable and  
	 accrued liabilities 		  (1,151,652)		   (1,095,366)		   (56,286)
		   $	 1,163,529	 $	 959,972 	 $	 203,557

Inventory values at October 31, 2010 increased $251.0 million over the 
previous year end. This was primarily due to higher commodity and 
fertilizer prices along with higher grain inventory levels, partially offset 
by lower fertilizer inventory levels. Inventory values also increased due 
to the acquisitions of Dakota Growers and 21st Century.

Peak inventory is generally reached in the January to April months 
as the harvest in Australia is completed and Agri-products in North 
America is compiling inventory in readiness for the high volume 
spring sales season.
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Short-term debt is used during the year to finance operating 
requirements, which primarily consist of inventory purchases, 
financing of accounts receivable and capital expenditures. Levels of 
short-term debt fluctuate based on changes in underlying commodity 
prices and the timing of grain purchases in the Grain Handling and 
Marketing segment, while, in the Agri-products segment, changes 
in fertilizer prices can impact inventory values and customer and 
inventory prepayments.

Management believes that cash flow from operations and its access 
to undrawn credit facilities will provide Viterra with sufficient financial 
resources to fund its working capital requirements, planned capital 
expenditure programs, and debt servicing requirements. This belief 
is predicated upon the Company’s expectations of future commodity 
and crop input prices, and the expected turnover of inventory and 
accounts receivable components of working capital. (See Forward-
Looking Information in Section 20 of this MD&A.) 

9.4	 Debt Ratings

The following table summarizes the Company’s current credit ratings:

 
Corporate 

Rating

Senior  
Unsecured 

Notes

 
 

Trend

Standard & Poor’s BBB- BBB- Stable

DBRS Limited BBB (Low) BBB (Low) Stable

Moody’s Investors Service Ba1 Ba1 Stable

Since last year, Standard & Poor’s upgraded its credit ratings on 
Viterra to investment grade based on its belief that the Company has 
materially enhanced its business risk profile with the acquisition of 
ABB and that it will preserve its investment-grade credit measures. 
Credit ratings for DBRS and Moody’s are unchanged. 

The following table illustrates the long-term debt repayments 
that were made upon closing of the Global Credit Facility and 
subsequently:

CAD

(in thousands)
Term loan Credit Facility	 $	377,114
Viterra Australia		  283,196 
8% Senior Secured Notes Series 2006-1		  100,000 
Total long-term debt repaid subsequent to April 30, 2010 	 $	760,310

With the closing of the Global Credit Facility and repayment of the 
Term Credit Facility, all security was released on the Company’s 
Senior Notes.

On August 6, 2010, the Company filed a short form base shelf 
prospectus in Canada, which allows Viterra to offer, from time to time, 
over a 25-month period, up to $500 million of Senior Unsecured Notes. 
On August 4, 2010, the Company issued a private placement of USD 
$400 million, 5.95% Senior Notes, maturing August 1, 2020 (“Senior 
USD Notes Series 2010-1”). Proceeds from the private placement 
were used to reduce borrowings under the Global Credit Facility 
and for general corporate purposes. See Notes 10 and 11 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for more complete details on  
the above.

On December 1, 2010, the Company declared a five-cent ($0.05) 
Canadian per share dividend payable February 10, 2011 to holders 
of record on January 20, 2011. The annual dividend rate is currently 
intended to be ten cents Canadian per share ($0.10) and will be 
reviewed semi-annually by the Board of Directors. 

The Company maintains an active role in all decisions affecting 
cash distributions from principal subsidiaries (those in which the 
Company has at least a 50% interest). The Company does not rely 
on distributions from subsidiaries or joint ventures to fund its capital 
spending programs or to meet its financial obligations.
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1 1 . 	 R E S T R U C T U R I N G  A N D  I N T E G R AT I O N 
M AT T E R S

Dakota Growers
Integration is well underway at Dakota Growers, following the 
successful acquisition on May 5, 2010. The new operating model has 
been implemented and new procurement processes are in place 
and synergies are being realized. Planning for system integration has 
been completed and implementation has commenced. 

21st Century 
Integration is well underway at 21st Century, following the successful 
acquisition August 17, 2010. The formal integration planning includes 
developing detailed operating models, identifying synergies and other 
integration initiatives to be implemented over the next six-18 months. 

Shareholders should benefit from annual estimated gross synergies 
within Processing of approximately $6.0 million, relating to the 
acquisitions of Dakota Growers and 21st Century, with the most 
significant synergies being generated primarily through revenue and 
cost efficiency and with the full annualized benefit to be delivered in 
fiscal 2011. 

1 0 . 	 O U T S TA N D I N G  S H A R E  D ATA

The market capitalization of the Company’s 371.6 million issued  
and outstanding shares at January 17, 2011 was $3.9 billion or  
$10.46 per share. 

The issued and outstanding shares at January 17, 2011 together with 
securities convertible into common shares are summarized in the 
following table:

As at January 17, 2011

Issued and outstanding Common Shares	 371,596,983
Securities convertible into Common Shares:		
	 Stock Options	 2,607,231
		  374,204,214
As at October 31, 2010, there were 24.2 million CDIs which trade on 
the ASX.

Contractual obligations
(in thousands)
		  Principal Payments Due by Period
	 Total	 Less than 1 Year	 1 to 3 Years	 4 to 5 Years	 After 5 Years
Balance Sheet Obligations
	 Bank indebtedness	 $	 40,839 	 $	 40,839	 $	 – 	 $	 –	 $	 – 
	 Short-term borrowings		  61,677 		  61,677		  –		  –		   –
	 Long-term debt		   914,863 		   2,295 		  2,027 		   300,775 		   609,766 
	 Other long-term obligations		  79,561 		   20,006 		  22,684 		   10,775 		   26,096 

				    1,096,940 		   124,817 		  24,711 		   311,550 		   635,862 

Other Contractual Obligations
	 Operating leases	 $	 130,828 	 $	 36,452 	 $	 50,536 	 $	 18,837 	 $	 25,003 
	 Purchase obligations1		   982,295 		   949,387 		  28,851 		   2,918 		   1,139 

				     1,113,123 		   985,839 		  79,387 		   21,755 		   26,142 

Total Contractual Obligations	 $	 2,210,063 	 $	1,110,656 	 $	104,098 	 $	 333,305 	 $	662,004 
1 Substantially all of the purchase obligations represent contractual commitments to purchase commodities and products for resale.

9.5	 Contractual Obligations 

The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding contractual obligations as at October 31, 2010:
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1 2 . 	 O F F  B A L A N C E  S H E E T  A R R A N G E M E N T S 

12.1	 Pension Plans

At October 31, 2010, the market value of the assets of the Company’s 
various defined benefit plans exceeded the accrued benefit 
obligations (valued on an ongoing basis for accounting purposes). 
The Company reported a net defined pension asset of $103.6 million 
at October 31, 2010, compared to $86.5 million at October 31, 2009. The 
Company made $31.5 million in cash payments related to its employee 
future benefits for the 12-month period ended October 31, 2010, 
consisting of cash contributed to its funded pension plans, its defined 
contribution plans, and its multi-employer pension plan and directly to 
beneficiaries for other plan benefits. 

The Company reported total pension benefit income of $5.8 million 
for the 12 months ended October 31, 2010, compared to $23.6 million 
for fiscal 2009. A reduction in corporate bond rates that are used to 
value future pension obligations resulted in an increase in the value 
of the Company’s pension obligations. Under pension accounting 
rules, the increase in obligation is amortized into expense over future 
periods. However, the increased obligations also cause the reduction 
of valuation reserves held against the Company’s pension assets 
and those reductions are recognized immediately into income. The 
amount of valuation reserves available to reduce was lower than 
in the prior year, which resulted in less of an impact on the income 
reported (see Note 21(a) of the Consolidated Financial Statements).

The following table compares the values of pension plan assets and 
liabilities for accounting purposes to the estimated values for pension 
funding purposes (solvency basis) at October 31, 2010:

(in thousands)
Accounting

Basis
Solvency
Funding

Market value of pension assets
Pension liabilities
Funded status – surplus (deficit)
Unamortized accounting differences
Consolidated accrued benefit asset

$	 586,686
	 572,546
$	  14,140
	  89,499
$	 103,639

$	 586,686
	 592,659
$	   (5,973)   

 
Based on current estimates, the Company has a $103.6 million 
accrued benefit asset net of valuation allowance in its plans for 
accounting purposes. However, from a solvency perspective  
(for pension funding purposes), it is estimated that the plans had  
a combined deficit of $6.0 million as at October 31, 2010. The  
Company funds its defined benefit pension plans in accordance with  
actuarially determined amounts based on federal pension 
regulations. Management currently estimates payments made  
on a monthly basis totalling $1.8 million per quarter in 2011, down  
from quarterly payments of $2.5 million in 2010. The Company will  
be required to provide letters of credit of $9.7 million, down from  
$12.8 million provided in 2010. Funding requirements may increase  

ABB 
On September 23, 2009, the Company acquired all of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of ABB, an Australian agri-business. 
Integration of the two companies is continuing to progress well. 
Shareholders should benefit from annual estimated gross synergies 
of approximately $30.0 million, with about $20.0 million to be achieved 
in the Grain Handling and Marketing segment, $9.0 million through 
reduced corporate expenses and the remaining $1.0 million in 
various other segments. These synergies are being generated 
primarily through revenue and cost efficiency, with the full annualized 
benefit to be delivered in fiscal 2012. Detailed implementation plans 
have been completed to achieve these targeted synergies. As at 
October 31, 2010, the Company had achieved a total of $22.5 million 
in synergies, primarily in the Grain Handling and Marketing segment, 
and is on track to achieve its full annualized run rate synergy targets 
by 2012. 

Integration costs related to severance and closures incurred by or 
related to ABB have been accrued on the balance sheet as part 
of the acquisition price of the ABB shares in accordance with the 
purchase method of accounting, with a corresponding increase in 
goodwill. On a pre-tax basis, estimated total net integration costs for 
both entities, which include share issuance costs and refinancing 
costs, are about $113.2 million. The following table summarizes the 
actual costs to October 31, 2010:

Estimated Integration Costs for ABB
As at October 31, 2010	
(in millions)
Pre-tax estimated total integration costs	 113.2
Integration costs already paid	 (93.6)
Remaining integration costs to be paid	 19.6 
Costs accrued and outstanding	 (5.6)
Estimated costs to be expensed or capitalized	 14.0 

These costs are being financed by free cash flow.
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2010 (2009 – $7.2 million). As at October 31, 2010, accounts receivable 
from related parties totalled $20.8 million (2009 – $24.0 million) and 
accounts payable to related parties totalled $14.8 million (2009 – $5.7 
million). Related party sales, purchases and balances are due mainly 
to grain shipping and handling activities conducted through Prince 
Rupert Grain as well as marketing activities conducted in operation  
of the grain pools.

1 4 . 	 C R I T I C A L  A C C O U N T I N G  E S T I M AT E S 

In preparing the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, 
management is required to make estimates, assumptions and 
judgments as to the outcome of future events that might affect 
reported assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities. Such assessments are made 
using the best information available to management at the time. 
Although management reviews its estimates on an ongoing basis, 
actual results may differ from these estimates as confirming 
events occur. The following is an analysis of the critical accounting 
estimates that depend most heavily on such management estimates, 
assumptions and judgments, any changes which may have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. 
For more information about certain assumptions and risks that might 
affect these estimates, assumptions and judgments, refer to Forward-
Looking Information in Section 20 of this MD&A.

14.1	 Fair Value

Fair value amounts represent point-in-time estimates and may not 
reflect fair value in the future due to changes in market conditions 
and other relevant factors. The measurements are subjective in 
nature, involve uncertainties and are a matter of significant judgment. 
Changes in these estimates could therefore have a material impact 
on the financial statements. 

Financial Instruments:
The methods and assumptions used to develop fair value 
measurements, for those financial instruments where fair value is 
recognized in the balance sheet, have been prioritized into three 
levels as per the fair value hierarchy included in GAAP. Level one 
includes quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities. This includes short-term investments, exchange 
traded derivatives, securities and investments. Level two includes 
inputs that are observable other than quoted prices included in level 
one. This includes long-term debt with fixed interest rates, bond 
forward contracts, commodity forward contracts, over-the-counter 
foreign exchange forward contracts and cross-currency swaps. 
Level three includes inputs that are not based on observable market 
data. There are currently no assets or liabilities assessed as level 
three. Sensitivity analysis for risks arising from financial instruments 
has been disclosed in Note 24 of the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

or decrease depending upon future actuarial valuations. The 
Company’s projection is based on funding plan deficits over a 10-year 
period and these payments may change in the future to reflect formal 
valuations as at December 31, 2010, which the Company expects to 
receive in April 2011. Note 21(a) of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for October 31, 2010 describes in detail the Company’s 
pension plan obligations. 

12.2	 Viterra Financial 

Viterra Financial™ provides grain and oilseed producers with 
unsecured working capital financing, through a Canadian chartered 
bank, to purchase the Company’s fertilizer, crop protection products, 
seed and equipment. Outstanding credit was $520.0 million at October 
31, 2010, compared to $528.1 million at October 31, 2009. Over 86% of 
the current outstanding credit relates to Viterra Financial™’s highest 
credit rating categories. The Company indemnifies the bank for 50% 
of future losses under Viterra Financial™ to a maximum limit of 5% of 
the aggregate qualified portfolio balance. The Company’s aggregate 
indemnity will vary at any given time with the size of the underlying 
portfolio. As at October 31, 2010, Viterra has provided $9.1 million for 
actual and future expected losses. 

Viterra Financial™ also provides livestock producers with secured 
and unsecured financing through a Canadian chartered bank to 
purchase feeder cattle, and related feed inputs under terms that do 
not require payment until the livestock are sold. Viterra Financial™ 
approved $86.8 million, compared to $94.7 million in fiscal 2009, in 
credit applications for Viterra’s Feed Products customers, of which 
these customers had drawn $36.1 million at October 31, 2010 (October 
31, 2009 – $35.8 million). The Company has indemnified the bank for 
aggregate credit losses of up to $8.2 million based on the first 20% 
to 33% of new credit issued on an individual account as well as for 
credit losses, shared on an equal basis, of up to 5% of the aggregate 
qualified portfolio balance. The Company’s aggregate indemnity will 
vary at any given time with the credit rating of underlying accounts 
and the aggregate credit outstanding. As at October 31, 2010, the 
Company had provided about $0.6 million for actual and expected 
future losses.

1 3 . 	 R E L AT E D  PA R T Y  T R A N S A C T I O N S 

The Company has transactions with related parties in the normal 
course of business measured at exchange amounts which are 
comparable to commercial rates and terms. Related parties include 
investees Prince Rupert Grain and The Puratone Corporation, as well 
as grain pools operated by the Company. The Puratone Corporation 
is only considered to be a related party for fiscal 2009 as it was 
disposed of during that year.

Total sales to related parties were $15.6 million in 2010 (2009 – $15.4 
million) and total purchases from related parties were $61.5 million in 
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14.3	 Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefits

Pension and other post-employment benefit obligations are 
measured based on actuarial valuations performed using the 
projected accrued benefit actuarial cost method pro-rated on 
service. The assets are valued at market value on September 30, 
2010 with extrapolations as required to October 31, 2010. Complex 
actuarial calculations based on certain estimates and assumptions 
are used in determining the Company’s defined benefit pension and 
other post-employment benefit obligations. Assumptions include the 
discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, 
expected growth rate of health care costs, projected salary increases 
and average remaining service periods. These assumptions 
depend on various underlying factors such as economic conditions, 
investment performance, employee demographics and mortality 
rates. These assumptions may change in the future and may result in 
material changes in the pension and employee benefit plans expense 
recorded in OG&A. Changes in financial market returns and interest 
rates could also result in changes to the funding requirements of the 
Company’s defined benefit pension plans. A substantial number of 
the Company’s employees are members of its defined contribution 
plans. With the exception of the Hourly Employees’ Retirement Plan, 
the Company’s remaining defined benefit plans cover a closed group 
of members and all retirees prior to the Company’s conversion to 
defined contribution plans. 

The discount rate reflects the weighted average interest rate at 
which the pension and other post-retirement liabilities could be 
effectively settled using high-quality bonds at the measurement date. 
For 2010, the discount rate used for calculation of pension benefit 
plans was 5.0% (2009 – 6.0%) and for other future benefits was 5.0% 
(2009 – 6.0%). The expected rate of return on plan assets assumption 
is based on expected returns for the various asset classes. The 
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for pension benefit 
plans for 2010 was 6.0% (2009 – 5.9%). Other assumptions are based 
on actual experience and best estimates. A one percentage-point 
decrease in the assumed return on plan assets would increase the 
pension expense by $3.6 million. A one percentage-point decrease  
in the assumed discount rate would increase pension expense by  
$6.4 million, increase the accrued benefit obligation by $59.8 million, 
and increase the accrued other future benefit obligation by  
$1.1 million, but would have no material impact on other future benefit 
expense. The sensitivity of each assumption has been calculated 
independently. Changes to more than one assumption simultaneously 
may amplify or reduce the impact on the accrued benefit obligations 
or benefit plan expenses.

14.4	 Environmental Matters

The Company’s other long-term liabilities include the Asset 
Retirement Obligation (“ARO”) associated with its fertilizer 
manufacturing and processing plants, which discontinued operations 

Grain Inventories:
Grain inventories are recorded at fair value on the basis of closing 
market quotations less freight and handling costs. Observable inputs 
are used along with quoted prices in active markets. Given the 
short-term nature of these inventories, these estimates are evaluated 
frequently.

Purchase Price Allocation:
As described below, the determination and allocation of the purchase 
price paid for business acquisitions is based on management’s 
best estimates. For significant acquisitions, the Company may use 
the work of third-party valuation experts. Otherwise, management 
determines the fair value of net assets acquired based on internally 
prepared estimates of market value.

14.2	 Future Income Taxes

Future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future 
income tax consequences attributable to loss carry forwards and 
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying 
values of assets and liabilities and their respective income tax bases. 
Future income tax assets or liabilities are measured using enacted 
or substantively enacted income tax rates expected to apply to 
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences 
are expected to be recovered or settled. The calculation of current 
and future income taxes requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions and to exercise a certain amount of judgment 
concerning the carrying values of assets and liabilities. The current 
and future income tax assets and liabilities are also impacted by 
expectations about future operating results and the timing of reversal 
of temporary differences as well as possible audits of tax filings by 
regulatory agencies. Management regularly assesses the Company’s 
ability to realize net future income tax assets based on all relevant 
information available. Changes or differences in these estimates or 
assumptions may result in changes to the current and future income 
tax assets and liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and a 
charge to, or recovery of, income tax expense. 

As at October 31, 2010, the Company had loss carry forwards of 
approximately $131.7 million, compared to $62.6 million at October 31, 
2009. These loss carry forwards are available to reduce income taxes 
otherwise payable in future years. Of these losses, $33.9 million will 
expire between 2013 and 2030, and $97.8 million are not subject to 
expiry. 

A short-term future income tax asset of $18.6 million and a long-term 
future tax asset of $17.5 million have been recorded as at October 
31, 2010 in respect of the Company’s unutilized losses. The Company 
recognizes the future tax benefit in respect of its losses to the extent 
it is more likely than not to be realized. No future tax benefit has been 
recognized for $8.9 million of the Company’s losses.
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to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed at the effective date of the purchase. The determination 
and allocation of the purchase price paid for acquisitions is based on 
management’s best estimates of fair value.

Acquisition of ABB
The Company has recorded an amount of $384.1 million in respect of 
goodwill and intangible assets relating to the prior year acquisition of 
ABB. The purchase price allocation between the assets and liabilities 
acquired was finalized in the fourth quarter of 2010. Liabilities 
relating to the restructuring and integration of ABB’s operations 
included estimated severance and employee-related costs, as well 
as closure costs. With regards to the purchase price allocation 
of ABB, in addition to the assessment of the fair value increment 
of the acquired assets, during the year, a review of the estimated 
useful lives of the property, plant and equipment and intangibles was 
prepared. As a result of these assessments, annual depreciation and 
amortization was increased. The amount of goodwill by reportable 
segment is as follows: Grain Handling and Marketing $172.0 million, 
Agri-products $24.7 million and Processing $99.8 million. No goodwill 
is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Of the $87.6 million of 
acquired intangible assets, $66.3 million was assigned to customer 
relationships, $15.8 million to software and $5.5 million to rail 
contracts.

Acquisition of Dakota Growers
The Company has recorded an amount of $147.4 million in respect 
of goodwill and intangible assets relating to the acquisition of 
Dakota Growers. As the acquisition has recently been completed, 
the preliminary purchase price allocation between the assets and 
liabilities acquired, including goodwill and intangibles, will be finalized 
in a subsequent period. The net assets, including goodwill of  
$112.4 million for accounting purposes, are included in the  
Processing segment. There will be no goodwill deductible for tax 
purposes. Of the $35.0 million of acquired intangible assets,  
$3.2 million was assigned to registered trademarks that are not 
subject to amortization. The remaining intangible assets include 
customer relationships of $24.8 million, licences and trademarks  
of $2.1 million, and other of $4.9 million. 

Acquisition of 21st Century
The Company has recorded an amount of $18.9 million in respect 
of goodwill and intangible assets relating to the acquisition of 
21st Century. As the acquisition has recently been completed, the 
preliminary purchase price allocation between the assets and 
liabilities acquired, including goodwill and intangibles, as well as 
the determination of goodwill deductible for tax purposes, will be 
finalized in a subsequent period. The net assets, including goodwill 
of $12.3 million, are included in the Processing segment. Based on 
the preliminary purchase price allocation, $12.2 million of goodwill 

in 1987, and the ARO associated with the Pacific Elevators Terminal. 
The Company provides for site restoration and reclamation costs 
relating to closed facilities and current leases. Reclamation involves 
the demolition of facilities and the reclamation of land. 

In determining the AROs, the Company uses the most current 
information available, including similar past experiences, available 
technology, regulations in effect, the timing of remediation and 
cost-sharing arrangements. The fair value of the obligation is based 
on estimated future costs for demolition of facilities and reclamation 
of land, discounted at a credit-adjusted risk-free rate. Environmental 
costs are capitalized if the costs extend the life of the property, 
increase its capacity, mitigate or prevent contamination from future 
operations or relate to legal ARO. Costs that relate to existing 
conditions caused by past operations and that do not contribute to 
current or future revenue generation are expensed. In subsequent 
periods, the ARO is adjusted for the passage of time and any changes 
in the amount or timing of the underlying future cash flows through 
charges to earnings. Management estimates include the period to 
complete projects, cash flows required and discount rates. By their 
nature, these estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and 
their impact on the financial statements could be material. 

At October 31, 2010, the Company estimated that the undiscounted 
cash flow required to settle the ARO was approximately $38.6 million 
(2009 – $19.2 million), which is expected to be settled over the 2011 
through 2022 period. The credit-adjusted risk-free rates at which  
the estimated cash flows have been discounted range from 4.0% 
to 8.0%. The ARO, including short-term portions, was $26.4 million 
at October 31, 2010, while, at October 31, 2009, the ARO was $17.5 
million. Management believes that this ARO is adequate.

The Company has a joint venture interest in a fertilizer manufacturer 
that has certain obligations with respect to plant decommissioning 
and land reclamation upon cessation of operations. The Company 
has not recorded an ARO for these obligations at October 31, 2010 
because it does not currently believe there is a reasonable basis 
for estimating a date or range of dates of cessation of operations. 
In reaching this conclusion, the Company considered the historical 
performance of the facility and has taken into account factors such 
as planned maintenance, asset replacements and upgrades of plant 
and equipment, which, if conducted as in the past, can extend the 
physical life of the facility indefinitely. The Company also considered 
the possibility of changes in technology, risk of obsolescence, and 
availability of raw materials in arriving at its conclusion.

14.5	 Purchase Price Allocation and Goodwill

As described in more detail in Section 11, Restructuring and 
Integration Matters, and in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the Company accounts for acquisitions using the 
purchase method, whereby the purchase consideration is allocated 
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required. No goodwill impairment has been recorded as at  
October 31, 2010. 

The Company periodically assesses the recoverability of values 
assigned to long-lived assets after considering potential impairment, 
indicated by such factors as business and market trends, future 
prospects, current market value and other economic factors. Where 
an indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the recoverable 
amount is made to determine the extent of any impairment loss. In 
performing its review of recoverability, management estimates the 
future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its 
eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected future cash flows is 
less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss would 
be recognized based on the excess of the carrying value of the asset 
over the fair market value calculated using discounted future cash 
flows. In all reporting units, fair value was determined to exceed 
carrying value, indicating no impairment of long-lived assets. No 
impairment has been recorded as at October 31, 2010. 

1 5 . 	 C H A N G E S  I N  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C Y 

Cost of Conversion of Inventories
During the year, the Company changed its classification of costs 
related to feed processing to more closely align internal and external 
reporting. The result of the change was a reclassification between 
Cost of Sales and OG&A expenses. This change is considered 
to be a change in accounting policy and, therefore, was treated 
retrospectively with restatement of the prior year. The impact of the 
change in policy on the current period and the prior fiscal year is 
disclosed in Note 2(r) of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

1 6 . 	 F U T U R E  A C C O U N T I N G  S TA N D A R D S 

16.1	 International Financial Reporting Standards

In February 2008, the Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) 
announced that 2011 is the changeover date for publicly accountable 
enterprises to replace current Canadian GAAP with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The date relates to interim 
and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2011, which will be applicable for Viterra’s first quarter of 
fiscal 2012. Viterra will also be required to provide IFRS comparative 
information for the previous fiscal period and, therefore, recording 
under IFRS will commence on Viterra’s transition date, which was 
November 1, 2010. 

Viterra has undertaken a project to assess and record the potential 
impacts of its transition to IFRS. 

Viterra has completed the Initial, Detailed Assessment and Design 
phases of its project plan. Viterra has started the Execution phase, 
which will culminate when the Company issues its first IFRS interim 

is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Of the $6.6 million of 
acquired intangible assets, $6.5 million was assigned to customer 
relationships and other of $0.1 million.

Other Acquisitions
The Company has recorded goodwill and intangible assets relating 
to other acquisitions that occurred in fiscal 2010 and has made 
adjustments to the purchase price allocation of another acquisition 
that occurred in fiscal 2009. 

14.6	 Valuation of Long-Lived Assets and Asset 
Impairment

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair 
values assigned to identifiable net assets acquired. The Company 
assesses annually whether there has been an impairment in the 
carrying value of goodwill based on the fair value of the related 
business operations. Should the carrying amount of the goodwill 
exceed its fair value, an impairment loss would be recognized and 
charged to earnings at that time.

At year end, a test is completed for each reporting unit unless the 
following criteria are met by the reporting unit: there has not been a 
significant change to the assets and liabilities, the most recent fair 
value determination resulted in an amount that exceeded the carrying 
value by a substantial margin and, based on analysis, the likelihood 
of impairment is remote. Goodwill is also tested between annual 
tests when an event or circumstance occurs that more likely than not 
reduces the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.

The recoverability of goodwill is evaluated using a two-step test 
approach at the reporting unit level. Under the first step, the Company 
compares the fair value of each reporting unit to its net carrying 
amount. Under the second step, goodwill impairment is measured as 
the excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill over 
the implied fair value of the goodwill based on the fair value of the 
assets and liabilities of the reporting unit. The process of determining 
fair value is subjective and requires management to exercise 
a significant amount of judgment in determining future growth, 
discount, and tax rates, as well as other factors. While the Company 
believes that all of its estimates are reasonable, there exist inherent 
uncertainties that management may not be able to control. As a 
result, the Company is unable to reasonably quantify the changes in 
its overall financial performance if it had used different assumptions, 
and it cannot predict whether an event that triggers impairment will 
occur, when it will occur or the extent to which it will affect the asset 
values reported. 

In all reporting units, the fair value was determined to exceed 
carrying value, indicating no impairment of goodwill. The second 
step, measuring the amount of the impairment, was therefore not 
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differences and financial statement impact relating to Impairment of 
Assets and Provisions. New controls over transition activities are in 
place as of the transition date, including additional review by IFRS 
working committee members.

Financial Reporting and Expertise
Key Activities:

•	 Development of IFRS expertise

•	 �Working teams formed to ensure compliance with the new 
standards

•	 �Steering committee of senior individuals from Finance, Treasury, 
Legal, Investor Relations and Information Technology has been 
established to monitor progress and review and approve recom-
mendations from the working teams 

•	 �Quarterly IFRS updates are provided to the Audit Committee of 
the Board of Directors

•	 �Commitment of appropriate resources and training to ensure the 
Company is compliant by the transition date

•	 External education and communication

Status:

The Company has provided training for Finance staff and 
management as well as other key employees and stakeholders. 
Working teams, the steering committee and the Audit Committee 
have been actively involved in the transition project and will continue 
their efforts over the upcoming year. Training on IFRS throughout 
the organization on both current IFRS and potential changes in the 
standards will continue to be provided to ensure the impacts are 
understood across the organization and any new differences are 
identified. Throughout the project there continues to be ongoing 
communication of identified differences, the implementation 
decisions made and the impact of those decisions on each area of 
the business. Communication includes external communication and 
updates in the Company’s MD&A each quarter.

Business Activities 
Key Activities:

•	 �Identification of impact on financial covenants, business prac-
tices, contracts, hedging and compensation arrangements

•	 �Assessment of impact on budgeting, forecasting, performance 
measurements and long-range business plans and strategy

•	 Analysis of impact on key performance indicators

financial statements for the quarter ended January 31, 2012. Details 
on the key activities and the status of the transition project are noted 
below.

16.1.1	 Accounting Policies and Financial Statement Preparation

Key Activities:

•	 �Identification of differences in GAAP and IFRS accounting  
policies

•	 Selection of the Company’s ongoing IFRS policies

•	 Preparation of an IFRS Accounting Policy Manual

•	 �Selection of the Company’s IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1”) choices

•	 �Development of mock IFRS consolidated financial statements 
and notes

•	 �Checklist and quantification for all expected opening balance 
sheet adjustments

•	 �Checklist and recording of IFRS adjustments for the  
comparative year

•	 �Continuous monitoring and assessment of upcoming IFRS  
standards

Status:

The Company is finalizing work related to accounting policies and 
financial statement preparation. The Company has prepared mock 
IFRS consolidated financial statements and notes which were 
provided for information to the Audit Committee. Ongoing efforts in 
the upcoming year will be on the preparation of an opening balance 
sheet and the continuous monitoring and assessment of upcoming 
IFRS standards.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (“ICFR”) and Disclosure 
Controls and Procedures (“DC&P”)
Key Activities:

•	 �For all accounting policy changes identified, assessment of ICFR 
and DC&P design and effectiveness implications

•	 �Design and implementation of controls over activities relating to 
transition including the preparation and review of the opening 
balance sheet and the recording of IFRS adjustments over the 
comparative year

Status:

Overall there have been no significant changes to ICFR identified and 
no changes to DC&P have been identified as the processes have not 
changed significantly. New controls have been implemented as at 
the transition date and over the following quarters in relation to the 
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The Company maintains both defined benefit and defined 
contribution pension plans for employees. The Company also has 
a closed retirement allowance plan and other employee future 
benefits, largely in respect of extended health and dental plans 
and life insurance, to eligible employees upon retirement. The cost 
of all future benefits is accrued in the year in which the employee 
services are rendered based on actuarial valuations. The actuarial 
determination of the accrued benefit obligations for pensions and 
other retirement benefits uses the projected benefit method pro-rated 
on service, which incorporates management’s best estimate of future 
salary levels, other cost escalation, retirement ages of employees and 
other actuarial factors. For the purpose of calculating the expected 
return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value. Past 
service costs from plan amendments are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the average remaining service period of employees active 
at the date of amendment. The excess of the net actuarial gain (loss) 
over 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation and the fair value of 
plan assets is amortized over the average remaining service period of 
active employees expected to receive benefits under the benefit plan. 
Payments to defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred, 
which is as the related employee service is rendered. 

The Company continues to assess the IFRS accounting policy 
choices available for employee benefits under both the current IFRS 
standard and the new standard expected this year.

All other identified differences are considered unlikely to have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial statements as at the 
transition date. Differences throughout the upcoming year will be 
assessed and communicated. The following highlights some of 
those key differences as well as discussion of significant accounting 
policies.

Presentation and Disclosure
Key Differences:

More extensive presentation and disclosure is required under 
IFRS. In addition there will be changes to the presentation of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Under IFRS, the Consolidated 
Statement of Earnings must be presented either by function or by 
nature. The Company expects to present expenses by nature, which 
will result in changes to the financial statement line items. Gross 
profit will no longer be presented on the Consolidated Statement of 
Earnings. The Consolidated Balance Sheets and the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flow will also have changes to the financial 
statement line items presented.

Business Combinations
Key Differences:

Key differences that may impact the Company include an expanded 
definition of a business, a requirement to expense acquisition-

Status:

Based on work completed to date and current IFRS standards, 
no significant changes are expected to be required in relation to 
business activities. Potential new standards for leases and joint 
ventures, as described below, may have an impact on the accounting 
for such business activities. The impact is being assessed in the 
monitoring of the new standards. The Company will continue to 
assess the impact of the transition on business activities. The 
budget and long-range business plans and strategy for the year 
ending October 31, 2012 are expected to be completed using IFRS 
financial reports and balances. Ongoing analysis of impact on key 
performance indicators will continue over the upcoming year.

Information Technology and Data Systems
Key Activities:

•	 �Information systems changes to support IFRS requirements and 
ensure readiness for capturing comparative data and required 
data on a go-forward basis

Status:

Based on work completed to date, no significant changes are 
required to the Company’s information technology and data 
systems. Accounting tools and processes for IFRS adjustments 
in the comparative year have been established and implemented 
as at the transition date. The Company is currently working on the 
development of IFRS financial reports for both internal and external 
use. The Company will continue to assess the impact of the transition 
on information and data systems.

16.1.2	 Currently Identified Differences Between GAAP and IFRS 

Set out below are the material differences between GAAP and 
IFRS that the Company has currently identified. Viterra continues 
to monitor standards development as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board and, as standards change or are 
issued, there may be additional impacts on Viterra’s assessment. In 
addition, Viterra may identify additional differences or experience 
changes in its business that may have an impact on the assessment.

A material item was identified for employee benefits based on 
differences between GAAP and IFRS relating to the accounting for 
defined benefit pension plans. IFRS has several technical differences 
from current GAAP accounting for defined benefit pension plans. As 
well, there are several accounting policy choices that are available 
under IFRS for pension accounting, including a choice that is similar 
to what the Company currently employs under GAAP. Compared to 
GAAP, IFRS introduces differences in the calculation of the expected 
future benefit, the liability for minimum funding requirements, the 
valuation allowance, and the interaction thereof. A summary of the 
expected IFRS accounting policy is as follows: 
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The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to 
the date the Company obtains complete information about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date – and is subject 
to a maximum of one year.

Impairment of Assets
Key Differences:

Under IFRS, measurement of impairment of assets differs, including 
using pre-tax discounted cash flows. Currently under GAAP, the first 
step in an impairment test allows for undiscounted cash flows to be 
used. IFRS also groups non-current assets to assess impairment at 
a Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) level which has been assessed at a 
lower level than used under GAAP. Another difference is that under 
IFRS, impairments of assets can be reversed, other than in respect 
of goodwill. On a go-forward basis, the differences could result in 
more volatility of net earnings and EBITDA since carrying values may 
have previously been supported under GAAP on an undiscounted 
cash flow basis. In addition, testing for impairment could occur 
more often. The required annual impairment testing of goodwill and 
indefinite life intangibles was performed as at the transition date and 
no impairment loss was recorded under IFRS. There was also no 
impairment loss recorded under IFRS for tangible assets.

Summary of Expected IFRS Accounting Policy:

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts 
of its non-current assets, other than deferred tax assets, to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment or reversal 
of previously recognized impairment loss, other than in respect of 
goodwill. Where an indication of impairment exists, and at least 
annually for goodwill, an estimate of the recoverable amount is made 
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. The recoverable 
amount is determined as the higher of value in use and fair value less 
costs to sell.

Assets are assessed for impairment at an asset level, or where not 
possible, on a CGU basis. A CGU is the smallest grouping of assets 
that generate independent cash flows. Goodwill is allocated to the 
groups of CGUs expected to benefit from the synergies of business 
combination. Impairment is assessed based on the recoverable 
amount of the group. If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash 
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable 
amount, and an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. Where 
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, other than in respect of 
goodwill, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent 
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. Reversal of impairment 
of goodwill is prohibited.

related costs as incurred, a specified acquisition date, accounting 
for adjustments subsequent to the acquisition date, contingent 
consideration, contingent liabilities, deferred (future) income taxes 
and accounting policy choices for measuring non-controlling 
interests. Currently, due to the IFRS 1 exemption described below, no 
material impact has been assessed. If a business combination occurs 
in the fiscal 2011 year, the IFRS adjustments could be significant. 

Summary of Expected IFRS Accounting Policy:

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using 
the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is 
measured at the aggregate of the fair values at the acquisition date 
of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred or assumed, and the 
equity interests issued by the Company in exchange for control 
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in profit 
or loss as incurred. Where applicable, the consideration for the 
acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value. After the measurement period, subsequent changes in the fair 
value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability 
are accounted for in accordance with relevant IFRS. Changes in 
the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity are 
not recognized. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 
IFRS 3, Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”) are recognized at their 
fair values at the acquisition date, except that: deferred tax assets 
or liabilities, and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit 
arrangements are recognized and measured in accordance with 
IAS 12, Income Taxes (“IAS 12”) and IAS 19, Employee Benefits 
(“IAS 19”), respectively; liabilities or equity instruments related to 
the replacement by the Company of an acquiree’s share-based 
payment awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-
based Payments (“IFRS 2”); and assets (or disposal groups) that are 
classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5, Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in 
accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset and 
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the fair value of the 
consideration transferred to the acquiree in a business combination 
over the Company’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by 
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the 
Company reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted 
during the measurement period (see below) as additional assets or 
liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about 
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if 
known, would have affected the amounts recognized as of that date. 
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Provisions
Key Differences:

Under IFRS, the threshold for recognizing a provision is lower than 
it is for similar liabilities, including contingent liabilities under GAAP. 
In addition, provisions, including decommissioning AROs, are 
recognized under IFRS if there is legal or constructive obligation 
versus GAAP when a legal obligation is required. Currently, the 
Company expects to reclassify liabilities relating to employee 
benefits, restructuring, decommissioning and restoration, onerous 
contracts, legal claims, marketing programs and other to provisions. 
The calculated liabilities are not expected to be materially different 
under IFRS.

Summary of Expected IFRS Accounting Policy:

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event. It is 
probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Provisions are measured 
at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to 
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
obligation. The increase in the provision due to the unwinding of the 
discount is recognized as finance costs. When some or all of the 
economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset 
if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Share-based Payments
Key Differences:

Key differences that impact the Company include accelerated 
recognition of the expense because, under IFRS, each tranche in 
a graded vesting plan will be treated separately. Forfeitures will be 
taken into account when determining the fair value of the award. 

Summary of Expected IFRS Accounting Policy:

The Company operates both cash-settled and equity-settled share-
based compensation plans under which it receives services from 
directors and employees as consideration for cash payments or 
equity instruments of the Company. Deferred share units, restricted 
share units and performance share units are cash-settled plans as 
the unit holder can elect to receive either cash or equity instruments 
of the Company. The expense for these plans is determined based on 
the fair value of the liability at the end of the reporting period until the 
award is settled. This liability is included in other financial liabilities. 

The Company expenses stock options over the vesting period of 
options granted, based on the fair value method as determined by the 
Black-Scholes pricing model, and records the offsetting amount to 
contributed surplus. For awards with graded vesting, the fair value of 
each tranche is recognized over its respective vesting period. Upon 
exercise of the option, amounts recorded in contributed surplus are 
transferred to share capital.

Leases
Key Differences:

The current IFRS criteria for classifying leases is more qualitative 
than GAAP and may result in leases that are currently assessed as 
operating leases under GAAP to be assessed as financing leases 
under IFRS. Upon the issuance of a new standard expected this 
year, the two types may no longer exist and the Company would be 
required to classify and account for all leases as finance leases. The 
change in accounting may potentially result in a significant impact 
to current period net earnings, EBITDA, assets and liabilities. Absent 
the new standard, the current accounting for leases under IFRS is 
currently being assessed and is not expected to have a material 
impact.

Summary of Expected IFRS Accounting Policy:

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases. Assets held under finance leases are 
initially recognized at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to 
the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined 
at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor 
is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction 
of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged 
directly against income, unless they are directly attributable to 
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalized in accordance 
with the Company’s general policy on borrowing costs. Finance 
leased assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter 
of the estimated useful life of the asset and lease term. Operating 
lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased asset are consumed.
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would result in no impact to net earnings and an insignificant 
difference in net assets; however, the impact to financial statement 
line items and EBITDA is expected to be significant due to the change 
in classification, including reporting depreciation and amortization in 
a line item above EBITDA. Absent the new standard, the accounting 
for associates and joint ventures under IFRS is not expected to result 
in significant differences. 

Summary of Expected IFRS Accounting Policy:

Associates are those entities over which the consolidated entity 
has significant influence but not control, or joint control generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of voting 
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting.

The Company’s interest in its joint ventures is recognized using the 
proportionate consolidation method at rates that approximate the 
Company’s ownership interest in the respective joint venture.

Income Taxes
Key Differences:

There are some technical differences between IFRS and GAAP 
regarding recognition, measurement and presentation of income 
taxes. Currently, one key difference is that IFRS requires income tax 
to be charged directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are 
charged directly to equity either in the same or a different period. 
Under GAAP, income tax relating to items charged directly to equity 
in a different period is recognized through net income or loss. The 
accounting for income taxes under IFRS is not expected to result in 
significant differences.

Summary of Expected IFRS Accounting Policy:

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current 
tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized 
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. Current tax is 
the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 
for the year using tax rates and tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting dates, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years. Deferred income taxes are calculated 
using the liability method on temporary differences between the 
financial reporting amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax 
bases. Deferred tax, however, is not provided on the initial recognition 
of goodwill or on the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless 
the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or 
accounting profit. Deferred tax is also not provided on temporary 
differences associated with shares in subsidiaries and jointly 
controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Foreign Currency Translation
Key Differences:

The GAAP concepts of self-sustaining and integrated entities do 
not exist under IFRS. All foreign entities with a functional currency 
other than the functional currency of the consolidated entity will be 
converted from their functional currency using a method similar to 
the self-sustaining entity approach. The Company currently has four 
foreign subsidiaries that are considered integrated under GAAP. The 
difference has been calculated and is insignificant.

Summary of Expected IFRS Accounting Policy:

The individual financial statements of each group entity are 
presented in the functional currency of the entity. CAD is the reporting 
currency of the consolidated Company.

 i) Foreign currency transactions:
Non-monetary items carried at fair value and all monetary 
items are translated at the period-end exchange rate, while 
non-monetary items carried at historical costs and revenues 
and expenses are translated at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the transaction date. Exchange gains and 
losses arising from the translation of the financial statements 
are reflected in earnings during the period in which they 
occur except for exchange differences on transactions 
entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks.

ii) Foreign currency operations:
For the purpose of presenting Consolidated Financial 
Statements, assets and liabilities are translated at the 
period-end exchange rate, while revenues and expenses 
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange 
gains and losses arising from the translation of the financial 
statements are included in a currency translation account 
within other comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified 
from equity to net earnings when the gain or loss on disposal 
is recognized. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the 
period-end exchange rate.

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
Key Differences:

At present time, proportionate consolidation is allowed under IFRS for 
accounting for joint ventures. Upon the issuance of a new standard 
expected this year, the option may no longer exist and the Company 
would be required to use the equity method of accounting. The 
Company’s interest in its joint ventures is currently recognized using 
the proportionate consolidation method. The change in accounting 
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For all other financial instruments and hedging, there is no expected 
change. Refer to Notes 2(p) and 24 of the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition and Property, Plant and Equipment
Revenue recognition and property, plant and equipment are 
significant to the Company. For many entities, revenue recognition 
and property, plant and equipment financial statement balances and 
related accounting policies may significantly change at transition; 
however, the Company has currently assessed no significant 
impact upon transition to the related accounting policies or 
financial statement balances. The Company’s revenue recognition 
policies, as well as property, plant and equipment policies, including 
componentization, useful lives and depreciation methods, are 
considered IFRS compliant.

16.1.3	 IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards

In addition to the above noted differences, the Company has 
performed an assessment regarding IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption 
of International Financial Reporting Standards. IFRS 1 requires that 
first-time adopters of IFRS retrospectively apply all effective IFRS 
standards and interpretations to determine the opening balance 
sheet as at the transition date. IFRS 1 provides for certain optional 
exemptions and mandatory exceptions to this general rule. At this 
stage, the Company is expecting to elect the following material 
optional exemptions under IFRS 1 that will apply as at the transition 
date of November 1, 2010: 

•	 �business combinations – The Company expects to elect not to 
apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, retrospectively to busi-
ness combinations that occur prior to the transition date,

•	 �fair value or revaluation as deemed cost – An entity may elect to 
measure an item of property, plant and equipment at the transi-
tion date at its fair value and use that fair value as its deemed 
cost at that date. Viterra expects to elect to use a previous 
revaluation and an event-driven fair value measurement that 
occurred prior to the transition date as deemed cost at the date 
of the revaluations, 

•	 �employee benefits – Retrospective application of the corridor 
approach for recognition of actuarial gains and losses in accor-
dance with IAS 19, Employee Benefits, would require a company 
to split the actuarial gains and losses from the date benefit plans 
were established to the transition date between a recognized 
and an unrecognized portion. Viterra expects to elect to recog-
nize all cumulative actuarial gains and losses for all plans that 
exist at the transition date in opening retained earnings. The 
cumulative actuarial loss that will be recorded in retained earn-
ings is estimated to be $111.2 million, and

Deferred tax is measured using the enacted or substantively enacted 
tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are 
expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but 
they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or 
their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits 
and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that they will be able to be utilized against future taxable income. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized.

Financial Instruments and Hedging
Key Differences:

No significant differences have been noted in regards to the 
Company’s financial instruments and hedging upon transition, 
besides the differences relating to the hedges of net investments in 
foreign entities noted below. The Company is continuing to assess 
classification of financial instruments; however, no significant 
impacts are expected. At this time, the Company has not elected to 
early adopt IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The Company continues to 
assess the impact of the new standard, which will be effective for the 
year ending October 31, 2014.

There are differences in the accounting for hedges of net investments 
in foreign entities. Under GAAP, if a capital transaction occurs in 
relation to a foreign self-sustaining subsidiary, an entry to reclass 
cumulative translation adjustment and the net gain or loss from 
other comprehensive income will be required. Under IFRS, this is 
only required if the Company’s ownership changes. Currently, there 
has been no required adjustment; however, if a capital transaction 
occurs, the net earnings and EBITDA calculated under IFRS for the 
comparative year could be significantly different then the reported 
GAAP net earnings and EBITDA. 

Summary of Expected IFRS Accounting Policy:

Hedges of net investments in foreign entities: The Company uses 
hedge accounting for the foreign exchange swaps, cross-currency 
swaps and foreign denominated debt used to hedge portions of net 
investments in foreign entities. The effective portions of the hedges 
are recognized in other comprehensive income while any ineffective 
portion is recognized immediately in net earnings. Gains and losses 
relating to the effective portions of the hedges will be recognized 
in net earnings in the same period during which corresponding 
exchange gains or losses arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign self-sustaining net investments are recognized 
in net earnings.
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Committee, as well as providing assurance that risk mitigation 
processes adequately reduce the likelihood and/or impact of material 
risks on business performance and corporate reputation.

Viterra’s senior management is responsible for ensuring that key 
corporate risks are identified, assessed, monitored and reported, 
and that mitigation strategies are developed where prudent. These 
corporate risks are documented and tracked as part of the ERM 
process through maintaining a Corporate Risk Register (“CRR”). 
This evaluation, monitoring and reporting is ongoing and integrated 
into the Company’s strategic planning processes. Senior managers 
update the ERM framework whenever significant new risks arise or 
there is a significant change in the likelihood or impact of an existing 
risk. In addition, the CRR is reviewed and updated as part of the 
annual strategic planning process. 

17.2	 Weather Risk

As an agri-business company, Viterra’s most significant risk is the 
weather. The effect of weather conditions on production volumes 
and crop quality present significant operating and financial risk to 
Viterra’s Grain Handling and Marketing segment. Volumes are a key 
driver of earnings for Viterra’s grain operations. Fixed costs in Viterra’s 
primary elevator system represent approximately 75% to 80% of 
total costs and, as a result, reduced volume and inventory turns will 
negatively impact the achievable margin/earnings per tonne.

Crop quality is also an important factor because the majority of 
the higher quality grains and oilseeds are sent to port terminals for 
export. Accordingly, Viterra generates margins at each stage of its 
value chain through to its port terminals. Grains destined for domestic 
markets generate lower margins on average, particularly feed grains, 
which require little processing and handling. The mix of grains and 
oilseeds that Viterra manages in any given year is an important factor 
affecting margins and earnings. Viterra offers a number of programs 
to its primary customers, including drying and blending opportunities, 
in an attempt to mitigate some of the quality risk.

The level and mix of agri-products sales are also dependent on 
weather. Weather and moisture levels are a determining factor for, 
among other things, crop selection by producers at seeding time, the 
variety of seed sown, and the amount of proprietary seed purchased. 
Crop selection decisions also impact the amount of fertilizer and 
crop protection products Viterra sells since certain crops require 
significantly more inputs than others. During the growing season, 
weather determines the type and amount of agri-products applied 
to the land. Viterra’s Agri-products segment works closely with its 
Grain Handling and Marketing segment to anticipate producers’ 
intentions for seeding in order to manage agri-products inventories 
appropriately.

Viterra’s elevators and agri-products distribution facilities in Canada 
are geographically dispersed throughout the Prairie provinces, 

•	 �currency translation differences – Retrospective application 
of IFRS would require Viterra to determine the translation dif-
ferences in accordance with IFRS from the date a subsidiary or 
associate was formed or acquired. Viterra expects to elect to 
reset all cumulative translation gains and losses to zero at the 
transition date. This exemption includes resetting all gains and 
losses on net investment hedges recorded in other comprehen-
sive income to zero at the transition date. The cumulative unreal-
ized gain of approximately $112.3 million from foreign currency 
translation of foreign operations and net investment hedges will 
be recorded in retained earnings.

As Viterra continues to monitor IFRS standards changed or issued, 
there may be changes to the Company’s expectations regarding 
these IFRS 1 optional exemptions and the expected IFRS accounting 
policies. In addition, Viterra may identify circumstances or 
experience changes in its business that may have an impact on these 
expectations.

1 7 . 	 R I S K S  A N D  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T 

17.1	 Governance and Oversight

Successful risk management requires a prudent balance between 
risk, return and the cost of control to support Viterra’s mission, vision 
and strategy. Corporate risk at Viterra is managed on a proactive, 
explicit basis through the identification and mitigation of risks within 
an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework. Viterra’s ERM 
framework was developed under the standards of the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations, of the Treadway Commission “Enterprise 
Risk Management – Integrated Framework”. Enterprise-wide risk 
management is a process effected by the Company’s Board of 
Directors, management and personnel, applied in particular settings 
and across the Company, designed to identify potential events that 
may impact the Company, manage risk to be within the Company’s 
risk appetite, and to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
achievement of the Company’s objectives.

A structured and disciplined approach to ERM provides assurance 
that the Company’s strategic direction is not impeded through 
avoidable loss, and hampered by change and uncertainty. It enables 
Viterra to take advantage of opportunities where appropriate. 
The ERM framework supports Viterra’s strategy and reflects 
the appropriate risk appetite and risk tolerances as set out by 
management and the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s 
ERM framework through its Audit Committee and a Risk Management 
Committee comprised of senior executive officers of the Company. 
Viterra’s Risk Management Committee is responsible for the ERM 
framework. This includes responsibility for ongoing reporting of 
significant risks to the Company’s Disclosure Committee and Audit 
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17.4	 Commodity Price and Trading Risk

A significant portion of Viterra’s sales are derived from its Grain 
Handling and Marketing segment. Earnings for this segment fluctuate 
based on the volume of grain handled and the market price of open 
market grains. 

In the case of Board grains handled in Canada, Viterra earns 
CWB storage and handling tariffs, and these are established 
independently of the market price for grain. In North America, Board 
grains accounted for about 47% of total grain received by Viterra 
in fiscal 2010 versus about 51% in fiscal 2009. For these grains, the 
Company’s risks are reduced in part through the terms of formal legal 
arrangements between Viterra and the CWB. The arrangements 
provide for full reimbursement of the price paid to producers for grain 
as well as certain costs incurred by Viterra. Adverse impacts can be 
experienced by Viterra whereby handling of Board grain results in a 
loss of grade or, in the case of the CWB’s tendering program, Viterra 
fails to meet the requirements under the tendering contract. Viterra 
employs grain grading, handling procedures and quality testing 
across its value chain to help mitigate these risks.

For non-Board or open market grains and oilseeds purchased by 
Viterra, as well as Australian grains and oilseeds, the Company is 
exposed to the risk of movement in price between the time the grain 
is purchased and when it is sold. Financial risk management activities 
commonly referred to as “hedging”, where such opportunities exist, 
can reduce this risk. Hedging is the placing in the futures market of 
a position opposite to one held in the cash market in order to reduce 
the risk of financial loss from an adverse price change. In so doing, 
the Company assumes basis risk to the extent the futures market and 
the cash market do not change by directly equivalent amounts. The 
Company uses exchange-traded futures and options contracts as 
well as Over the Counter (“OTC”) contracts to minimize the effects of 
changes in the prices of hedgeable agricultural commodities on its 
agri-business inventories and agricultural commodities forward cash 
purchase and sales contracts. Derivative contracts are valued at the 
quoted market prices. The Company manages the risk associated 
with inventory and open contracts on a combined basis. 

During the year ended October 31, 2010, management has reviewed 
its risk assessment of commodity price risk and has implemented an 
updated Value at Risk (“VaR”) method in order to standardize the risk 
assessment globally. All market risk associated with commodity price 
movement is measured using the VaR method. The VaR calculation 
quantifies potential changes in the value of commodity positions as a 
result of potential market price movements from all sources of market 
risk, whether as a consequence of asset ownership, customer sales, 
hedging or position taking.

There is currently no uniform industry methodology for estimating 
VaR. The VaR calculation estimates the potential loss in pre-taxation 
profit over a given holding period for a specified confidence level. 

diversifying the Company’s exposure to localized growing conditions. 
In Australia, the majority of the facilities are located in South 
Australia.

Viterra has historically had grain volume insurance to protect the 
cash flow of the Company from significant declines in grain volumes 
as a result of drought or other weather-related events. For 2010, 
the Company had $75.0 million of coverage in place for Canadian 
and Australian exposure. For 2011, the Company has 49% of the 
$75.0 million of coverage in place under a multi-year program. The 
Company intends to place additional coverage for 2011. 

17.3	 Food and Feed Product Safety Risk

The Company is subject to potential liabilities connected to food and 
feed safety and product handling. A large majority of the Company’s 
sales are generated from food products and the Company could be 
vulnerable in the event of a significant outbreak of food-borne illness 
or increased public health concerns in connection with certain food 
products.

To address consumer concern over food and feed safety and product 
handling, Viterra has established a number of processes to track and 
identify crops at every stage of production: from seed to customer 
delivery. Viterra’s processes meet international standards, including 
HACCP, the internationally recognized system of quality control for 
food safety, and ISO 9000:2000, the International Organization for 
Standardization’s certification for the processing and export of grains, 
oilseeds and special crops. ISO 9001:2000 registration and HACCP 
compliance are verified by third-party audits. 

The Company’s country elevator network in North America consists 
of 83 grain facilities, including two joint venture country facilities, 
and nine processing facilities that are registered ISO 9001:2000 
and HACCP compliant. The Quality Control department in Regina, 
Saskatchewan is also ISO 9001:2000 registered. 

The Company’s six Canadian feed mills and pre-mix facilities comply 
with all federal regulations and are HACCP certified or compliant. In 
addition, Canadian operations are inspected by the Canadian Food 
Inspection Agency and U.S. feed mills are inspected by state and 
federal agencies in the U.S. 

In Australia, Viterra’s grain handling and malt operations are 
certified to the ISO 22000 HACCP standards. The ISO 9001:2000 
and ISO 9001:2008 quality management system accreditations 
cover Viterra’s Australia and New Zealand broader grain handling, 
malting operations and feed manufacturing, respectively. As well, 
these accreditations cover these operations’ respective associated 
functions. 
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bilateral negotiations to address market access issues, such as the 
current negotiations to conclude a comprehensive Canada – EU 
Trade Agreement. Restrictive trade practices can and have been 
challenged through the “Dispute Resolution” mechanisms of the 
WTO (e.g. Canada along with the U.S. and other countries challenged 
the EU restriction on GMOs). On non-tariff trade matters, Canada will 
engage the country imposing restrictions directly (e.g. blackleg in 
canola shipments to China). Viterra works directly with the federal 
government and trade organizations to identify and resolve tariff 
issues and non-tariff trade barriers. 

In addition, the Company’s foreign operations may be subject to the 
risks normally associated with the conduct of business in certain 
foreign countries, including uncertain political and economic 
environments; strong governmental control and regulation; lack 
of an independent judiciary; war, terrorism and civil disturbances; 
crime; corruption; changes in laws, regulations or policies of a 
particular country, including those related to imports, exports, 
duties and currency; cancellation or renegotiation of contracts; 
tax increases or other claims by government entities, including 
retroactive claims; the risk of expropriation and nationalization; 
delays in obtaining or the inability to obtain or maintain necessary 
permits; currency fluctuations; high inflation; restrictions on the 
ability of such companies to hold USD or other foreign currencies in 
offshore bank accounts; import and export regulations; limitations 
on the repatriation of earnings; and increased financing costs. 
The occurrence of one or more of these risks may have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s financial results, business prospects 
and financial condition.

17.6	 Capital Market Risk

General economic and business conditions that impact global debt 
or equity markets can impact the availability of credit and the cost of 
credit for the Company. This capital market risk could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s financial results, business prospects 
and financial condition. 

The Company mitigates this risk by establishing long-term 
relationships with banks and capital market participants, maintaining 
the Company’s debt at prudent levels and by diversifying the source 
and maturity dates of its capital.

17.7	 Liquidity Risk

The Company’s liquidity risk refers to its ability to settle or meet 
its obligations as they fall due. Liquidity adequacy is continually 
monitored, taking into consideration estimated future cash flows 
including the amount and timing of cash generated from operations, 
working capital requirements, planned capital expenditure 
programs, debt servicing requirements, planned dividend policy 
and business acquisitions. The Company actively maintains credit 
facilities to ensure it has sufficient available funds to meet current 

The VaR methodology is a statistically defined, probability-based 
approach that takes into account market volatilities as well as risk 
diversification by recognizing offsetting positions and correlations 
between products and markets. The use of VaR has limitations 
because it is based on historical correlations and volatilities in 
commodity prices and assumes that future price movements will 
follow a statistical distribution. The five-day VaR number used by the 
group reflects the 95% probability that the gain or loss in a five-day 
period will not exceed the reported VaR based on the previous pricing 
period. Although losses are not expected to exceed the statistically 
estimated VaR on 95% of occasions, losses on the other 5% of 
occasions could be substantially greater than the estimated VaR. 
The VaR at the balance sheet date is not representative of the risk 
throughout the period as the period-end exposure does not reflect 
the exposure during the period. In practice, as markets move, the 
Company actively manages its risk and adjusts hedging strategies as 
appropriate.

The Company’s Risk Management Policy provides limits within 
which management may maintain inventory and certain long or short 
commodity positions. The Company has established policies that limit 
the amount of agricultural commodity positions permissible, which 
are a combination of quantity and VaR limits. VaR levels are reported 
daily and compared with approved limits. Limits are regularly 
reviewed to ensure consistency with risk management objectives, 
market developments and business activities.

17.5	 Sovereign and Political Risk

The world grain market is subject to numerous risks and 
uncertainties, such as global political and economic conditions, 
which can affect the Company’s ability to compete in the world grain 
market and importing countries’ abilities to purchase grain and other 
agri-food products. Both of these factors affect export levels of Board 
grains and open market grains and oilseeds, which in turn affect the 
Company’s handling volumes and can have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s financial results, business prospects and financial 
condition. 

International agricultural trade is affected by high levels of domestic 
support and global export subsidies, especially by the U.S. and the 
EU. Such subsidies interfere with normal market demand and supply 
forces and generally put downward pressure on commodity prices. 
Tariffs and subsidies can restrict access to foreign markets and can 
prevent the expansion of the Canadian agri-food processing industry. 
The political influence of the farm sector in both the U.S. and the EU is 
very significant, and agricultural negotiations are driven as much by 
political needs as they are by economics. 

Canada has been involved in negotiations through the World Trade 
Organization (“WTO”) to address tariff, export subsidy and domestic 
support issues. Where appropriate, Canada will also enter into 
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are in place and the Company monitors the credit ratings of its 
counterparties on an ongoing basis. Exchange-traded contracts 
used to hedge future revenues in the Company’s grain business are 
not subject to any significant credit risk as the changes in contract 
positions are settled daily through a recognized exchange.

Viterra’s average bad debt write-offs over the past two fiscal 
years have averaged less than 0.06% of sales and other operating 
revenues.

17.10	 Foreign Exchange Risk

The Company undertakes certain transactions denominated in 
foreign currencies and, as a result, is exposed to foreign exchange 
risk. The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on commodity 
contracts which are denominated in foreign currencies, and on its 
investment in foreign subsidiaries. The Company uses derivative 
financial instruments, such as foreign currency forward contracts, 
cross-currency swaps, futures contracts and options to limit 
exposures to changes in foreign currency exchange rates with 
respect to its recorded foreign currency denominated assets and 
liabilities as well as anticipated transactions. 

The acquisition of foreign operations has exposed the Company 
to the impact of changes in the AUD to CAD exchange rate on its 
net investment in Viterra Australia and to the impact of changes in 
the USD to CAD exchange rate on its net investment in the U.S. For 
accounting purposes, these foreign operations are considered to 
be self-sustaining entities and, therefore, the impact of changes 
in the exchange rate will be recognized in the Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive Income section of the Company’s Consolidated 
Statements of Shareholders’ Equity. 

To the extent that the Company has not fully hedged its foreign 
exchange risks, a fluctuation of the CAD against the USD, AUD or 
other relevant currencies could have a material effect on Viterra’s 
financial results.

17.11	 Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the 
Company’s debt obligations. The Company manages interest rate 
risk and currency risk on borrowings by using a combination of cash 
instruments, forwards and a mixture of fixed and floating rates. The 
Company has used interest rate swaps to manage variable interest 
rates associated with a portion of the Company’s debt portfolio. 

17.12	 Merger and Acquisition Risk

Viterra has developed an integrated strategic planning process 
and related incremental and transformational acquisition strategy, 
which includes comprehensive pre-acquisition due diligence and 
post-acquisition integration. Any acquisition that Viterra may choose 

and foreseeable financial requirements. See Section 9.3 and Notes 
10, 11 and 24 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for further information on credit facilities in place and liquidity risk. 
Management believes that future cash flows from operations and 
availability under existing banking arrangements will be adequate to 
support these financial liabilities.

17.8	 Financial Reporting Risk 

Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with GAAP. Disclosure controls and 
procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be 
disclosed by a company in reports filed with securities regulatory 
agencies is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a 
timely basis and is accumulated and communicated to a company’s 
management, including its chief executive officer and chief financial 
officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure. A control system, no matter how well designed and 
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance with 
respect to the reliability of reporting, including financial reporting and 
financial statement preparation.

17.9	 Credit Risk

The Company is exposed to credit risk in respect of its trade 
receivables. Credit approval policies and procedures are in place to 
guide internal credit specialists in granting credit to new customers 
as well as in continuing to extend credit to existing customers. The 
Company manages this credit risk through monitoring of credit 
balances, ongoing credit reviews of all significant contracts and 
analysis of payment and loss history. Customers that fail to meet 
specified credit requirements may transact with the Company on a 
prepayment basis or provide another form of credit support, such as 
letters of credit, approved by the Company.

The absence of significant financial concentration of trade 
receivables, except for receivables from the CWB, limits the 
Company’s exposure to credit risk. Credit risk exposure for the 
Agri-products and Processing segments are also partially limited 
through an arrangement with a Canadian Schedule I chartered 
bank, which provides for limited recourse to the Company for credit 
losses on producer accounts receivable under Viterra FinancialTM. 
Credit defaults by Viterra’s customers or counterparties could have 
a material adverse effect on Viterra’s financial results and financial 
condition.

The Company is also exposed to credit risk in the event of non-
performance of its counterparties on its derivative contracts. 
However, in the case of OTC derivative contracts, the Company only 
contracts with pre-authorized counterparties where agreements 
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have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial results, 
business prospects and financial condition. 

Viterra’s Australian and New Zealand operations are exposed to 
regulatory risks related to climate change, including compliance 
risks, emissions trading exposures and increases in costs. The 
Company is involved in a large number of mandatory reporting 
programs in Australia, including the Energy Efficiencies Opportunities 
Act and the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting (“NGER”) 
Act, being two of the more significant federal programs. Under 
the NGER Act, Viterra Australia is required to report energy and 
emissions data in preparation for an Emissions Trading Scheme 
(“ETS”), which Australia is attempting to introduce in July 2012 
but has been unsuccessful to date. The ETS, known as the Carbon 
Pollution Reduction Scheme (“CPRS”), would impose a price on a 
tonne of carbon emitted and large emitters would have an obligation 
to purchase emissions permits. Energy, fuel and other inputs are 
expected to become more expensive with the introduction of an ETS 
in Australia. The CPRS would impact Viterra both directly, as it would 
have a liability to purchase permits for at least one of its malt facilities, 
and indirectly via price increases for other inputs. These regulatory 
changes and any further regulatory changes in Australia and New 
Zealand could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s 
financial results, business prospects and financial condition.

In North America, Viterra assesses emissions to monitor potential 
impacts to the business given pending and anticipated changes to 
the regulatory environment. The Company participates in mandatory 
reporting on emissions, such as the National Pollutant Release 
Inventory. Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) emissions are also assessed, 
although reporting is not required as GHG emissions of existing 
operations are below existing or proposed North American GHG 
reporting thresholds. Emissions (particulates, ammonia, metals, GHG) 
monitored by Viterra are not currently subject to regulatory reduction 
criteria under current legislation. Apart from the resources that it 
takes to report and assess emissions, there is no direct financial 
impact to the business in relation to regulated emission reductions 
at this time. It is notable that emission reductions for particulates 
have the potential to be imposed in future and could have a material 
adverse impact on the Company’s financial results, business 
prospects and financial condition.

17.14	 Corporate Social Responsibility Risk

Increasingly shareholders are looking for evidence that corporations 
are making decisions regarding environmental and social issues. 
The global agricultural and food ingredients markets are highly 
competitive. The industry is driven by various supply and demand 
fundamentals as well as consumer expectations. Those involved in 
moving agricultural ingredients around the world have to illustrate 
that they are doing so in consideration of social and environmental 
factors in their business practices. This has always been a priority 

to complete may be of a significant size, may change the scale of 
Viterra’s business and operations, and may expose Viterra to new 
geographic, industry, regulatory, operating and financial risks. 
Viterra’s success in its acquisition activities depends on its ability to 
identify suitable acquisition candidates, negotiate acceptable terms 
for any such acquisition, and integrate the acquired operations 
successfully with those of Viterra. Any acquisitions would be 
accompanied by risks that may include:

•	 �adverse changes to the industry of the purchased company  
or asset,

•	 �difficulty integrating the operations and personnel, realizing 
anticipated synergies, maximizing the financial and strategic 
position of the combined enterprise, and maintaining uniform 
policies, systems and controls across the organization, 

•	 �unexpected costs and liabilities which may be significant and 
not covered by an indemnity in the acquisition agreement,

•	 �disruptions to Viterra’s current businesses and its relationships 
with employees, customers and suppliers, and

•	 �business risks that Viterra has not been previously engaged in 
and exposed to. 

There can be no assurance that Viterra would be successful in 
overcoming these risks or any other difficulties encountered in 
connection with such acquisitions. These risks and difficulties, if they 
materialize, could disrupt the Company’s ongoing business, increase 
expenses and adversely affect Viterra’s financial results, business 
prospects and financial condition.

17.13	 Regulatory Risk

Canada’s grain industry and rail transportation is highly regulated. 
Under the CWB Act, the CWB is established as the central selling 
agency for the export of wheat and barley and the sale of domestic 
wheat and barley for human consumption grown in Western Canada. 
Since Board grains accounted for approximately 47% of the grain 
received by the Company for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2010, 
the size and scheduling of CWB’s export program can significantly 
affect the quantity and timing of the Company’s grain handling 
volumes. Viterra works closely with the operations staff of the CWB 
on a daily basis to coordinate the quantity and timing of Board and 
non-Board grain movement to try and maximize efficiency of pipeline 
logistics. 

In Australia, WEA administers a scheme under which all exporters 
of wheat must be accredited. Viterra’s Australian operations are 
accredited. To maintain its accreditation, Viterra must provide 
access to its port services to other exporters pursuant to access 
arrangements approved by the ACCC. A loss of its accreditation could 
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•	 operational relationships with key customers and suppliers,

•	 �railway companies and other transportation services to carry 
the Company’s products to market,

•	 �banks that lend money to the Company directly and through 
lending syndicates, act as counterparties and provide banking 
services,

•	 �rating agencies such as DBRS Limited, Standard & Poor’s and 
Moody’s Investors Service,

•	 information system vendors, 

•	 counterparty relationships with trading partners,

•	 futures exchanges, and

•	 government and regulatory agencies.

If any of these relationships should falter, Viterra may experience 
business disruption and financial loss. Depending upon the 
circumstance, there could also be a loss of reputation.

17.16	 Information Technology Risk

Viterra places significant reliance on information technology for 
information and processing that support financial, regulatory, 
administrative, and commercial operations. In addition, the Company 
relies upon telecommunication services to interface its global 
operations, customers and business partners. The failure of any such 
systems for a significant time period could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s financial results, business prospects 
and financial condition. Viterra endeavours to mitigate the risk of 
interruption by contracting business resumption services to global 
third-party service providers. Viterra also has a disaster recovery plan 
in place for the technical recovery of information systems. 

17.17	 Talent Management and Succession Planning 
Risk

The Company is dependent on the continued services of its senior 
management team, and its ability to retain other key personnel. 
Although the Company believes that it could replace such key 
employees in a timely fashion should the need arise, the loss of such 
key personnel could have a material adverse effect on the Company. 
To address this risk, management has created a succession and 
development program at the director and management level 
within the organization, which includes both internal and external 
candidates. Management also reviews the Company’s compensation 
and rewards programs on a regular basis to ensure they are 
consistent with the markets in which we operate.

at Viterra. The Company has established a robust governance 
structure to guide the organization and recently adopted the following 
commitment statement:

“As a leader in delivering essential food ingredients around 
the globe, at Viterra we understand our role in helping 
address the world’s growing nutritional requirements. 
We also recognize our responsibility to drive business 
performance, and to be respectful of the communities and 
environments in which we work and live.

Viterra is committed to meeting these challenges by 
continuing to embed social, environmental and economic 
considerations into the way we do business. Through these 
efforts, we aim to meet the expectations of our investors, 
customers and employees, and to act as a good corporate 
citizen by effecting positive change toward our shared 
future. 

This is what we mean by Sustainability.”

Viterra endeavours to be environmentally and socially responsible 
and recognizes that the competitive pressures for economic growth 
and cost efficiency must be integrated with sound sustainability 
management. Viterra’s brand is driven by the development and 
delivery of quality products while maintaining the highest level of 
integrity. The Company has adopted certain business practices to 
address the concerns of its stakeholders. It establishes and monitors 
compliance with operating guidelines internally and externally and 
works very closely with its suppliers as a responsible business 
partner to deliver the quality its customers have come to expect.

Despite these efforts, ever-changing consumer sentiments 
with respect to social responsibility could negatively impact the 
Company’s reputation. Adverse publicity resulting from actual or 
perceived violations of environmental laws and regulations, from 
business practices considered environmentally irresponsible, or from 
damage to the environmental reputation of the Company’s suppliers, 
may weaken the value of the Company’s brand image, negatively 
impact customer attitudes and decrease demand for the Company’s 
products. This may lead to a decrease in results of operations and 
the Company’s share price. These impacts may occur even if the 
allegations are not directed against the Company or are not valid, and 
even if the Company is not found liable. Other companies in the global 
agricultural and food ingredients markets have encountered these 
issues, resulting in reduced demand for, or boycotts of, their products.

17.15	 Third-Party Relationship Risk

There is a risk to Viterra that third-party relationships may fail, 
resulting in the potential for operational disruptions, financial loss and 
reputational loss. These third-party relationships include:

•	 minority equity positions in a number of companies,
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assess interest coverage and the Company’s ability to service its 
interest bearing debt.

Total debt, net of cash and cash equivalents, is provided to assist 
investors and is used by management to assess the Company’s 
liquidity position and to monitor how much debt the Company has 
after taking into account its liquid assets, such as cash and cash 
equivalents. Such measures should not be used in isolation of, or as a 
substitute for, current liabilities, short-term borrowings, or long-term 
debt as a measure of the Company’s indebtedness.

Cash flow provided by operations is the cash from (or used in) 
operating activities, excluding non-cash working capital changes. 
Viterra uses cash flow provided by operations and cash flow 
provided by operations per share as a financial measure for the 
evaluation of liquidity. Management believes that excluding the 
seasonal swings of non-cash working capital assists their evaluation 
of long-term liquidity.

Free cash flow is cash flow provided by operations (prior to any 
changes in non-cash working capital) net of capital expenditures, 
excluding business acquisitions. Free cash flow is used by 
management to assess liquidity and financial strength. This 
measurement is also useful as an indicator of the Company’s ability to 
service its debt, meet other payment obligations and make strategic 
investments. Readers should be aware that free cash flow does not 
represent residual cash flow available for discretionary expenditures.

CFROA is calculated by the Company using cash flow provided by 
operations prior to working capital changes excluding pre-tax cash 
interest less sustaining capital expenditures divided by average long-
term assets plus average non-interest bearing working capital. The 
measure is used to assess the Company’s ability to generate cash 
flow returns in relation to the Company’s weighted average cost of 
capital. It is management’s view that there is no comparable GAAP 
financial measure. Management will report this ratio annually.

These non-GAAP measures should not be considered in isolation 
of, or as a substitute for, GAAP measures such as (i) net earnings 
(loss), as an indicator of the Company’s profitability and operating 
performance or (ii) cash flow from or used in operations, as a 
measure of the Company’s ability to generate cash. Such measures 
do not have any standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and are, 
therefore, unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented 
by other corporations. Reconciliations of each of these terms are 
provided in the table on the following page.

17.18	 Employee Relations Risk

A labour disruption could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial results, business prospects and financial 
condition. There can be no assurance that labour difficulties will 
not arise at one or more of the Company’s facilities or at any other 
company upon which Viterra is dependent for transportation or other 
services. To address this risk, management has taken a consistent 
and transparent approach to labour discussions with all employees, 
regardless of representation. While this approach to collective 
bargaining has been successful in the past, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to conclude new collective 
agreements or that labour disruptions will not occur in the future.

1 8 . 	 N O N - G A A P  M E A S U R E S 

EBITDA – Earnings before financing expenses, taxes, amortization, 
gain (loss) on disposal of assets, integration expenses, and net 
foreign exchange gain (loss) on acquisition and EBIT – Earnings 
before financing expenses, taxes, gain (loss) on disposal of assets, 
integration expenses, and net foreign exchange gain (loss) on 
acquisition are non-GAAP measures. Those items excluded in the 
determination of EBITDA and EBIT represent items that are non-cash 
in nature, income taxes, financing expenses or are otherwise not 
considered to be in the ordinary course of business. These measures 
are intended to provide further insight with respect to Viterra’s 
financial results and to supplement its information on earnings 
(losses) as determined in accordance with GAAP. 

EBITDA is used by management to assess the cash generated by 
operations, and EBIT is a measure of earnings from operations prior 
to financing costs and taxes. Both measures also provide important 
management information concerning business segment performance 
since the Company does not allocate financing expenses, income 
taxes or other excluded items to these individual segments. 

EBITDA to cash interest is defined as EBITDA divided by cash 
interest where cash interest is net financing expenses excluding 
refinancing costs less non-cash financing expenses. The ratio is 
calculated on a rolling 12-month basis. This measure is intended to 
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Non-GAAP Terms, Reconciliations and Calculations	
(in thousands – except percentages and ratios)
			   Better
For the twelve months ended October 31,	 20101	 20092	 (Worse)
	 Gross profit and net revenues from services 	 $	1,258,567 	 $	 839,031	 $	 419,536
	 Operating, general and administrative expenses 		  (740,984)		  (515,333)		  (225,651)
	 EBITDA 	 $	 517,583 	 $	 323,698 	 $	 193,885
	 Amortization	 	 (192,676) 		  (109,141)		  (83,535)
	 EBIT	 $	 324,907	 $	 214,557	 $	 110,350
	 Net earnings (loss)	 $	 145,272	 $	 113,127	 $	 32,145
	 Amortization		  192,676 		  109,141		  83,535 
	 Non-cash financing expenses		  18,069		  6,033		  12,036
	 Employee future benefits		  (4,939)		  (22,875)		  17,936 
	 Net foreign exchange gain (loss) on acquisition		  159		  (24,105)		  24,264
	 Future income taxes (recovery)		  15,976		  29,723		  (13,747)
	 (Gain) Loss on disposal of assets		  (7,778)		  10,314 		  (18,092)
	 Other items		  1,814		  2,065		  (251)
	 Cash flow prior to working capital changes	 $	 361,249	 $	 223,423	 $	 137,826
	 Property, plant and equipment expenditures		  (105,313)		  (75,283)		  (30,030)
	 Intangible assets expenditures		  (16,515)		  (9,479)		  (7,036)
	 Free cash flow	 $	 239,421	 $	 138,661	 $	 100,760 
	 As at October 31,	
	 Current assets	 $	2,540,880	 $	3,133,149	 $	 (592,269)
	 Current liabilities		  1,256,854		  1,405,812		  148,958
	 Current Ratio (Current Assets/Current Liabilities)		  2.02 x		  2.23 x		  (0.21) x
	 Short-term borrowings	 $	 61,677	 $	 291,128	 $	 229,451
[A]	Long-term debt due within one year		  2,295		  18,151		  15,856
[A]	Long-term debt		  896,834		  1,265,435		  368,601
[B]	Total debt	 $	 960,806	 $	1,574,714	 $	 613,908
[C]	Cash and cash equivalents	 $	 154,793	 $	1,033,075	 $	 (878,282)
	 Total debt, net of cash and cash equivalents	 $	 806,013	 $	 541,639	 $	 (264,374)
[D]	Total equity	 $	3,710,263	 $	3,508,919	 $	 201,344
[E]	 Total capital [B + D]	 $	4,671,069	 $	5,083,633	 $	 (412,564)
	
	 Debt-to-Total Capital [B]/[E]		  20.6%		  31.0%		  10.4 pt
	 Long-Term Debt-to-Capital [A]/[E]		  19.3%		  25.3%		  6.1 pt
	 EBITDA to Cash Interest		  5.0 x		  5.9 x		  (0.9) x
1 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations for the entire period.
2 Includes results for Viterra Australia’s operations from September 24, 2009 to October 31, 2009.
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“forecast”, “objective”, “continue” (or the negative thereof) and 
words of similar import may indicate forward-looking statements. 
Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, 
performance and achievements of Viterra to be materially different 
from any future results, performance and achievements expressed 
or implied by those forward-looking statements. The risks include, 
but are not limited to, those factors discussed in the Company’s 
MD&A for the year ended October 31, 2010 under the heading “Risk 
and Risk Management”. The uncertainties and other factors include, 
but are not limited to, weather risk; food and feed product safety 
risk; commodity price and trading risk; sovereign and political risk; 
capital market risk; liquidity risk; financial reporting risk; credit risk; 
foreign exchange risk; interest rate risk; merger and acquisition risk; 
regulatory risk; corporate and social responsibility risk; third-party 
relationship risk; information technology risk; talent management 
and succession planning risk; and employees relations risk. Many of 
these risks, uncertainties and other factors are beyond the control 
of the Company. All of the forward-looking statements made in this 
MD&A are qualified by these cautionary statements and the other 
cautionary statements and factors contained herein and there can 
be no assurance that the actual developments or results anticipated 
by the Company and its management will be realized or, even if 
substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences 
for, or effects on, the Company.

Although Viterra believes the assumptions inherent in forward-
looking statements are reasonable, undue reliance should not be 
placed on these statements, which only apply as of the date of this 
MD&A. In addition to other assumptions identified in this MD&A, 
assumptions have been made regarding, among other things:

•	 �western Canadian and southern Australian crop production and 
quality in 2010 and subsequent crop years,

•	 �the volume and quality of grain held on-farm by producer  
customers in North America,

•	 movement and sales of Board grains by the CWB,

•	 �the amount of grains and oilseeds purchased by other marketers 
in Australia,

•	 demand for and supply of open market grains,

1 9 . 	 E VA L U AT I O N  O F  C O N T R O L S  A N D 
P R O C E D U R E S 

Internal Controls and Procedures
Management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
appropriate internal controls over financial reporting. Management 
has evaluated the design and effectiveness of Viterra’s internal 
controls over financial reporting (as defined in National Instrument 
52-109 of the Canadian Securities Administrators) as of October 
31, 2010. In doing so, management used the criteria set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(“COSO”) framework to evaluate the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. Based on the evaluation  
of design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
controls over financial reporting, the President and Chief Executive 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s 
internal controls over financial reporting were effective as at  
October 31, 2010.

It should be noted that all internal control systems, no matter how 
well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those 
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable 
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and 
presentation.

Significant Changes
On September 23, 2009, the Company acquired ABB. During the 
current quarter, the Company successfully completed the full 
integration of ABB and its subsidiaries into the Company’s existing 
control structure.

There have been no other changes in the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting that occurred during the period that have 
materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the 
Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.

2 0 . 	 F O R WA R D - L O O K I N G  I N F O R M AT I O N 

Certain statements in this MD&A are forward-looking statements and 
reflect Viterra’s expectations regarding future results of operations, 
financial condition and achievements. All statements that address 
activities, events or developments that Viterra or its management 
expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future, including 
such things as growth of its business and operations, competitive 
strengths, strategic initiatives, planned capital expenditures, plans 
and references to future operations and results, critical accounting 
estimates, and expectations regarding future capital resources 
and liquidity of the Company and other such matters, are forward-
looking statements. In addition, when used in this MD&A the words 
“believes”, “intends”, “anticipates”, “expects”, “estimates”, “plans”, 
“likely”, “will”, “may”, “could”, “should”, “would”, “outlook”, 
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future developments or otherwise, except as required by Canadian 
securities laws.

2 1 . 	 A D D I T I O N A L  I N F O R M AT I O N 

Additional information about Viterra, including its most recent  
Annual Information Form, can be found on the Company’s website 
at www.viterra.com and under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com.

•	 �movement and sale of grain and grain meal in Australia and New 
Zealand, particularly in the Australian states of South Australia, 
Victoria and New South Wales,

•	 agricultural commodity prices,

•	 �general financial conditions for western Canadian and southern 
Australian agricultural producers,

•	 �demand for seed grain, fertilizer, chemicals and other  
agri-products,

•	 �market share of grain deliveries and agri-products sales that will 
be achieved by Viterra,

•	 �extent of customer defaults in connection with credit provided 
by Viterra, its subsidiaries or a Canadian chartered bank in con-
nection with feed product and agri-products purchases,

•	 �ability of the railways to ship grain to port facilities for export 
without labour or other service disruptions,

•	 �demand for oat, pasta, canola and malt barley products, and the 
market share of sales of these products that will be achieved by 
Viterra,

•	 �ability to maintain existing customer contracts and relation-
ships,

•	 the availability of feed ingredients for livestock,

•	 cyclicality of livestock prices,

•	 �demand for wool and the market share of sales of wool produc-
tion that will be achieved by Viterra’s subsidiaries in Australia,

•	 the impact of competition,

•	 environmental and reclamation costs,

•	 �the ability to obtain and maintain existing financing on  
acceptable terms, and

 •	 �currency, exchange and interest rates.

The preceding list is not exhaustive of all possible factors. All factors 
should be considered carefully when making decisions with respect 
to Viterra.

To the extent any forward-looking statements constitute future-
oriented financial information or financial outlooks, as those terms 
are defined under applicable Canadian securities laws, such 
statements are being provided to describe the current anticipated 
potential of the Company and readers are cautioned that these 
statements may not be appropriate for any other purpose, including 
investment decisions.

Viterra disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any 
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, 


